
 
 

Cabinet 
 

Date Wednesday 12 October 2022 

Time 9.30 am 

Venue Council Chamber, County Hall, Durham 

 

Business 
 

Part A 
 

Items which are open to the public and press 
 
1. Public Questions   

2. Minutes of the meeting held on 14 September 2022                         
(Pages 3 - 10) 

3. Declarations of Interest   

Key Decisions: 
 
4. Medium Term Financial Plan(13) 2023/24-2026/27- Report of 

Corporate Director of Resources  [Key Decision: CORP/R/22/01]  
(Pages 11 - 64) 

5. Concessionary Fares (ENCTS) Budget - Report of Corporate 
Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth                                      
[Key Decision: REG/09/22]  (Pages 65 - 74) 

Ordinary Decisions: 
 
6. Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022 - Joint Report of 

Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services and Director of 
Public Health  (Pages 75 - 112) 

7. Road Safety Strategy 2022-2032 - Report of Corporate Director 
of Regeneration, Economy and Growth  (Pages 113 - 144) 

8. Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2021-22 -                              
Joint Report of Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services, 
Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services and  
Director of Public Health  (Pages 145 - 180) 

9. Humanitarian Support in County Durham - Report of Corporate 
Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change                           
(Pages 181 - 202) 

10. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.   



11. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 
discussion of items containing exempt information.   

Part B 
 
Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open to the 

public (consideration of exempt or confidential information) 

 
12. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the 

meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.   

 
 
 

Helen Lynch 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 
County Hall 
Durham 
4 October 2022 
 
 
To: The Members of the Cabinet 

 
 Councillors A Hopgood and R Bell (Leader and Deputy Leader 

of the Council), T Henderson, C Hood, S McDonnell, 
J Rowlandson, E Scott, A Shield, J Shuttleworth and M Wilkes 

 
 

Contact: Michael Turnbull Tel: 03000 269714 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 

At a Meeting of Cabinet held in the Council Chamber, County Hall, Durham on 
Wednesday 14 September 2022 at 9.30 am 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor A Hopgood (in the Chair) 

 

Cabinet Members: 

Councillors R Bell (Deputy Leader of the Council), T Henderson, C Hood, 
S McDonnell, J Rowlandson, E Scott, A Shield, J Shuttleworth and M Wilkes 
 

 

1 Public Questions 
 
There were no public questions. 
 

2 Minutes 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 13 July 2022 were agreed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chair. 
 

3 Declarations of interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest in relation to any items of business on 
the agenda. 
 

4 Providing a sustainable solution for Durham Community Business 
College, part of the former Durham Federation 

 
The Cabinet considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of Children 
and Young People’s Services and Corporate Director of Resources that 
outlined a course of action that could be taken by the council to ensure the 
provision of a sustainable education offer for pupils attending Durham 
Community Business College (DCBC), avoiding closure of the school and the 
significant pressure this would place upon the Durham Central planning area 
(for copy of report, see file of minutes). 
 
In moving the report Councillor T Henderson, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for 
Children and Young People’s Services explained that the proposal would see 
the school join a multi academy trust.  
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



The Department for Education was supportive of the proposal and the 
Council were committed in providing additional financial assistance for the 
school building and to support the transfer which would benefit the children 
and the community. 
 
Councillor R Bell, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Finance explained 
that the pressure on school places meant that capacity was needed. The 
school would go from strength-to-strength post transfer. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved. 
 

5 Quarter One, 2022/23 Performance Management Report  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources that 
provided an overview of progress towards achieving the key outcomes of the 
council’s corporate performance framework and highlighted key messages to 
inform strategic priorities and work programmes, in and to the end of quarter 
one 2022/23, April to June 2022 (for copy of report, see file of minutes) 
 
In presenting the report the Corporate Director of Resources informed 
Cabinet that the recovery from the pandemic was still ongoing and the 
impacts of COVID-19 could still be seen in performance reporting. The last 
two financial years were not representative for many areas of performance 
and would be an unfair comparison due to pandemic impacts. 
 
The Leader of the Council thanked the Corporate Director for the detailed 
and comprehensive update provided and welcomed the new style and format 
of the report which was clearer and allowed the Council to focus on key 
areas. In terms of areas performing well, the Leader was pleased that 
unemployment had continued to fall represented by sustained reductions in 
the number of people claiming unemployment benefits. Business Durham’s 
property rental portfolio was 97% occupied. The visitor economy had 
continued to grow post-pandemic. Air quality in Durham City had improved. 
Cleanliness surveys had approved across the board. The Council had 
adopted a second Climate Energy Reduction Plan and were working towards 
a 2045 net zero target. Gym and swim memberships had increased, and the 
Council had recently welcomed 61 new apprentices.  
 
There were, however, areas requiring attention, where action was taking 
place and would continue to be taken. The impact of inflationary pressures 
and the cost of living had increased demand for welfare assistance, 
discretionary housing payments and home energy/fuel debt.  
 

Page 4



The quantity of waste collected was 8% higher than pre-pandemic levels, 
however, it was encouraging to see the percentage of recycling 
contamination decreasing and the Leader thanked the workforce for their 
hard work on improving performance in this area. Staff turnover rates had 
increased as had sickness absence per FTE which had returned to pre-
pandemic levels once Covid 19 related absences had been excluded. 
Absences linked to mental health and fatigue were higher than pre-pandemic 
levels.  
 
Resolved: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

6 Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2022/23 - Period to 30 June 
2022 and Update on Progress towards achieving MTFP(12) savings 
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources that 
provided information on: 
 

(a) the initial forecast revenue and capital outturn for 2022/23, based on 
the position to June 2022;  

 
(b) the forecast for the council tax and business rates collection fund 

position at 31 March 2023, based on the position to 30 June 2022; and  
 

(c) details of the forecast use of and contributions to earmarked, cash limit 
and general reserves in 2022/23 and the estimated balances that 
would be held at 31 March 2023.  
 

The report sought approval of the revised capital programme 2022/23, other 
budget adjustments and proposed sums treated as outside of the cash limit 
in year and provided Cabinet with an update on progress towards achieving 
MTFP(12) savings in 2022/23 (for copy of report, see file of minutes) 
 
The Corporate Director of Resources informed the Cabinet that forecasts 
were dominated by the current rate of inflation. Pressures outlined in the 
report would impact and carry over till next year and into the Medium Term 
Financial Plan. 
 
Councillor R Bell, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Finance 
commended officers for the comprehensive and thorough report. The Council 
were faced with significant inflationary pressures the likes of which had never 
been seen for 40 years largely related to the conflict in the Ukraine and the 
damage to the worldwide economy by Covid. These factors had created 
overspends across a range of areas particularly in relation to energy budgets 
and a higher than anticipated pay settlement.  

Page 5



The Council would need to rely on reserves this year, however, this was not 
a sustainable long-term position. Covid inflationary pressures had been 
treated outside the cash limit. Overall, reserves were expected to fall to 
around £42m. There remained uncertainty around government settlement for 
the current and future years. The Deputy Leader of the Council informed 
Cabinet that he had called on government to contribute additional financial 
support next year and had recently written to the new Prime Minister and 
Chancellor regarding the significant financial strain on the County Council 
and across the local government sector. 
 
Councillor M Wilkes commented that County Durham was a rural county with 
hundreds of villages spread across thousands of square miles but were not 
recognised as such by the Government. Councillor Wilkes could see at first 
hand significant improvements on the ground and the excellent work being 
undertaken in all services. However, the government would need to assist if 
the expectation was for Council’s to continue to provide essential and 
statutory services which residents required. The Council required an increase 
in government funding in-year and into the new financial year and the 
Council could not afford the usual delays around funding and the issues 
faced required an immediate response. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved. 
 

7 Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report 2021-22 
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Children and 
Young People’s Services which presented the Corporate Parenting Panel 
Annual Report April 2021 – March 2022 for endorsement (for copy of report, 
see file of minutes). 
 
Councillor T Henderson, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children and Young 
People Services explained that as corporate parents the Council had a duty 
to guide young people. The Annual Report demonstrated the Council’s 
commitment to listen to the young people who are, or had been in the 
Council’s care to make continuous changes and improvements to the 
services provided. 
 
The Annual Report included a range of achievements. The recent Ofsted 
inspection fell outside of the Annual Report timeframe, however, it was 
pleasing to note that the Council are ‘good’ and continue to move in the right 
direction with the impact of leaders on social work practice being 
‘outstanding’. The Corporate Parenting Strategy was also noted as 
ambitious. 
 

Page 6



Councillor T Henderson thanked everyone for their work to support the 
children and young people in our care. 
 
Councillor C Hood addressed Cabinet as a member of the Corporate 
Parenting Panel and Portfolio Lead for health. Councillor C Hood was 
committed to achieving good outcomes for our young people, ensuring 
issues addressed had the biggest impact on their health and wellbeing, 
particularly, with the ever increasing financial pressures. 
 
Councillor C Hood welcomed the involvement of the young people and would 
look forward to the proposed development of a young people’s Scrutiny 
Panel whereby young people would ask questions, review services and 
make recommendations for improvements. 
 
Councillor C Hood thanked everyone involved in the development of the 
Annual report, and second the recommendations. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved. 
 

8 Health and Care Integration 

 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Adult and 
Health Services that updated Cabinet of the potential changes to health and 
care integration and sought agreement to a preferred option for discussion 
with health and care partners and sought agreement to present further 
reports following discussions with health and care partners (for copy of 
report, see file of minutes). 
 
Councillor C Hood, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Adult and Health Services 
explained that the vision for integration was to bring together health, social 
care and voluntary organisations to achieve improved health and wellbeing 
for the people of County Durham which the proposals in the report reflected. 
 
Councillor E Scott commented that the proposal would afford greater 
opportunities to keep residents in better health and well looked after, 
recognising that good housing, leisure, education and jobs contributed to 
good health. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved. 
 
 

Page 7



 

9 Discharge of Transport Functions by Durham County Council 
2021/22 
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, 
Economy and Growth that updated Cabinet on the transport activity carried 
out by the Council under delegation originally from the North East Combined 
Authority (NECA) which had continued under the North East Joint Transport 
Committee (for copy of report, see file of minutes). 
 
Councillor E Scott informed the Cabinet that the report covered extensive 
work over the year. There had continued to be strain on the sector due to the 
covid pandemic. The Council had continued to support the public transport 
network with new and varied contracts arranged where necessary. School 
transport formed a large part of transport work with 6500 pupils occupying 
school transport and a further 3000 under non-statutory concessionary 
schemes. The Council had continued to provide a range of information. The 
report also illustrated the breadth of work across passenger transport and 
teams working in this area deserved special mention for their efforts in 
keeping the network going. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

10 County Durham Pound Project Update 

 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources that 
provided Cabinet with an update on the progress and agree to the proposed 
next steps of the County Durham Pound project which was initiated following 
Cabinet approval of the Social Value and Wealth Building Report on 13 
January 2021 (for copy of report, see file of minutes). 
 
Councillor S McDonnell, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Digital and Customer 
Services, thanked the Head of Procurement, Sales and Business Services 
for driving the agenda forward both locally and nationally and there were 
some fantastic examples of sector leading community wealth building and 
social value. 
 
Councillor E Scott extended her thanks to all of the teams involved in the 
project. The Council should be proud of the progress made to date, with 
much more to do, for example, it was pleasing to see the embedding of 
social value and community wealth building considerations into procurement 
processes. The work of the twelve partners was just the beginning of a long 
term and sustained focus on the agenda and it was hoped that the focus 
would be embraced by contractors and suppliers. 

Page 8



 
 
Resolved:  
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved. 
 

11 Maintained Schools Budget Plans and Permission to Set Deficit 
Budgets 2022/23 
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Children and 
Young People’s Services that highlighted that schools had delegated 
budgets and carried forward surpluses and deficits from year to year. The 
report set out the responsibilities of the Governing Bodies and the Council 
with regards to agreeing budgets. The report also provided an overview of 
maintained schools’ budget plans for 2022/23, as agreed by the relevant 
Governing Bodies and highlighted where the Corporate Director of 
Resources had exercised his judgement in terms of approving the setting of 
deficit budgets, in accordance with the Council’s constitution and the Scheme 
of Financing for Schools (for copy of report, see file of minutes). 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Cabinet 
 

12 October 2022 
 

Medium Term Financial Plan(13) 2023/24 – 2026/27 
 

CORP/R/22/01 
 

 
 
 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources  

Councillor Richard Bell, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for 
Finance 

Councillor Amanda Hopgood, Leader of the Council 
 
Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide an update on the development of the 2023/24 budget and the 
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP(13)) covering the period 2023/24 to 
2026/27.  

 

Executive Summary 

2 The council is continuing to operate in a period of significant financial 
uncertainty. When the 2022/23 budget was approved on 23 February 
2022, the council was concerned about the ongoing and consequential 
impact of the pandemic and the uncertainty of future local government 
finance settlements.  

3 Whilst these concerns remain, they are now overshadowed by the forecast 
impact of high inflation, especially in relation to fuel and energy prices. The 
impact of inflation is being experienced across all council services with no 
part of the council’s budget unaffected. Energy costs are significantly 
above original budget forecasts, despite a 40% increase being built into 
the base energy budgets this year, along with the majority of other major 
spend areas such as waste and transport.  

4 On 8 September, 2022 the Government announced a package of 
measures to cap energy costs for households and businesses, with further 
detail published on 22 September, 2022. At the time of preparing this 
report more detail on how the support to businesses will work in practice 
was awaited. The support to business is only for six months and therefore 
will only help alleviate some of the pressure being experienced in 2022/23 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



 

 

and therefore is not expected to help offset the £9 million of budget growth 
that is required in 2023/24. The MTFP forecasts assumes that prices for 
gas and electricity return to 2022/23 budgeted levels over the following two 
years. 

5 Inflation is also impacting upon bank base rates and expected pay 
settlements for our employees with future National Living Wage increases 
expected to exceed previous expectations, which will impact upon the cost 
of adult social care in particular.   

6 In addition to the increase in costs highlighted above, there is concern that 
the outcome from the Fair Cost of Care exercise, being carried out in Adult 
and Health Services, could result in cost pressures that are significantly 
higher than the funding government has provided to cover the costs of 
implementation. It is not clear at this time if government will provide the 
additional funding required to close any shortfall in this regard.  

7 Once again, the Looked After Children’s budget is under pressure due to 
increased demand and, significantly, increased complexity of need as we 
emerge from the pandemic driving forecast overspends in the current year 
that are forecast to continue into next year which must be accommodated. 

8 All these issues are making financial planning difficult and are resulting in a 
adjustments to the relation to the forecast MTFP(13) financial position as 
compared to that reported to Cabinet on 13 July 2022, with significant 
additional pressure falling into 2023/24. 

9 On 23 September, 2022 it was announced that the 1.25% increase in 
National Insurance & the Health and Social Care Levy, was being 
withdrawn from November 2022. This will produce both an in-year saving 
in 2022/23 (of circa £0.7 million) and a base budget reduction from 
2023/24 of circa £1.5 million. It is unclear at this stage what, if any impact, 
the unwinding of this will have on funding for social care going forwards.  

10 There still continues to be significant uncertainty in terms of future financial 
settlements for local government and how available funding will be shared 
between local authorities. Local authorities continue to be provided with 
one year financial settlements, which provide little financial certainty and 
security and given the timing of these announcements in late December, 
provides little time to react for local authorities.  

11 Local authorities desperately need early notification of how much, if any, 
additional government support will be provided in 2023/24 to offset the 
significant financial pressures faced by the sector due to the present high 
levels of inflation.  It appears at this stage however that there will not be 
early notification of funding levels for 2023/24, leaving local authorities to 
continue to plan for the worst i.e., no further funding being made available. 
Representations have been made to Government in this regard. 

Page 12



 

 

12 Although it was anticipated that in the 2022/23 local government finance 
settlement that the Fair Funding Review (FFR) would be implemented, it is 
now expected that the implementation of the findings from the FFR, may 
now be delayed until at least 2024/25 but more likely to be 2025/26.  

13 The lack of clarity in relation to the quantum of future financial settlements 
and the FFR is exacerbated by uncertainties in relation to future council tax 
referendum levels, the distribution of the Improved Better Care Fund, the 
impact of the cost cap and fair cost of care requirements in adult social 
care, the future of short term funding provided to local authorities for adult 
and children social care pressures and the ongoing impact of the 
pandemic upon council services and especially council income.  

14 This level of uncertainty is making financial planning extremely challenging 
and requires the council to be flexible and adaptable. In this regard the 
strong financial position of the council will ensure that the council is well 
placed to react effectively to any outcome. That said, without significant 
additional government funding the council will be placed in a challenging 
situation and will be required to make very difficult decisions to address 
these pressures in setting balanced budgets in 2023/24 and in future 
years.  

15 Previously the council was prudently planning on the basis that the council 
would only receive additional core funding uplifts of £0.9 million in 2023/24 
and that from 2024/25 the council will lose £8.8 million of funding due to 
the combined impact of the outcome of the FFR but also from the forecast 
impact of further government funding reductions for local government to 
contribute to the recovery required to the national finances.  

16 With the unlikelihood of the FFR not now being implemented until 2025/26 
and the expectation that in the current financial climate government will 
find it very difficult to reduce the funding of local government, it is assumed 
that there will be small inflation uplifts in the Revenue Support Grant over 
the next four years but no reduction in funding from government relating to 
the FFR outcomes. This position will be closely monitored in the coming 
months especially once the next local government finance settlement is 
received in the autumn. 

17 As we continue budget planning for 2023/24, in line with previous practice, 
the MTFP Model has been reviewed and the financial forecasts for the 
next four years updated. Financial plans have been updated to consider 
the impact of inflation upon council costs with the consumer price index 
forecast to peak at 10% by the end of 2022, the forward forecasts of 
energy costs and the Low Pay Commission’s latest forecast for the 
2023/24 increase in the National Living Wage of 8.6%. 

18 The latest forecasts indicate a funding gap / savings requirement of 
£52.569 million will be required to balance the budget over the 2023/24 to 

Page 13



 

 

2026/27 period. This assumes that the Fair Cost of Care outcomes can be 
accommodated from the grant funding provided.  

19 Savings are forecast to be required in all years of MTFP(13) as budget 
pressures and the impact of funding reductions outstrip the council’s ability 
to generate additional income from business rates and council tax. The 
forecasts assume the council will apply the maximum increases in its 
Council Tax it is allowed to across each of the next four years, in line with 
government guidance. 

20 The achievement of an additional £52.569 million of savings over the next 
four years would be extremely challenging and should not be under-
estimated – more so given the savings that the council has been required 
to achieve in the last ten years. The emphasis since 2011/12 has been to 
minimise savings from front line services by protecting them wherever 
possible whilst maximising savings in management and support functions 
and by targeting increased income from charging.  This is becoming much 
more difficult however, as the scope for further savings in managerial and 
back office efficiencies is becoming exhausted following the delivery of 
£250 million of savings up to 31 March 2023.  

21 The total savings required at this stage for 2023/24 to balance the budget 
amount to £37.389 million, although it must be recognised that this figure 
could change significantly depending on whether the government provide 
much needed additional resources to the sector in 2023/24 and whether 
the council experiences further additional financial pressures due to 
demand, loss of income or due to the impact of inflation especially in 
relation to energy.   

22 The previous forecasts, presented to Cabinet on 13 July 2022, identified a 
forecast funding shortfall of £21.9 million for 2023/24 and an overall 
funding gap of £54.845 million across the period 2023/24 to 2026/27. The 
updated forecasts show that overall savings requirements across the next 
four years are not too dissimilar, but the challenge in setting a balanced 
budget next year is significantly more difficult.   

23 Based on the previous forecasts service groupings have been working on 
saving plans to help close this funding shortfall. This report provides details 
of savings plans amounting to £17.731 million over the next four years, 
with £11.853 million of these savings in 2023/24 which, if approved,  will 
assist in reducing the forecast £37.389 million shortfall in that year to 
£25.536 million. The savings plans have been assured in terms of delivery 
with every attempt made to seek to protect front line services.  

24 Work will continue over the coming months to identify additional savings 
options to help to balance next years and future years budgets. In this 
regard however local government requires confirmation of funding 
settlements for the future to ensure there is a clear understanding of the 
financial challenges faced.  

Page 14



 

 

25 To ensure budgets can be balanced whilst clarity is provided and to 
provide time to work up proposals to reduce expenditure to address the 
underlying budget position, a thorough review of all earmarked reserves is 
being undertaken to ensure that corporate reserves are in place to ensure 
the council can set balanced budgets. This review will result in options to 
re-prioritise earmarked reserves and transfer funding to the ER/VR reserve 
and increase the MTFP Support Reserve, which is currently £15.2 million 
and would be insufficient to balance the budget next year based upon 
latest forecasts highlighting a £25.536 million funding shortfall. The 
application of reserves in this way is not a sustainable solution to the 
financial challenges we face. Until there is greater clarity, the programmes 
and projects funded from earmarked reserves are being paused at this 
time. 

26 The MTFP(13) forecasts continue to assume that there will be a 2.99% 
council tax increase in 2023/24 and 2024/25, in line with MTFP(12) 
planning assumptions, and 1.99% increases per annum thereafter. The 
2.99% increases for the next two years include an assumed 1.99% council 
tax referendum limit core increase and 1% for the adult social care 
precept. It may well be that Government provide additional flexibility in 
terms of council tax going forward, though there is no indication on 
whether this will be the case at this stage. 

27 The MTFP(13) forecasts include provision for £3 million of prudential 
borrowing in 2025/26 to fund new capital expenditure in MTFP(13). Given 
the increase in base rates in recent months and forward forecasts for the 
cost of borrowing, the £3 million budget will only fund circa £60 million of 
new capital expenditure. This position may need to be reviewed in line with 
increases in base rates in recent months and potential for further 
increases, which could reduce the scope of new capital expenditure that 
could be funded from the prudential borrowing provision factored into the 
plans at present. In previous MTFP planning, when interest rates were 
lower and much more stable, £3 million of prudential borrowing provision 
would have serviced circa £75 million of new capital expenditure.  

28 Pre-commitments to existing programmes and business as usual requests 
are expected to well exceed capital resource availability in MTFP(13), 
which together with the impact of construction price inflation, will lead to 
some difficult choices to be made around re-prioritsing existing 
commitments and scaling back or increasing the pressure on the MTFP by 
requiring greater provision for prudential borrowing, which would increase 
the savings targets in MTFP(13). 

29 Although the position beyond 2023/24 appears to be not as challenging as 
in 2023/24, this is mainly due to revised assumptions in terms of the 
outcome of the Fair Funding Review and an assumption that energy prices 
fall back to 2022/23 budget assumptions across 2024/25 and 2025/26, 
plus an assumption that provision for new prudential borrowing remains 

Page 15



 

 

unaltered once the capital bids are assessed. This position will need to be 
closely monitored to ensure plans are in place for any eventuality.  

 

Recommendations  
 
30 Cabinet is asked to: 
 

(a) note the updated MTFP forecasts and the requirement to identify 
additional savings of £52.569 million for the period 2023/24 to 
2026/27, but also note that this forecast could change significantly 
based upon outcome of future government funding settlements, the 
ongoing impact of the pandemic, demand for services and 
inflationary pressures upon the council; 

 
(b) note that at this stage a forecast £37.389 million of savings are 

required to balance the 2023/24 budget; 
 

(c) note the expected challenges in balancing the capital programme in 
light of increased cost of borrowing and construction price inflation; 

 
(d) agree the savings included at Appendix 3 to support MTFP(13) are 

consulted on; 
 
(e) note the planned review of earmarked reserves and the need to 

replenish corporate reserves should these forecasts prevail; and  
 

(f) agree the MTFP(13) consultation process as outlined in the report.  
 

Page 16



 

 

Background  
 
31 To ensure the 2023/24 budget and MTFP(13) can be developed effectively 

and savings targets delivered in time to produce a balanced budget, it is 
important that a robust plan and timetable is agreed and followed.  

32 The council is committed to strong financial governance and getting value 
for money whilst ensuring that any council tax increases are justified and 
affordable.   
 

33 It is prudent that the council continues to plan across a four year 
timeframe. During this period the council will continue to face significant 
and unavoidable budget pressures, especially relating to the inflationary 
impacts on energy and fuel costs, future pay awards to council employees, 
the National Living Wage uplifts, Children’s Social Care and Waste 
pressures whilst facing the uncertainty over the impact of the Fair Funding 
Review (FFR) and implementation of the Fair Cost of Care.  

34 Planning across the medium term in this way ensures that decisions can 
be made in the knowledge of the likely financial position of the council and 
provides a basis for effective decision making taking account of the best 
estimates of income and expenditure.  

35 Savings plans have been developed for consideration for 2023/24 and in 
future years. These plans were developed in the context of the initial 
MTFP(13) forecasts presented to Cabinet in July. Unless there is a 
significant uplift in the level of local government financial settlements, 
additional savings are inevitable.  

36 The council will be able to utilise the MTFP Reserve to help balance the 
budgets in the short-term whilst savings proposals are developed and or 
implemented. The MTFP Reserve balance is currently £15.2 million and 
will be insufficient to balance the budget next year based on the updated 
estimates and the savings proposals that have been developed to date. 

37 A review of all earmarked reserves is necessary, and a strategy may need 
to be implemented whereby funding set aside for specific projects and 
programmes is reprioritised and redirected to replenish the MTFP Reserve. 
While this review is completed and in advance of the financial settlement in 
December when the position will be clarified, a range of programmes and 
initiatives that are funded by these reserves have been paused. 

38 The use of reserves to balance the budget is not a sustainable position 
and is only recommended where there is a need to smooth in more 
sustainable budget solutions.   

39 At this stage of the planning cycle for MTFP(13) the following areas are 
presented for consideration by Cabinet: 

Page 17



 

 

(a) an update on the development of the 2023/24 budget since the 13 
July 2022 MTFP(13) report to Cabinet; 

(b) an update on the MTFP(13) savings forecast for the period 2023/24 
to 2026/27;  

(c) detail on a range of savings plans recommended for inclusion in 
MTFP(13) plans to assist in balancing budgets 

(d) an overview of a review of reserves that has been initiated to 
replenish corporate reserves should the need arise and the 
implications arising from this; and  

(e) the proposed approach for consultation on the 2023/24 budget 
proposals and on MTFP(13); 

Review of MTFP Model 

40 The financial outlook for the council continues to be extremely challenging. 
Prior to the pandemic the national finances were in a reasonably healthy 
state for the first time in ten years. The impact of the pandemic upon the 
national finances however alongside the impact of the Governments 
response to the cost of living crisis is forecast to have long term impacts on 
the flexibility for increases in expenditure across the public sector.   
 

41 Local authorities continue to lobby strongly for a long term sustainable 
financial settlement, but it is becoming less likely that this will occur in the 
short term due to ongoing uncertainty in the national finances linked to the 
ongoing impacts of the pandemic, Brexit, and the inflationary impact of the 
crisis in Ukraine.  
 

42 The council will need to continually review its MTFP(13) projections and 
savings requirements over the coming months in light of future 
announcements and as more information becomes available on the longer 
term impacts of the pandemic and inflation upon the council’s budgets 
going forward.  

 
43 The assumptions underpinning the development of MTFP(13) continue to 

be reviewed. This has resulted in a number of significant changes to the 
core assumptions for 2023/24 and in future years as well as consideration 
of increased costs and demand increases specifically linked to the impact 
of high levels of inflation. The key adjustments and major areas for 
consideration are detailed below:  

(a) Revenue Support Grant (RSG) / Fair Funding Review 

The 13 July 2022 MTFP(13) report to Cabinet included the 
assumption that the council would receive revenue support grant 
increases over the next four years of between 1.5% and 3%. This 

Page 18



 

 

assumption remains unchanged at this time but does represent a 
risk in terms of this being actioned.  

It was also assumed however that the council would lose £8.8 
million of funding due to the FFR, which at that time was forecast to 
be implemented from 2024/25. The planning assumption being that 
a combination of formula changes and reductions in funding to local 
government would be implemented as part of a strategy to bring the 
national finances back into balance which would adversely impact 
our funding levels.  

It now appears more likely that the FFR will not be implemented until 
at least April 2025 and that local government will not face funding 
reductions, mainly due to the significant inflationary budget 
pressures now faced. On that basis it has been assumed that the 
settlement the council received in 2022/23 will be ‘rolled over’ into 
2023/24 and that no funding reduction will be encountered in 
2024/25.  

All of these financial planning assumptions could change in the 
coming months as a result of government announcements. 

(b) Business Rates, Section 31 Grant and Top Up Grant inflation 
uplift 

It was previously forecast that these sums would be uplifted by a 
CPI rate of 3% in 2024/25. In line with current CPI forecasts this 
assumption has been increased to 9%, which has increased the 
estimated additional resources by £8.9 million compared to the 
previous forecast. There is a risk that the government seeks to cap 
this support and not provide funding at that level, but that would 
require a change in legislation.  

 

(c) Pay Inflation 

The 2022/23 budget includes 3.25% in the base for pay inflation. In 
July the Local Government Employers made an offer of a £1,925 flat 
increase pay offer to ‘green book’ employees, which represents the 
majority of employees in the council, is presently being considered 
by trade unions through a consultative ballot .  
 
If this offer is ultimately accepted and a similar pay award is agreed 
with non ‘green book’ employees also, it will cost a forecast £7 
million more than the 3.25% budget provision in the base.  
 
The content of the current pay offer and the likelihood of ongoing 
higher rates of inflation have also resulted in revised assumptions in 
terms of pay awards in future years. The updated forecasts for the 
cost of future pay rises in 2023/24 and 2024/25 have been increased 

Page 19



 

 

from 2.5% and 2% to 4% and 3% respectively.    In total, 
accommodating the budget shortfall from 2022/23 and the revised 
assumptions in terms of pay awards over the next two years has 
added circa £13.2 million of additional budget pressures into the 
MTFP(13) projections, of which £10.6 million falls into next year.  
 

(d) National Insurance  
 
A 1.25% increase in employers national insurance contributions was 
introduced in April 2022. On 23 September, 2022 it was announced 
that this was being withdrawn from November 2022. This will 
produce both an in-year saving in 2022/23 (of circa £0.5 million) and 
a base budget reduction from 2023/24 of circa £1.5 million. It is 
unclear at this stage what, if any, impact the unwinding of this will 
have on funding for social care going forwards.  
 

(e) Price Inflation 

Forecasts of price inflation in 2023/24 have been increased from 3% 
to 4% based upon forecast levels of price inflation next year – which 
has added an additional £1.1 million of budget pressure into the 
MTFP in 2023/24. At 4%, price inflation below forecast RPI / CPI 
levels and will require services to absorb an element of the inflation 
pressures they will face in terms of supplies and services and 
agency and contracted services. 
 

(f) CPI Uplift impact upon adult care fees 

The council uplifts care fees each year based upon a combination of 
increases in the National Living Wage and CPI. National Living 
Wage increases are in line with the figures factored into the MTFP 
forecasts in July (an 8.6% increase from April 2023, consistent with 
the Low Pay Commissions published estimates) but CPI related 
elements have been updated. 
 
The CPI uplift for non-labour costs in 2023/24 has been uplifted to 
9%. The 2023/24 impacts are offset slightly by savings in the 
commissioning budgets with the net increase required estimated at 
£13.6 million. 
 
CPI is still forecast to be high when the 2024/25 budgets are set so 
along with estimates published by the Low Pay Commission, care 
fee uplifts in 2024/45 have been increased from the previously 
forecast budget pressure of £10.4 million to £14.9 million.  
 

(g) Energy Price Increases   

The 2022/23 base budget included a £3.1 million uplift in energy 
costs based upon forecasted increases in gas and electricity prices.  

Page 20



 

 

 
Over the last six months however, mainly because of the conflict in 
Ukraine,  prices have been extremely volatile and have increased 
significantly. In July, an additional £4.3 million increase in the 
2023/24 budget was estimated to be required.   
 
More recently, energy prices have continued to increase 
significantly, mainly because of the closure of the Nord Stream gas 
pipeline between Russia and Europe.  
 
Gas and electricity commodity prices are presently trading at rates 
ten times higher than they were eighteen months ago.  
 
The council via the North East Purchasing Organisation (NEPO) has 
forward purchased a large proportion of this years’ energy and a 
smaller proportion of next years’ energy, providing some protection 
against the current volatility.  
 
On 8 September 2022 the Government announced a package of 
measures to cap energy costs for households and businesses, with 
further detail published on 22 September, 2022. At the time of 
preparing this report more detail on how the support to businesses 
will work in practice was awaited. The support to business is only for 
an initial six months and therefore will only help alleviate some of the 
pressure being experienced in 2022/23 and therefore is not 
expected to help offset the £9 million of budget growth that is 
required in 2023/24. This position will be kept under review and 
forecasts amended if necessary as more information emerges. 
 
The MTFP forecasts assumes that prices for gas and electricity 
return to 2022/23 budgeted levels over the following three years. 
There are differing views on this within the sector and within the 
markets and there is a risk that prices rates do not return to 2022/23 
budgeted levels in future. 
 
Energy prices continue to be volatile, and this budget will continue to 
be closely monitored. 

 
(h) Cost of the Implementation of Adult Social Care Reform 

Local authorities are set to receive £600 million of funding from the 
Market Sustainability and Fair Cost grant to ‘finance’ the fair cost of 
care exercise being carried out in 2022 and £1.4 billion to finance 
the impact of the introduction of the cost cap and means test 
changes in relation to charging assessment for adult social care. 
This includes provision for additional social care and financial 
assessment staffing to undertake the additional assessments that 
will be required under the new regime. 

Page 21



 

 

 
The council received the first tranche of funding from the fair cost of 
care element in 2022/23 (£1.9 million), which the council has utilised 
to part fund the increase in adult care fees of 7% in 2022/23.  
 
Based upon the proportion of funding received from the national 
total, it is forecast that the council will receive an additional £5.2 
million in 2023/24. This has not been confirmed by government at 
this stage and it is likely the government may utilise an alternate 
apportionment methodology. 
 
In relation to the £1.4 billion, a sum of £800 million will be provided 
in 2023/24 and an additional £600 million in 2024/25. The 
government have published a consultation on three variant 
methodologies for apportionment of this element of the funding.  
 
Based upon the three variants the council would receive between 
£6.7 million and £8.3 million in 2023/24 with between £5 million and 
£6.2 million in 2024/25. For modelling purposes the council is 
forecasting the receipt of £11.7 million in total.  
 
The council is assuming therefore that an additional £16.9 million will 
be received in total and that this sum will be utilised to finance the 
outcome of the fair cost of care and the changes to the cost cap and 
the means test. There is a risk that the costs of implementing these 
changes exceeds the grant funding being provided, though the 
council will need to argue strongly that if it does it would constitute a 
new burden that needed to be fully funded by government.  
 

(i) Children’s Social Care Demographic Pressures 

In recent years the council has had to increase the base budget for 
children’s social care significantly.  
 
The pressure on the budget in children’s social care has been 
evident for a number of years, as the number of children in the care 
system has increased and their needs have continued to become 
more complex and more costly to accommodate. 
 
This budget was increased by £5.5 million in 2018/19 and by a 
further £6.5 million in 2019/20 to cover the escalating care costs, as 
well as additional costs for staffing in order to meet the expected 
challenges and pressures identified in 2019/20. The 2020/21 budget 
included an additional increase for placement costs of £3.417 million 
 
The 2022/23 base budget was increased by £8.9 million through a 
combination of a 2021/22 in year budget transfer of £4.5 million from 

Page 22



 

 

Adult and Health Services and by a £4.4 million base budget uplift 
approved by Council on 23 February 2022.  
 
Despite this, the Children’s Services (Children’s Social Care and 
Early Help & Intervention) 2021/22 outturn showed a net £2.232 
million overspend for the year, including an overspend of £4.263 
million in relation to looked after children’s placements. 
 
The MTFP(12) planning assumption was that there would be a need 
for a further £2 million uplift in the 2023/24 base budget. However, in 
light of the 2021/22 outturn, the 2023/24 forecast base budget uplift 
forecast was increased from £2 million to £3 million in the 13 July 
2022 Cabinet report.  
 
This forecast has been reviewed based upon current costs of 
delivery with the number of children in the care system in the county 
presently exceeding 1,000 for the first time, which is driving a 
forecast c£5 million overspend in the current year. On that basis the 
previous forecasts over the next three years for costs of £3 million, 
£2 million, and £2 million respectively have been increased to £7.5 
million, £4 million, and £3 million in financial years 2023/24, 2024/25 
and 2025/26 – increasing the MTFP growth by £7.5 million across 
the next four years.  
 

(j) Forecast increase in major contracts resulting from high levels 
of inflation 

A number of the councils major contracts have annual inflationary 
uplift calculations built into them linked to CPI or RPI uplifts and 
sometimes linked to key materials inflation e.g. diesel prices.  
 
The council faces significant unavoidable contract price uplifts in a 
number of major contracts in 2022/23 which will produce an 
overspend in the current year and which, together with higher than 
previously anticipated increases in 2023/24 contracts, will require 
base budget increases in 2023/24 to accommodate these pressures 
and ensure a balanced budget is set next year.  
 
The main contracts affected relate to waste and refuse collection 
where a £2.6 million unavoidable increase is required, home to 
school transport and local bus subsidy contracts where a £3.9 
million unavoidable increase is required and in some of the ICT 
contracts where a £0.193 million unavoidable increase is required. 
 

(k) Prudential Borrowing 

The MTFP(13) forecasts include provision for £3 million of prudential 
borrowing in 2025/26 to fund new capital expenditure in MTFP(13).  

Page 23



 

 

Based on current interest rates and forward forecasts for the cost of 
borrowing, the £3 million budget will fund circa £60 million of new 
capital expenditure. In previous MTFP planning rounds, when 
interest rates were lower and much more stable, £3 million of 
prudential borrowing provision would have serviced circa £75 million 
of new capital expenditure. 

This position may need to be reviewed in line with increases in base 
rates in recent months and potential for further increases, which 
could reduce the scope of new capital expenditure that could be 
funded from the prudential borrowing provision factored into the 
plans at present. 

Pre-commitments to existing programmes and business as usual 
requests, together with the impact of construction price inflation are 
expected to result in requests for new capital expenditure well 
exceeding capital resource availability.  

Capital bids are currently being finalised and careful consideration 
will be given to these and all other existing capital programme 
commitments considering the financial position the council is facing.  
 
There will undoubtedly need to be some difficult choices to be made 
around re-prioritsing existing commitments and scaling back or 
increasing the pressure on the MTFP by increasing the provision for 
prudential borrowing, which would increase the savings targets in 
MTFP(13). 
 

2023/24 Savings Forecast 
 

44 Based upon the revised assumptions detailed in this report, the savings 
requirement for 2023/24 is forecast to be £37.389 million, £15.408 million 
higher than the position previously reported.   At this point our forecasts 
assumes no further government support beyond the inflationary uplifts on 
RSG and upon business rate retention sums. The forecast also assumes 
energy prices are contained within the updated forecasts, with no 
additional government support. The forecasts also assume that the fair 
cost of care impacts can be contained within the government funding 
provided.  
 

45 Although the budget deficit of £37.389 million in 2023/24 is the latest 
forecast, it should be recognised that this figure could and will likely 
change before Council ultimately sets the budget on 22 February 2023.  
 

46 The MTFP(13) forecasts continue to be predicated on a 2.99% council tax 
increase being applied in 2023/24 and again 2024/25, with 1.99% 
increases per annum across the remainder of the MTFP(13) planning 
period. The forecast 2.99% increase in 2023/24 and 2024/25 includes the 

Page 24



 

 

1% adult social care precept flexibility announced in the 2022/23 local 
government finance settlement.  
 

47 The July 2022 MTFP(13) report identified a forecast funding shortfall of 
£21.9 million for 2023/24. With this in mind service groupings have been 
working on saving plans to help close this forecast funding shortfall. This 
report provides details of savings plans amounting to £17.731 million over 
the next four year with £11.853 million of these savings in 2023/24, which 
will assist in closing the forecast £37.389 million shortfall next year. These 
savings plans have been fully assured in terms of delivery with every 
attempt made to seek to protect front line services as far as possible. The 
proposed savings plans for next year, with indicative plans for 2024/25 to 
2026/27 are attached at Appendix 2. 

48 The achievement of £11.853 million of savings in 2023/24 will close the 
funding shortfall from £37.389 million to £25.536 million. If government 
provide additional funding to local government in the finance settlement for 
2023/24, this gap could be reduced and potentially eradicated depending 
on the level of investment provided. It is currently unclear whether and the 
extent to which any additional funding will be provided. However, there is 
also a risk that the gap widens if cost pressures, particularly in relation to 
energy and in looked after children’s placement budgets, continue to 
escalate.  
 

49 At this point it is likely the council would need to utilise significant levels of 
reserves to balance the budget in 2023/24.  

Equality Impact Assessment of the Medium Term Financial Plan  
 

50 Consideration of equality analysis and impacts is an essential element that 
members must consider in approving the savings plans at Appendix 4. 
This section updates Members on the outcomes of the equality analysis of 
the MTFP (13) savings proposals. 
 

51 The aim of the equality analysis process is to; 

(a) identify any disproportionate impact on service users or staff based 
on the protected characteristics of age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation;  

 
(b)  identify any mitigating actions which can be taken to reduce 

negative impact where possible;  
 
(c)  ensure that we avoid unlawful discrimination as a result of MTFP      

decisions;  
 
(d)  ensure the effective discharge of the public sector equality duty 

 

Page 25



 

 

52 As in previous years, equality analysis is considered throughout the 
decision-making process, alongside the development of MTFP(13). This is 
required to ensure MTFP process decisions are both fair and lawful. The 
process is in line with the Equality Act 2010 which, amongst other things, 
makes discrimination unlawful in relation to the protected characteristics 
listed above and requires us to make reasonable adjustments for disabled 
people. 
 

53 In addition, the public sector equality duty requires us to pay ‘due regard’ 
to the need to; 

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other 
conduct that is prohibited under the Act;  
 

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;  
 

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it 

 
54 A number of successful judicial reviews has reinforced the need for robust 

consideration of the public sector equality duty and the impact on protected 
characteristics in the decision making process. Members must take full 
account of the duty and accompanying evidence when considering the 
MTFP proposals. 
 

55 In terms of the ongoing programme of budget decisions the council has 
taken steps to ensure that impact assessments: 

(a) are built in at the formative stages so that they form an integral part 
of developing proposals with sufficient time for completion ahead of 
decision-making;  
 

(b) are based on relevant evidence, including consultation where 
appropriate, to provide a robust assessment;  
 

(c) objectively consider any negative impacts and alternatives or 
mitigation actions so that they support fair and lawful decision 
making;  
 

(d) are closely linked to the wider MTFP decision-making process;  
 

(e) build on previous assessments to provide an ongoing picture of 
cumulative impact 

 
Impact Assessments for 2023/24 Savings Proposals  

56 Consideration of equality analysis and impacts is an essential element that 
members must consider in approving the savings plans, a summary 

Page 26



 

 

equality analysis on savings proposals can be found at Appendix 4. This 
section updates Members on the outcomes of the equality analysis of the 
MTFP (13) savings proposals as they currently stand. If savings proposals 
are developed further then analysis of impacts will be updated and 
included in the final decision making reports.  
 

Adult and Health Services (AHS)  
 

57 Savings proposals for AHS include a number of commissioning efficiencies 
which may impact vulnerable groups with protected characteristics with a 
disproportionate impact expected in terms of disability, including 
physical/sensory/learning disability and/or poor mental health. Any 
reductions in these areas could have a disproportionate impact on men 
and impacts for ethnic minority groups in relation to services for the Gypsy 
Roma Traveller GRT community. 
 

58 Part of proposals for non-assessed community based services, include a 
reduction in floating support services which are predominantly accessed by 
single males between the age of 16-35 years who are experiencing 
potential homelessness and mental health issues and require housing, 
benefit/financial advice and support to access services. There will also be 
an impact to the delivery of Gypsy Roma Traveller (GRT) floating support 
services. 
 

59 Proposals to reduce the costs of high cost learning disability support 
packages will impact those with a learning disability and their carers. Any 
models of care developed for individuals will aim to create services with an 
improved model of care and support, encourage independence and 
improve welfare. Depending on re-commissioning outcomes there should 
be no negative impact on service users. 
 

60 A review of commissioned services for people who are deaf, deafened or 
living with a hearing impairment will impact in terms of disability and older 
age groups. Impact on service users should be minimised with efficiencies 
focused primarily on premises and associated utilities and prioritisation of 
projects within the services. To further mitigate the impact of reduced 
funding on service users, we have strengthened the need for a community 
based model of IAG support hubs, whereby people are supported county 
wide as opposed to a centralised ‘building’. The hubs must support 
accessibility and encourage social inclusion. 
 

Children and Young People’s Services (CYPS)  
   
61 There are number of savings proposals within CYPS with a 

disproportionate impact for age (younger and working age in terms of 
parents and carers) and disability although mitigations are proposed. 
There are a number of staff reductions and deletion of vacant posts. Fair 

Page 27



 

 

treatment of staff will be ensured through agreed corporate HR change 
management procedures, and progression of ER/VR to minimise impact. 
 

62 Reduced expenditure within the One Point activities budget will impact 
families in terms of age, parents and carers, children and young people 0-
19 years and up to 25 years and disability, for those with Special 
Educational Needs and/or a disability. Negative impact will be minimised 
due to the greater use of virtual technology and partnership working to 
enhance levels of non council funded activity. A phased three year 
approach will help us to monitor impact. 
 

63 Through the development and implementation of Family Hubs and Start for 
Life programme there will be an opportunity to rationalise a number of 
posts within Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children due to improved 
integration with partners. A greater focus on development and use of 
digital platforms will minimise any potential impact in terms of age and 
disability. 
 

Neighbourhoods and Climate Change (NCC) 
 

64 NCC savings proposals generally have no disproportionate equality impact 
on any particular group apart from some fee increases with potential 
disproportionate impact in terms of disability and older age. There are a 
number of staff reductions and deletion of vacant posts with potentially a 
greater impact on men, disproportionately represented in some posts. Fair 
treatment of staff will be ensured through agreed corporate HR change 
management procedures, and progression of ER/VR to minimise impact. 
 

65 A number of fee increases are proposed which although impact all may 
have a disproportionate impact for disabled and older residents who may 
not be able to use ‘free’ alternatives such as bulky waste collection and 
garden waste collection. 
 

Regeneration, Economy and Growth (REG) 
 

66 REG savings proposals generally have no disproportionate equality impact 
on any particular group although there are two proposals with a 
disproportionate impact on working age and younger age. There are a 
number of staff reductions and deletion of vacant posts. Fair treatment of 
staff will be ensured through agreed corporate HR change management 
procedures, and progression of ER/VR to minimise impact. 
 

67 Removal of the discount rate for park and ride users will negatively impact 
the most regular users who access this discount rate (4.5% of all 
transactions), most likely to be of working age, although it will create price 
equity for all users. Proposed improvements in flexibility in payment 
methods for all customers through reconfiguration of on-bus ticket 
machines to accept contactless debit/credit card payment will benefit all 

Page 28



 

 

customers, in particular some people with disabilities who may find using 
contactless on-bus payments more accessible.  
 

68 Reducing capacity of the International Team will adversely impact 
opportunities for young people in the county to participate in international 
and/or intercultural events. The proposal is felt to both reflect the reducing 
demand for the service, post EU exit and the pandemic which has reduced 
the level of school travelling, while still retaining sufficient capacity to 
provide an effective service offer going forward. HR processes will be 
followed to ensure fair treatment of staff involved. 
 

Resources (RES) 

69 There are a range of proposals for Resources, two with front line service 
implications with a disproportionate impact in terms of disability, older age 
and men. A number of proposals involve staff reductions and deletion of 
vacant posts. Fair treatment of staff will be ensured through agreed 
corporate HR change management procedures, and progression of ER/VR 
to minimise impact. Service continuity will be supported by ongoing 
business improvement and the data insight and business intelligence 
programme. However, reduced staff capacity places teams under 
increasing pressure to meet service demand which can lead to burn out 
and poor mental and physical health. 
 

70 Business Support Services propose a significant number of staff 
reductions, phased over four years. The initial phase for 2023/24 involves 
a management restructure with realignment of responsibilities. Further 
equality analysis will be undertaken to understand the impact of a reduced 
service provision and any disproportionate staff impact.  
 

71 It is proposed to introduce weekly charges of £5 or £7.50 for support 
provided by the Deputy and Appointee Team (DAT) who act as an 
appointee to manage the financial affairs of service users who, following a 
mental capacity assessment, have been found unable to manage their own 
finances. The introduction of such charges would bring the service in line 
with other authorities. There are currently 458 clients, all have a disability, 
disproportionately male (58%) and from a range of age groups from 16+ 
years. There will be a negative financial impact for groups affected 
however accessing this service protects clients from financial exploitation 
and abuse. 
 

72 A review of service provision in relation to the face-to-face service in non-
strategic sites provided by Customer Services from the Customer Access 
Points (CAPs) is currently underway and will be subject to public 
consultation. The largest overall proportion of CAP footfall and 
appointment traffic relate to Blue Badge and Concessionary Bus Pass 
application support and queries, both of which can be associated with 
older age and/or disability. This will potentially mean a disproportionate 

Page 29



 

 

impact on disabled people and older age groups although a service offer 
will remain, it will be restricted in terms of reduced opening hours. The 
suggested reduction in opening hours releases the capacity of 4FTE staff, 
with HR processes followed to ensure fair treatment. 
 

Corporate (COR) 
 
73 There is no expected equality impact of COR savings proposals. 

 

Review of Reserves 
 
74 To ensure budgets can be balanced whilst clarity is provided and to 

provide time to work up further proposals to increase income and reduce 
expenditure to address the underlying budget position, a thorough review 
of all earmarked reserves is being undertaken.  
 

75 This is required to ensure that corporate reserves are in available to 
enqble the council to set balanced budgets. The review will result in 
options to re-prioritise earmarked reserves and transfer funding to the 
ER/VR Reserve, the Commercial Reserve and to increase the MTFP 
Support Reserve, which is currently £15.2 million and insufficient to 
balance the budget next year should these latest forecasts come to 
fruition.   
 

76 The ER/VR reserve at the end of 2022/23 is forecast to be circa £2.5 
million. This reserve needs replenishing and it is also forecast that the 
Commercial Reserve (presently £5 million) will not be sufficient to provide 
coverage for the Milburngate and NetPark developments as they come on 
stream.  
 

77 As part of the review of reserves, it is therefore intended to find the 
capacity to replenish the ER/VR reserve by £7.5 million and the 
Commercial Reserve by £3.5 million, with options to be developed to 
bolster the MTFP Support reserve by circa £25 million potentially.  
 

78 The application of reserves to balance the budget is not a sustainable 
solution to the financial challenges we face. Whilst the review is 
undertaken and until there is greater clarity, the programmes and projects 
funded from a range of earmarked reserves will need to be paused at this 
time. 
 

79 Further details of the review of reserves and the impact of redirecting these 
resources will be provided in the December MTFP(13) update report.  
 

 
 
 

Page 30



 

 

MTFP(13) – 2023/24 to 2026/27 Summary       

 
80 The adjustments to the MTFP(13) model have resulted in the following 

revised forecast across the four year period of the current MTFP: 
 

    Savings     Less Savings             Savings 
  Requirement      Previously Approved      Shortfall 

        £m            £m                £m 

2023/24       37.389     0             37.389 

2024/25       2.609        0               2.609  

2025/26       4.213     0               4.213       

2026/27       8.633                   0.275               8.358   

 TOTAL     52.844          0.275             52.569       
 

81 As can be seen, the additional savings required to be developed to 
balance the budgets over the next four years is estimated to be £52.569 
million. As previously mentioned, there is significant uncertainty facing 
local government at this time, especially in relation to future local 
government finance settlements, the continuing impact of the pandemic, 
the volatility of energy prices and the other high levels of inflation impacting 
upon the council.  

 
82 This report provides details of savings plans amounting to £17.731 million 

over the next four year with £11.853 million of these savings in 2023/24, 
which will assist in closing the forecast £37.389 million shortfall next year. 
These savings plans have been assured in terms of delivery with every 
attempt made to seek to protect front line services as far as possible. The 
proposed savings plans for next year, with indicative plans for 2024/25 to 
2026/27 are attached at Appendix 2. 

83 The achievement of £11.853 million of savings in 2023/24 will help reduce 
the funding shortfall from £37.389 million to £25.536 million. If government 
provide additional funding to local government in the finance settlement for 
2023/24, this gap could be reduced further. However, there is also a risk 
that the gap widens if cost pressures, particularly in relation to energy and 
in looked after children’s placement budgets, continue to escalate. 
 

84 The realisation of an additional £52.569 million of savings across the 
MTFP(13) planning period will have resulted in the council being required 
to save circa £303 million from 2011/12 to 2026/27.  
 

85 The updated MTFP(13) Model, factoring in the savings outlined at 
Appendix 2, is attached at Appendix 3. 

 
 

Page 31



 

 

Consultation Programme 
 
86 Based on the best practice that has developed over previous 

consultations, it is once again proposed that we consult using our existing 
County Durham Partnership networks during October and November.   

87 This will include the fourteen Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) and the 
thematic partnerships that support the County Durham Partnership. 
Additional work will be undertaken with special interest groups and there 
will be an opportunity for residents to respond electronically via the 
council’s website which will be promoted through the council’s presence on 
various social media platforms. 

88 The consultation will inform final decisions on the savings proposals set 
out in Appendix 2 and on the approach to council tax increases in future 
years. 

Conclusion 
 
89 The council continues to face significant financial uncertainty for the 

MTFP(13) planning period, covering the financial years 2023/24 to 
2026/27. The uncertainty relating to future government financial 
settlements is exacerbated by the ongoing impact of the pandemic 
alongside increases in base budget pressures from inflation, national living 
wage, social care, and waste disposal, together with enduring pressures in 
our looked after children’s placement budgets.  

 
90 The proposed savings attached at Appendix 2 will be subject to 

consultation via our existing County Durham Partnership networks during 
October and November.  This will include the fourteen Area Action 
Partnerships (AAPs) and the thematic partnerships that support the County 
Durham Partnership. The outcome of this consultation, together with 
greater certainty around the local government finance settlement, will 
inform final budget decisions in February. 
 

91 The MTFP forecasts at this stage would indicate a significant budget gap 
next year even if all the savings identified for 2023/24 are ultimately taken. 
The council is therefore in the unenviable position of having to potentially 
utilise significant reserves to balance its budget next year. 

 
92 The application of reserves to balance the budget is not a sustainable 

solution to the financial challenges we face. Whilst the review is 
undertaken and until there is greater clarity, the programmes and projects 
funded from a range of earmarked reserves will need to be paused at this 
time. 
 

93 Planning will continue in relation to the identification of further savings to 
enable future years budgets to be balanced, which alongside the review of 
reserves currently underway will ensure the council is well placed to 

Page 32



 

 

respond to the financial forecasts as they are firmed up over the coming 
months.  
 

94 The ER/VR Reserve at the end of 2022/23 is forecast to be circa £2.5 
million. This reserve needs replenishing and it is also forecast that the 
Commercial Reserve (presently £5 million) will not be sufficient to provide 
coverage for the Milburngate and Net Park developments as they come on 
stream.  
 

95 As part of the review of reserves, it is therefore intended to find the 
capacity to replenish the ER/VR Reserve by £7.5 million and the 
Commercial Reserve by £3.5 million, with options to be developed to 
bolster the MTFP Support reserve by circa £25 million potentially.  
 

96 Further details of the review of reserves and the impact of redirecting these 
resources will be provided in the December MTFP(13) update report.  

. Background papers 

• Local Government Finance Act 1992  

 

• Welfare Reform Act 2012 

 

• The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) 

(England) Regulations (as amended) 

 

• The Impacts of Localised Council Tax Support Schemes – Institute for 

Fiscal Studies Report January 2019 

 

Other useful documents 

• Medium Term Financial Plan (12), 2022/23 to 2025/26 – Report to Council 
23 February 2022 

• Medium Term Financial Plan (13), 2023/24 to 2026/27 – Report to Cabinet 
13 July 2022 

Author(s) 

Jeff Garfoot     Tel:  03000 261946 

Gordon Elliott    Tel:  03000 263603 

  

Page 33



 

 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 

Legal Implications 

The council has a statutory responsibility to set a balanced budget for 2023/24.  It 
also has a fiduciary duty not to waste public resources. 
 

Finance 

The report highlights that at this stage additional £37.389 million of savings are 

required to balance the 2023/24 budget, with £52.569 million of additional 

savings required across the next four years.  

 

Based on previous forecasts, additional savings of £17.456 million across the 

MTFP(13) period are included for approval in the report to assist in balancing 

budgets across the MTFP(13) period, taking the overall savings proposals to 

£17.731 million. These will be subject to consultation across the coming months. 

Final decisions on savings to be implemented will be taken as part of the budget 

setting report in February 2023. 

 

These savings plans have been fully assured in terms of delivery with every 
attempt made to seek to protect front line services as far as possible. The 
proposed savings plans for next year, with indicative plans for 2024/25 to 
2026/27 are attached at Appendix 2. 

The achievement of £11.853 million of savings in 2023/24 will help reduce the 

funding shortfall from £37.389 million to £25.536 million.  

 

If government provide additional funding to local government in the finance 

settlement for 2023/24, this gap could be reduced further. However, there is also 

a risk that the gap widens if cost pressures, particularly in relation to energy and 

in looked after children’s placement budgets, continue to escalate 

 

The council is therefore in the unenviable position of having to potentially utilise 
significant reserves to balance its budget next year and the MTFP Reserve is 
currently insufficient to balance the budget. This has necessitated a review of all 
earmarked reserves, to ensure that corporate reserves are in place to ensure the 
council can set balanced budgets.  
 
The review will result in options to re-prioritise earmarked reserves and transfer 
funding to the ER/VR Reserve, the Commercial Reserve and to increase the 
MTFP Support Reserve, which is currently £15.2 million and insufficient to 
balance the budget next year should these latest forecasts come to fruition 
 
The application of reserves to balance the budget is not a sustainable solution to 
the financial challenges we face. Whilst the review is undertaken and until there 

Page 34



 

 

is greater clarity, the programmes and projects funded from a range of 
earmarked reserves will need to be paused at this time. 
 

Consultation 

Consultation on the 2023/24 budget and MTFP(13) will include engagement via 
existing County Durham Partnership networks during October and 
November.  This will include the fourteen Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) and 
the thematic partnerships that support the County Durham Partnership.  

Additional work will be undertaken with special interest groups and there will be 
an opportunity for residents to respond electronically via the council’s website 
which will be promoted through the council’s presence on various social media 
platforms. 

The consultation will inform final decisions on the savings proposals set out in 
Appendix 2 and on the approach to council tax increases in future years. 
 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 all public authorities must, in the 
exercise of their functions, “have due regard to the need to” eliminate conduct 
that is prohibited by the Act. Such conduct includes discrimination, harassment 
and victimisation related to protected characteristics but also requires public 
authorities  to have due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity 
and foster good relations between persons who share a “relevant protected 
characteristic” and persons who do not. This means consideration of equality 
analysis and impacts is an essential element that Members must take into 
account when considering these savings proposals. 
 
The report contains summary details of the impact assessment that has been 
undertaken on the proposed savings, which is set out in more detail at Appendix 
4. 
 

Climate Change 

The council budget will be developed to provide resource to enable the council to 
meet the requirements set out in the council’s Climate Change Emergency 
Response Plan. 
 

Human Rights 

Any human rights issues will be considered for all proposals agreed as part of 
MTFP(13).  
 

Crime and Disorder 

None 
 

Page 35



 

 

Staffing 

The impact of the MTFP forecasts and the savings proposals that have been 
developed to contribute to the financial challenges faced is detailed within the 
report.  
 
Should the MTFP(13) savings proposals set out in Appendix 2 be implemented in 
full it is estimated that there will a 117 FTE reduction. HR policies will be strictly 
adhered to in terms of any restructure activity and priority will continue to be 
placed on seeking voluntary redundances and early retirements to mitigate 
against the need for compulsory redundancies.  
 

Accommodation 

Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) savings of £275,000 were previously 
factored into MTFP(12) from the expected move to the new HQ and 
closure/demolition of the existing County Hall building at Aykley Heads.   
 
Based on the revenue estimates that underpinned the review of the options for 
disposal of the building on the sands and the implementation of an alternative 
strategy, net revenue running costs are still forecast to be at least £0.275 million 
less than the 2022/23 £1.954 million budgeted running cost of County Hall. This 
saving is factored into the MTFP(13) savings proposals, alongside further 
building rationalisation and efficiencies to protect front line service delivery.   

Risk 

The council is continuing to operate in a period of significant financial uncertainty. 
When the 2022/23 budget was approved on 23 February 2022, the council was 
concerned about the ongoing and consequential impact of the pandemic and the 
uncertainty of future local government finance settlements.  

Whilst these concerns remain, they are now overshadowed by the forecast 
impact of high inflation, especially in relation to fuel and energy prices and from 
increases in bank base rates. The impact of inflation is being experienced across 
all council services with no part of the council’s budget unaffected. Energy costs 
are significantly above original budget forecasts, despite a 40% increase being 
built into the base energy budgets this year, along with the majority of other 
major spend areas such as waste and transport.  

Prudent financial planning assumptions have been made in terms of forecasting 
the base budget pressures the council will face over the coming years. The 
underpinning rationale is explained in detail in the report.  

A robust approach to Risk Assessment across the MTFP process will be followed 
especially in relation to any individual risk assessments of savings plans. The 
savings plans attached at Appendix 2 have been assured in terms of delivery 
with every attempt made to seek to protect front line services as far as possible. 
 

Page 36



 

 

Procurement 

None 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



MTFP (13) SAVINGS PLANS

Adult and Health Services

Savings Proposal Description 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 TOTAL  
£ £ £ £ £

Commissioned Services - Efficiencies
Review of contractual arrangements across Adult and 

Health Services 
1,250,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 1,400,000

Market Shaping - Reablement & Direct 
Payments

Maximising use of reablement and direct payments to 
promote independence for service users

0 50,000 250,000 300,000 600,000

High Cost Learning Disabiity Care 
Packages

Review of specialist/high cost care provision across learning 
disability services

210,000 210,000 210,484 0 630,484

Review of Non-Assessed Community 
Based Services

Review of non-assessed community-based commissioned 
services

113,000 101,283 93,000 0 307,283

Hearing Impaired Review Review of county-wide hearing impaired services 50,000 0 0 0 50,000

Extra Care Cleaning  Review of cleaning provision in extra care schemes 52,000 8,000 0 0 60,000

Car Mileage Reduction Reduction in staff travel costs due to new ways of working 100,000 0 0 0 100,000

1,775,000 419,283 603,484 350,000 3,147,767

Children and Young People 

Savings Proposal Description 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 TOTAL  

£ £ £ £ £

Review of Support Services
Delivering resource efficiencies in the provision of non 

frontline services through greater automation of tasks and 
simplifying systems.

0 0 210,000 0 210,000

Planned reduction in activities budget 
through rationalisation of One Point 
Service activities with families and 

increased use of virtual activity work.

Planned reduction in physical activities held in centres with 
increased use of technology and virtual services for 

Families, which support the new work on development of 
Family Hubs 

50,000 50,000 50,000 0 150,000

Early help, Inclusion and Vulnerable 
Children Services review

Achieving efficiencies within Early Help services through 
turnover of staff, reviewing deployment of staffing resources 

and use of non council funding to support activity 
41,000 41,000 84,000 84,000 250,000

Cross Service Accommodation
Streamlining the use of Council staff accommodation to 

achieve savings in maintenance and running costs.
0 50,000 71,000 100,000 221,000

Total - Adult and Health Services

P
age 39



Restructure of Education Services
Implementation of the Councils education review programme 

to align to the future direction of Education Services and 
national policy

350,000 0 0 0 350,000

Restructure of Adult Learning Service
Changes to the Councils Adult Learning Service to align to 
the future direction of Education, Employment and Training 

opportunities for disadvantaged Young People
0 100,000 70,000 0 170,000

Reductions in Mileage
Efficiencies in staff mileage budgets as a result of the 
greater use of technology and new ways of working

100,000 100,000 0 0 200,000

Reduction in Historic FE Liabilities Planned reduction in Service Pension liabilities 40,000 10,000 0 0 50,000

581,000 351,000 485,000 184,000 1,601,000

Neighbourhood and Climate Change

Savings Proposal Saving Description 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 TOTAL  

£ £ £ £ £

Clean and Green Efficiency Review
Savings opportunities will be identified associated with 

maintenance, increased income, flower displays and staff 
restructuring

70,000 0 0 0 70,000

Income and Efficiencies from Destination 
Parks

Income generation opportunities will be explored at both 
Wharton Park and Hardwick Park, and the play offer at 

Wharton Park will be reviewed
66,000 0 0 0 66,000

Income Generation in Refuse & Recycling
The fees and charges relating to Trade Waste, Bulky Waste 

and replacement bins will be increased
206,000 0 0 0 206,000

Additional Fixed Penalty Notice income
This proposal will see an increase in the number of FPN’s 
issued, and therefore income through stricter enforcement

25,000 0 0 0 25,000

Review of Cemetery fees Increase in cemetery fees 40,000 0 0 0 40,000

Reduce Allotments investment 
This proposal will see a reduction in the planned allotment 

investment
69,000 0 0 0 69,000

Review of Neighbourhood Protection 
This proposal will see a staffing reduction arising from a 

review of neighbourhood protection, including wardens and 
civic pride.

70,000 0 0 0 70,000

Power Purchase Agreements
Additional income will be generated by selling renewable 

energy to commercial energy suppliers
60,000 0 0 0 60,000

Review of Garden Waste income
Garden Waste sign ups continue to exceed the budgeted 

level so there is scope to increase the income budget
190,000 0 0 0 190,000

Increase in Power Generation income at 
Joint Stocks

Additional income will be generated by selling gas generated 
at landfill sites

750,000 0 0 0 750,000

Total - Children & Young People Services

P
age 40



Deletion of vacant post in Highways 
Estimating Team

Deletion of vacant post in Highways Estimating Team 34,000 0 0 0 34,000

Restructure of Highways Adoption team
Savings will arise from staff restructure and also by funding 
the team partly from increased development supervision fee 

income
64,000 0 0 0 64,000

Capitalise the cost of Strategic Highways 
staff working on LTP

A number of staff directly dealing with the capital programme 
will in future be funded by the LTP capital grant allocation 

instead of revenue
299,000 0 0 0 299,000

New charging system for Vehicle Crossing 
applications

Introduce a new system of vehicle crossing application fees, 
plus additional license fees for hire of adopted highway 

space by businesses
20,000 0 0 0 20,000

Supplies & services saving in Strategic 
Street Lighting

This is associated with an area of the budget that 
consistently underspends

16,000 0 0 0 16,000

Review of Community Protection Structure 
& Income Generation

A restructure of the service will deliver savings in employees 
along with some income generation opportunities

95,000 110,000 145,000 0 350,000

Review of structure in Partnerships team A restructure of the service will deliver savings in employees 25,000 0 0 0 25,000

Review of AAPs
Savings to be identified following an independent review of 
the council's community engagement mechanisms including 

the Area Action Partnerships
183,750 61,250 0 0 245,000

Restructure within Civil Contingencies Unit 
(CCU) and Corporate Policy 

A restructure of the service will deliver savings in employees 47,000 0 0 0 47,000

Savings in Car Mileage due to hybrid 
working

As many staff continue to work from home for a significant 
portion of the working week, many meetings are now held 

virtually which will reduce car mileage costs
60,000 0 0 0 60,000

2,389,750 171,250 145,000 0 2,706,000

Regeneration, Economy and Growth 

Savings Proposal Saving Description 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 TOTAL  

£ £ £ £ £

Strategic Car Park Review
A review of parking arrangements and tariffs across the 

county to allow a more equitable charging regime
0 279,000 0 0 279,000

TOTAL - NCC

P
age 41



Moving vehicle/Bus Lane enforcement 
income.

Introduction of camera enforcement intended to address 
moving traffic offences, and to increase compliance at 

existing Framwellgate Moor bus lane restrictions
40,000 0 0 30,000 70,000

Park and Ride Discount Rate.
Removal of current POP card option and associated 

discount & replace with standard on-board payment facilities
20,000 0 0 0 20,000

Reduction in Concesssionary Fares
Reduction in concessionary fares budget as a result of 

behaviour changes & reduced concessionary passenger 
numbers 

50,000 0 0 0 50,000

Increase surplus rental income on 
commercial properties

Additional rental income generated from commercial 
properties managed by Business Durham

100,000 0 48,438 0 148,438

Theatre ticketing – introduce dynamic 
pricing

A revised approach to how and when tickets are sold to 
increase income and offer customers more choice

0 30,000 0 0 30,000

Theatre Marketing - contract out Contracting out design, print and brochure production 7,000 7,000 0 0 14,000

Review daytime café offer at Empire 
theatre

Consideration of aligning daytime café services with theatre 
and cinema programme 

13,000 0 0 0 13,000

Library Transformation including 
Sevenhills Lease

Review of built service offer with regard to co-location 
opportunities, delivery models and tech solutions

75,000 105,000 0 0 180,000

Library Transformation - Clayport Library 
Restructure & Remodel

Remodel and update the library to create a high quality 
environment to meet modern public requirements 

0 200,000 0 0 200,000

Planning Income Volumes
Increase budget for planning fees income to reflect higher 

levels of planning applications in recent years
350,000 100,000 0 0 450,000

Review of the Housing Solution Team Reduction of one vacant project manager post 49,672 0 0 0 49,672

International Team Restructure
Review of staffing within the International Team and

amalgamate operations
25,000 0 0 0 25,000

Service Review of Catering, Cleaning & 
Facilities Management

Service efficiencies from catering, cleaning and facilities 
management through strategic service review including 

commercial opportunities, opening hours, levels of service 
etc

0 0 90,000 95,000 185,000

Review of Office Accommodation - New 
HQ operating costs

Saving in running costs  generated from the move from 
County Hall

0 0 0 275,000 275,000

729,672 721,000 138,438 400,000 1,989,110

Resources

Savings Proposal Description 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 TOTAL  

TOTAL - REG

P
age 42



£ £ £ £ £

Policy and Performance employee review Restructure of Strategy Service 43,473 75,473 0 0 118,946

HR Employee Review and Training 
budgets

Review HR Employee and Training budgets 0 0 152,892 86,940 239,832

Procurement income generation and 
employee reductions

Review of Procurement Services 100,000 0 0 0 100,000

Business Support Employee Review Review and restructuring of the Business Support service 200,000 150,000 0 517,000 867,000

Internal Audit Income generation and 
employee review

A restructure of Internal Audit and Risk, including a review of 
income budgets as the Internal Audit Service is now 

providing services to additional external clients.
32,200 33,276 0 0 65,476

Corporate Finance employee review Reduction in management posts 70,000 41,000 0 0 111,000

Corporate Finance non employee budgets  Review / Reduction of Non Staffing Budgets 102,837 0 0 0 102,837

Legal Services staffing Review of Legal Services 11,360 0 0 127,640 139,000

Legal and Dem Services non employee 
budgets

 Review / Reduction of Non Staffing Budgets 103,000 0 0 12,000 115,000

Digital Services employee review Restructure of Digital Services Team 0 0 164,011 0 164,011

Digital Services supplies and services
Review of supplies and services budgets across all teams 

within Digital Services
19,718 65,000 65,000 0 149,718

Finance and Transactional Customer 
Services

Looking at current charging for services to explore additional 
areas for income generation

80,275 80,275 0 0 160,550

Finance and Transactional non employee 
budgets

Reduction in non-staffing budgets following an analytical 
review of all non-staffing budgets (including income 

budgets)
0 0 0 102,120 102,120

Finance and Transactional Customer 
Services

Review of Customer Services 68,500 68,500 0 0 137,000

Finance and Transactional Employee 
Review

Introduction of new systems, process review and new ways 
of working

0 28,813 119,558 0 148,371

Digital Services Applications and Hosting Reductions in supplies and services budgets 36,916 0 0 0 36,916

868,279 542,337 501,461 845,700 2,757,777

Corporate Savings

Savings Proposal Description 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 TOTAL  

£ £ £ £ £

TOTAL - RESOURCES

P
age 43



Reduction in Subscriptions and Supplies 
and Services

Review of all non staffing expenditure in the Centrally 
Administrated costs budget

66,000 0 0 0 66,000

Staff Turnover Rate
Current staff turnover allowance included in budget build is 

3.5%. Proposal is to increase this to 3.75%
463,000 0 0 0 463,000

Capital Financing/Investment Income

Recent borrowing costs have been lower than previous 
forecasts generating a saving whilst current higher interest 
rate levels are resulting in higher than forecast investment 

returns

2,500,000 0 0 0 2,500,000

General Contingencies Reduction in the current level of general contingencies 1,500,000 0 0 0 1,500,000

Buyout of CLUK Contract - Retention of all 
income

The buyout of this contract from a corporate reserve will 
result in an increase in leisure income 

1,000,000 0 0 0 1,000,000

5,529,000 0 0 0 5,529,000

TOTAL COUNCIL SAVINGS FOR MTFP (13) 11,872,701 2,204,870 1,873,383 1,779,700 17,730,654

TOTAL - CORPORATE

P
age 44



Medium Term Financial Plan - MTFP(13) 2023/24 - 2026/27 Model 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Government Funding
Revenue Support Grant (3% then 1.5%) -870 -445 -450 -455
IBCF Uplift (5%) -1,500 0 0 0
Market Sustainability Grant -10,300 -5,000 0 0
Social Care Levy Funding - Additional Staffing -1,600 0 0 0
B Rates/S31 - S31 Adj & CPI increase (9%/9%/1.5%/1.5%) -6,800 -6,900 -1,100 -1,100
Top Up - CPI increase (9%/9%/1.5%/1.5%) -6,400 -6,450 -1,050 -1,050

Other Funding Sources
Council Tax Increase (2.99%/2.99%/1.99%/1.99%) -7,200 -7,300 -5,000 -5,100
Council Tax Base increase -3,000 -2,000 -2,000 -2,000
Business Rate Tax Base increase -500 -500 -500 -250

Estimated Variance in Resource Base -38,170 -28,595 -10,100 -9,955

Pay Inflation (4%/3%/2%/2%) 9,700 7,700 5,200 5,300
Pay Inflation 22/23 Shortfall (Average of 6.6% plus one day leave) 7,000 0 0 0
Employers National Insurance (Health & Social Care Levy) -1,500 0 0 0

Price Inflation (4%/1.5%/1.5%/1.5%) - excludes social care fees 4,200 1,500 1,550 1,600

Base Budget Pressures
Social Care Fee Inflation Uplift - includes NLW and CPI 13,600 14,900 3,300 3,500
Adults - Costs associated with Social Care reform 10,050 1,750 0 1,750
Adults - Social Care Charging Reform - Additional Staffing 1,600 0 0 0
National Living Wage Other Service Areas 350 400 50 50
Pension Fund Revaluation -2,800 0 0 0
Energy Price Increases 9,000 -3,000 -3,000 -2,250

Social Care System Licenses 100 0 0 0
Adults Demographic Pressures 1,000 1,000 1,500 1,500
Children's Demographic Pressures 7,500 4,000 3,000 2,000
Tees Valley SPV Set Up Costs 0 0 30 0
Low Carbon Team - staffing & partnership development 84 0 0 0
Vehicle Fleet - Transfer to electric vehicles 0 0 1,328 3,238
Community Protection Workforce Development 218 196 -200 0
Woodland Protection / Nature Reserves / Public Rights of Way 0 0 -145 0
Waste Inflation 2,600 0 0 0
Transport Inflation (Local Buses and School Transport) 3,900 0 0 0
Core ICT System Inflation 193 0 0 0
CYPS Social Care Preventative Strategies 808 0 0 0
CYPS Fostering Investment 1,738 0 -1,200 0
CYPS Social Workers 811 0 0 0
NCC Tree Inspections 90 0 0 0
NCC Humanitarian Support 123 0 0 0
NCC Civil Contingencies 30 0 0 0
REG Park and Ride Reprocurement 220 0 0 0
REG Durham Bus Station 100 0 0 0
REG Buildings Repair and Maintenance 100 0 0 0
REG History Centre Front of House Team 148 0 0 0
REG North East Screen Industries Partnership 206 0 0 0
RES Barrister Support for CYPS Social Care 513 0 0 0
RES ICT Licencing 85 0 0 0
Aykley Heads Cultural Venue (Former DLI Building) 0 600 0 0
Unfunded Superannuation 0 0 -100 -100
Prudential Borrowing 3,000 3,400 3,000 2,000
Net Collection Fund Position after 75% Grant applied 792 -1,242 0 0

TOTAL PRESSURES 75,559 31,204 14,313 18,588

Use of One Off funds
Adjustment for use of BSR in previous year 0 0 0 0
Use of Budget Support Reserve in year 0 0 0 0
Savings 
Savings Agreed in MTFP(10) 0 0 0 -275

MTFP(13) Savings -11,873 -2,205 -1,873 -1,505

SAVINGS SHORTFALL 25,516 404 2,340 6,853
TOTAL SHORTFALL 35,113

Cabinet 12.10.22 - MTFP13 Cabinet Report - FINAL - APPENDIX 3.xlsx
Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Appendix 4:   

MTFP (13) Table of Equality Impacts and Analysis for Savings 

 
Adult and Health Services  
 

Saving Description Element of saving 
with equality impact 

Equality impact and analysis Mitigation 

Efficiencies from 
Commissioned 

Services 

Budget 
prioritisation 

exercise resulting 
in a range of  

proposed 
efficiencies linked 

to County-wide 
commissioned 

services. 

Any budget reduction restricts investment 
in commissioned services and key priority 

areas. 
 

Any pressure on currently commissioned 
services due to increased costs will not 

be supported which may adversely 
impact service delivery and service users, 

potentially including vulnerable groups 
with protected characteristics.  

 
A key age group accessing the services 

identified as being in scope are 
anticipated to be the 18-55 age group. 
There may be impact on services that 

provide support to vulnerable groups with 
protected characteristics. 

 
Disproportionate impact is likely for some 
reductions, for example where more men 

access these services. 
 

Reduction in spend could reduce capacity 
within services and hinder future 

Continual monitoring of impact to ensure 
fulfilment of service responsibilities. 

 
Analysis of service user data to identify 
impact and any necessary mitigation. 

 
Profiling exercise to identify timeline for 
contracts to apply savings to and when 

these can take effect in line with 
contractual terms and conditions. 

P
age 47



 

 

Saving Description Element of saving 
with equality impact 

Equality impact and analysis Mitigation 

expansion/development of services that 
support communities. 

 

Market Shaping – 
Reablement and 
Direct Payments 

As the saving proposal 
develops in 

subsequent years 
equality analysis will 

be added. 

  

High Cost Learning 
Disability Care 

Packages 

Reducing costs for 
high-cost learning 
disability support 

packages. 

The proposal impacts those with a 
learning disability accessing support 

packages and their carers. 
 

Potential options include: reducing 
support hours and developing more 

efficient models of care that will lower 
running costs; reducing void costs in 

supported living schemes; 
decommissioning and development of 
some services; moves from high-cost 

residential care and suboptimal supported 
living schemes to alternative services that 
achieve equitable or improved outcomes 

in a more cost-effective way. 
 

Clinical demands and needs change 
constantly, making this a fluid situation. 

 

Any models of care developed for 
individuals will create services with an 

improved model of care/support, 
encourage independence and improve 
welfare. This will include reducing less 

restrictive models of care. 
 

Support packages are considered on a 
case-by-case basis and always tailored to 

meet individual need. 
 

Review of Non-
Assessed 

Community Based 
Services 

Review and options 
development for future 

preventative (non-
assessed) services as 

At this stage of the review process, it is 
not known how many of the services will 

be decommissioned. However, MTFP 
savings will inevitably mean that some 

Careful management, decommissioning 
and partnership working with providers 

should enable savings to be taken at the 

P
age 48



 

 

Saving Description Element of saving 
with equality impact 

Equality impact and analysis Mitigation 

existing contracts 
approach their expiry 

date. Services 
comprise of 
preventative 

accommodation based 
and floating support 

services for individuals 
or families who are not 

eligible, or not yet 
eligible, for adult social 

care. 

services are reduced and therefore 
impacting specific groups who access 
these services, who are likely to have 
protected characteristics, potentially 
disability, including physical/sensory 
disability and/or poor mental health. 

The floating support services which will 
be reduced are predominantly accessed 

by single males between the age of 16-35 
years who are experiencing potential 

homelessness and mental health issues 
and require housing, benefit/financial 

advice and support to access services. 
There will also be an impact to the 

delivery of Gypsy Roma Traveller (GRT) 
floating support services. 

 

level identified, while mitigating the most 
challenging risk impacts. 

Currently a review is underway and any 
recommendations to service delivery will 

have to reflect savings and changes to the 
ways of working. 

Careful management, decommissioning 
and partnership working with providers 

should enable savings to be taken at the 
level identified, while mitigating the most 

challenging risk impacts. 

Evidence base to be used will include: 

 Interim findings from the Non- 
Assessed Accommodation review 

 Current provider performance data 

 DCC service user information 

Hearing Impaired 
Review 

Review of 
commissioned 

services currently in 
place for people who 
are deaf, deafened or 
living with a hearing 

impairment. Currently 
two contracts: 

 Adults who are ‘pre-
lingual deaf’ 

There are impacts in terms of disability 
and age. However, no negative impact is 
expected as part of re-commissioning of 

the two contracts. Redistribution of 
funding will ensure greater equity for 

people with acquired hearing loss. The 
number of referrals into this service has 
increased significantly so this will ensure 

continuity of service for these service 
users. 

 

Whilst the amount of funding has been 
reduced, we expect the impact on service 

users to be minimal with efficiencies 
focused primarily on premises and 

associated utilities and prioritisation of 
projects within the services. In addition, to 

further mitigate the impact of reduced 
funding on service users, we have 

strengthened the need for a community 
based model of IAG support hubs, 

whereby people are supported county wide 

P
age 49



 

 

Saving Description Element of saving 
with equality impact 

Equality impact and analysis Mitigation 

 Adults who have 
‘acquired hearing 
loss’ 

 

In relation to ‘age’ we anticipate that 
greater accessibility to hubs will result in 

an increase in older people receiving 
services. More than 40% of people over 
50 years old have hearing loss, rising to 
more than 70% of people over the age of 

70. 
 

as opposed to a centralised ‘building’. The 
hubs must support accessibility and 

encourage social inclusion. 
The number of people supported is not 
expected to decrease, instead how we 

deliver the services will be more efficient 
with an emphasis on promoting the 

independence of service users. 
 

Extra Care Cleaning None Reduction in annual budget to reflect 
spend, with no disruption to current 

service delivery. 
 

No disproportionate equality impact. 
 

 

Car Mileage 
Reduction 

None Changing working practises as we exit 
the covid pandemic have resulted in a 

reduction in car mileage claims. No 
disproportionate equality impact. 

 

 
Children and Young People 

Saving Description Element of saving 
with equality impact 

Equality impact and analysis Mitigation 

Review of Support 
Services 

As the saving proposal 
develops in 

subsequent years 
equality analysis will 

be added. 

  

P
age 50



 

 

Saving Description Element of saving 
with equality impact 

Equality impact and analysis Mitigation 

Reduced activity 
costs for One Point 

hubs 
 

Reduction of 
expenditure from the 

DCC One Point 
activities budget 

through rationalisation 
of activities with 

families. 

There will be an impact in terms of age, 
parents and carers, children and young 

people 0-19 years and up to 25 years for 
those with Special Educational Needs 
and/or a disability. Negative impact is 
expected to be minimal due to greater 
use of virtual technology and phased 

reductions over three years helping us to 
monitor impact. 

Greater use of virtual technology to 
minimise impact and partnership working 

activity to enhance levels of non DCC 
funded activity. 

Early help, Inclusion 
and Vulnerable 
Children review 

Staffing reduction by 
1FTE 

Phased reduction in posts over 4 years, 
1FTE vacant post reduction for 2023/4 as 

per business case recommendation. 
 

Through the development and 
implementation of Family Hubs and Start 

for life programme there will be an 
opportunity to rationalisation of a number 

of posts within the service due to 
improved integration with partners. 

A greater focus on development and use 
of digital platforms to minimise impact. 

Cross Service 
Accommodation 

As the saving proposal 
develops in 

subsequent years 
equality analysis will 

be added. 

  

Restructure of 
Education Services 

Restructure of 
Education Service, 
including deletion of 

vacant posts 

The restructure was completed in July 
2022 with full staff and union consultation 

resulting in the progression of ER/VR 
requests. All those leaving the service 

were over 55 years of age. 
Changing service delivery and reducing 

staff capacity was necessary to reflect the 
increasing academisation of schools and 
an anticipated reduction in SLA income. 

Restructure complete with HR processes 
followed to ensure fair and transparent 

treatment. 

P
age 51



 

 

Saving Description Element of saving 
with equality impact 

Equality impact and analysis Mitigation 

There is no equality impact to remaining 
service functioning. 

Restructure of Adult 
Learning Service 

As the saving proposal 
develops in 

subsequent years 
equality analysis will 

be added. 

  

Car Mileage 
Reduction 

None Changing working practises as we exit 
the covid pandemic have resulted in a 

reduction in car mileage claims. No 
disproportionate equality impact. 

 

Reduction in Historic 
FE Liabilities 

None No equality impact.  

 
Neighbourhood and Climate Change 

Saving Description Element of saving 
with equality impact 

Equality impact and analysis Mitigation 

Clean and Green 
Efficiency Review 

Review of grounds 
maintenance  staff  

 

There will be an environmental impact in 
reduction of grounds maintenance and 

planting although there is no direct 
equality impact as a result of this. 

 
Staff impact is likely to disproportionately 

impact men. 

ER/VR will be sought where possible. HR 
processes will be followed to ensure fair 

treatment. 
 

Income and 
Efficiencies from 
Destination Parks 

Cease operation of 
miniature cars at 

Wharton Park and 
replace with free 

activity. Review of 
parking and café 

The miniature cars (chargeable) at 
Wharton Park are commercially unviable 

and will be replaced with more free 
children’s play equipment and outdoor 

classes which is positive.  
 

Any increase in charges fron the review 
will be offset by the withdrawl of charges 

for the provision childrens play equipment 
at Wharton Park. 

P
age 52



 

 

Saving Description Element of saving 
with equality impact 

Equality impact and analysis Mitigation 

charges to be 
considered alongside 
Countywide Parking 

Strategy Review. 
 

The review of café and parking charging 
may disproportionately impact working 

age families and carers with young 
children. 

 
There are no staff reductions. 

 

Income Generation in 
Refuse and 
Recycling 

Increase bulky waste 
collection charging 
from £16 to £18. 

Potential impact on disabled and older 
residents due to the fact that they may 
not be able to use alternative means of 
disposing of bulky waste, such as using 
household waste recycling centres (tips), 
and may therefore have no option but to 

pay the cost of receiving this service. 
 
 

Bulky waste collection charges remain 
the lowest within the region. 

 
The service will ensure the increase in 

charging is comprehensively 
communicated. 

 
 

Additional Fixed 
Penalty Notice 

Income 

None No disproportionate equality impact.  

Review of Cemetery 
Fees 

Review of burial fees  Deaths are generally within older age 
groups with interment or cremation 

arrangements falling to their partner or 
wider family, impacting the general public 

as a whole, affecting all groups. 
 

Proposed increased cemetery fees would 
take the charges to around mid-point of 

the regional average. 
 

Durham operates two crematoria with 
prices amongst the lowest in the region 

and options to reduce costs through 
direct cremation or early slots being 

available to customers. 

Revision to  
Allotments 

Removal of two vacant 
posts from the six 

Additional investment built into 2022/23 
budget resulted in a growth in the team 

 P
age 53



 

 

Saving Description Element of saving 
with equality impact 

Equality impact and analysis Mitigation 

Investments built 
into 2022/23 Budget 

Additional posts built 
into 2022/23 Budget  

from 2 to 8 posts. Two posts remain 
vacant and will be deleted in 2023/24. 
These vacant posts have never been 

recruited to therefore no disproportionate 
equality impact. 

 

Review of 
Neighbourhood 

Protection 

Removal of 
management within 
the Neighbourhood 

Protection Team 

Review of staffing will reduce the 
numbers in the neighbourhood protection 

team by 2 posts, this is out of 60 staff 
overall and will impact on management 

and vacant posts only. Minimal impact on 
the general public is expected. 

 

HR processes will be followed to ensure 
fair treatment of any temporary staff 

involved. 

Power Purchase 
Agreements 

None Income stream with no disproportionate 
equality impact. 

 

 

Review of Garden 
Waste Income 

Review of volumes 
and prices 

Potential impact on disabled and older 
residents due to the fact that they may 
not be able to use alternative means of 

disposing of garden waste, such as using 
household waste recycling centres (tips), 
and may therefore have no option but to 

pay the cost of receiving this service. 
 

Garden waste can be placed in the 
general domestic waste bin. Assisted bin 
collections, bin pull outs, are in place for 

disabled residents (with no other 
household assistance). 

 
The council encourages the use of 

composters to dispose of garden waste 
which can be purchased through the 
council at heavily subsidised rates. 

 
The service will ensure the increase in 

charging is comprehensively 
communicated. 

 

P
age 54



 

 

Saving Description Element of saving 
with equality impact 

Equality impact and analysis Mitigation 

Increase in Power 
Generation Income at 

Joint Stocks 

None Income stream with no disproportionate 
equality impact. 

 

Deletion of vacant 
post in Highways 
Estimating Team 

None Deletion of a vacant post with no 
disproportionate equality impact. 

Functions absorbed within existing team 

Restructure of 
Highways Adoption 

Team 

None Changes to funding stream for posts with 
no disproportionate equality impact. 

The restructuring will be funded from the 
supervision fees levied against 

developers for the monitoring of works. 

Capitalise the cost of 
Strategic Highways 

staff working on LTP 

None Changes to funding stream for posts with 
no disproportionate equality impact. 

Capital investment will still be targeted at 
those assets warranting 

repair/maintenance. 

New charging system 
for vehicle crossing 

applications 

None Charging for services with no 
disproportionate equality impact. 

The initial application charge will be taken 
from the overall licence fee meaning no 
impact on residents who apply and have 

a crossing installed. 

Supplies and 
services saving in 

Strategic street 
lighting 

None Supplies and services underspend with 
no disproportionate equality impact. 

Services maintained effectively and 
efficiently within existing budgets. 

Review of 
Community 

Protection & Income 
Generation 

Reduction in 
community protection 

staff. 

Saving will involve a phased reduction of  
staff over 4 years to ease impact, with a 

reduction of 2FTE for 2023/24. 
 

There will be a Countywide impact on 
service delivery affecting the general 

public, visitors and businesses which may 
indirectly impact protected groups. 

 

ER/VR will be sought where possible. HR 
processes will be followed to ensure fair 

treatment. 
 
 

Review of structure 
in Partnerships Team 

Restructure exercise 
with a reduction of  

Reduction in capacity to support 
partnerships including the voluntary and 

HR processes will be followed to ensure 
fair treatment. 

P
age 55



 

 

Saving Description Element of saving 
with equality impact 

Equality impact and analysis Mitigation 

1 FTE staff member. 
 

community sector with potential impacts 
for protected groups supported by this 

sector. 
 

The roles of the remaining team members 
will be reviewed to ensure the impact on 
partnerships including the voluntary and 

community sector are minimised.   
 

Review of AAPs Independent review of 
AAPs including 

potential grant funding 
and staff reductions 

 

The review of AAPs is expected to 
conclude in December 2022. 

 
It is anticipated that the savings will 

mainly be made up of reductions in AAP 
grant funds (which benefit initiatives 
across protected groups), and any 

potential staffing reductions would be 
managed through vacancies/ERVR. 

Based on recent practice with AAPs, it is 
envisaged that any reduction in their core 

grant funds would be supplemented by 
their securing alternative, often externally 

funded, programmes to manage that 
would minimise the impact of the 

reduction on the VCS. 
 

HR processes will be followed to ensure 
fair treatment. 

Restructure within 
Civil Contingencies 

Unit (CCU) and 
Corporate Policy 

Review of 
management 
arrangements 

Management responsibilities will be 
reviewed with no disproportionate 

equality impact as a result of this saving. 

HR processes will be followed to ensure 
fair treatment. 

P
age 56



 

 

Saving Description Element of saving 
with equality impact 

Equality impact and analysis Mitigation 

Car mileage 
reduction 

None Changing working practises as we exit 
the covid pandemic have resulted in a 

reduction in car mileage claims. No 
disproportionate equality impact. 

 

 

 
 
Regeneration Economy and Growth 

Saving Description Element of saving 
with equality impact 

Equality impact and analysis Mitigation 

Strategic Car Park 
Review 

As the saving proposal 
develops in 

subsequent years 
equality analysis will 

be added. 

  

Moving vehicle/Bus 
Lane enforcement 

income 

None No disproportionate equality impact.  

Park and Ride 
Discount Rate 

Removal of discount 
rate of £1.70 per day 
for regular users who 

pay on the bus using a 
POP (Pay as you Go) 

Card and 
reconfiguration of the 

on-bus ticket machines 
to accept contactless 

debit/credit card 
payment. 

Removal of the discount POP card user 
rate will negatively impact the most 

regular users who access this discount 
rate (4.5% of all transactions), and will 

most likely be of working age, although it 
will create price equity for all users. 

 
Proposed improvements in flexibility in 

payment methods for all customers 
through reconfiguration of on-bus ticket 

machines to accept contactless 
debit/credit card payment will benefit all 

Communication strategies will be key in 
the promotion of more flexible payment 

methods for majority of users. 

P
age 57



 

 

Saving Description Element of saving 
with equality impact 

Equality impact and analysis Mitigation 

customers, in particular some people with 
disabilities who may find using 

contactless on-bus payments more 
accessible. 

 

Reduction in 
Concessionary Fares 

None One off saving due to reduced ridership 
of concessionary passengers. No equality 

impact. 
 

 

Increased surplus 
rental income on 

commercial 
properties 

None No equality impact.  

Theatre ticketing – 
introduce dynamic 

pricing 

As the saving proposal 
develops in 

subsequent years 
equality analysis will 

be added. 

  

Theatre Marketing – 
contract out 

None No equality impact.  

End daytime café 
offer at Empire 

Theatre 

None Underuse of daytime café at the Empire 
Theatre. There are a number of more 

established independent cafes nearby for 
use. The café offer will however remain 

available when the theatre/cinema is 
open. There is no impact on staff and no 

further equality impact. 
 

 

Library 
Transformation – 
Sevenhills lease 

None No equality impact as saving refers to 
lease agreements only. 

 

P
age 58



 

 

Saving Description Element of saving 
with equality impact 

Equality impact and analysis Mitigation 

Library 
Transformation – 
Clayport Library 

remodel 

As the saving proposal 
develops in 

subsequent years 
equality analysis will 

be added. 

  

Planning Income 
volumes 

None Planning and building control fees with no 
equality impact. 

 

 

Review Housing 
Team Solutions 

None Deletion of vacant post with no equality 
impact. 

 

 

International Team 
Restructure 

Reduced staffing by 
one post within the 

International Team and 
amalgamate 

operations within the 
existing Employability 

team. 

Reduced capacity of the international 
team from will adversely impact 

opportunities for young people to 
participate in international / intercultural 

events. Although reduced in team 
capacity, an international service offer will 

remain available after a merger of 
remaining staff with the employability 

team. 
 

The proposal is felt to both reflect the 
reducing demand for the service, post 

Brexit and pandemic which has reduced 
the level of school travelling, while still 

retaining sufficient capacity to provide an 
effective service offer going forward. 

 
HR processes will be followed to ensure 

fair treatment of staff involved. 

Service review 
Catering, Cleaning 

and facilities 
management 

As the saving proposal 
develops in 

subsequent years 
equality analysis will 

be added. 

  

 
 

 P
age 59



 

 

Resources 

Saving Description Element of saving 
with equality impact 

Equality impact and analysis Mitigation 

Policy and 
Performance 

employee review 

Staff Reduction within 
the strategy team. 

Removal of posts in the Strategy Team, 
facilitated through the Data Insight & 
Business Intelligence Programme. 

 
The saving is expected to be made 

through progression of ER/VR and there 
is no disproportionate equality impact. 

 

HR processes will be followed to ensure 
fair treatment of staff involved. 

 
Data Insight & Business Intelligence 

improvements will ensure service 
continuity and minimize impact on wider 

team. 

HR Employee review 
and training budgets 

As the saving proposal 
develops in 

subsequent years 
equality analysis will 

be added. 

  

Procurement income 
generation and 

employee reductions 

Reduction of 1FTE 
procurement manager. 

Reduction of one procurement manager 
with realignment of responsibilities. 

Projected further income generation to 
contribute to saving. 

 
The saving is expected to be made 

through progression of ER/VR and there 
is no disproportionate equality impact. 

HR processes will be followed to ensure 
fair treatment of staff involved. 

 
Realignment of responsibilities with 

remaining managers/staff will ensure 
service continuity. 

Business support 
employee review 

Service review and 
restructure of 

business services. 
 

Proposed staffing reductions over a 4-
year period. Initial phase 2023/24 will 
involve a review of the management 
positions across the service with any 
impact to be managed by progressing 
ER/VR and deletion of vacant posts, 

where possible, but some compulsory 
redundancies may be required 

HR processes will be followed to ensure 
fair treatment of staff involved. 

 
A full equality impact assessment will be 

undertaken. 
Ongoing business improvement and 

digitisation to mitigate impact. 

P
age 60



 

 

Saving Description Element of saving 
with equality impact 

Equality impact and analysis Mitigation 

 
The level of staff reductions will result 
in reduced/removed service in some 
areas which requires further study to 

understand impact on equality. 
 

Internal Audit Income 
generation and 

employee review 

Deletion of two audit 
manager posts with 

realignment of 
responsibilities and 
creation of deputy 
chief auditor post. 

Proposed staffing reductions/realignment 
within Internal Audit are in response to 

service change and the increasing need 
for a strategic approach. 

 
Negative equality impact is not expected 

as this can be managed with ER/VR 
requests. 

 

HR processes will be followed to ensure 
fair treatment of staff involved. 

 
The proposal will ensure that the level of 

service is maintained with greater support 
to the Chief Internal Auditor and 

Corporate Fraud Manager. 

Corporate Finance 
employee review 

Deletion of senior 
manager vacant post 

with expected 
retirement of another 

post. 
 

This proposal involves deletion of a 
senior management vacancy and 

although this will impact staff workload in 
picking up additional responsibilities, no 

disproportionate impact in terms of 
equality is expected. 

 

HR processes will be followed to ensure 
fair treatment of staff involved. 

 

Corporate Finance 
non employee 

budgets 

None Reduction in non-employee expenditure 
budgets with no equality impact. 

 

Legal Services 
staffing 

Staff reductions For 2023/24 saving involves a voluntary 
reduction in staff hours with no equality 

impact. As the saving proposal develops 
in subsequent years equality analysis will 

be added to. 
 

 

P
age 61



 

 

Saving Description Element of saving 
with equality impact 

Equality impact and analysis Mitigation 

Legal and Dem 
Services non 

employee budgets 

None Reduction in non-employee expenditure 
budgets with no equality impact. 

 

Digital Services 
employee review 

As the saving proposal 
develops in 

subsequent years 
equality analysis will 

be added. 

  

Digital Services 
supplies and 

services 

None Reduction in supplies with no equality 
impact. 

 

Finance and 
Transactional 

Charging 

As the saving proposal 
develops and 
appropriate 

consultatioins are 
undertaken, the 

equality analysis will 
be added. 

The service will be looking at current 
charging for services provided where the 
Council provides additional support within 

the Deputy and Appointee Team 

The proposal will be subject to 
consultation and this will lead to 

Analysis of service user data to identify 
impact and any necessary mitigation. 

 

Finance and 
Transactional 
Charging non 

employee budgets 

None Reduction in non-employee expenditure 
budgets with no equality impact. 

 

Review of Customer 
Services 

Demand led review of 
the service offer within 

Customer Services  
 

As the saving proposal 
develops in 

subsequent years 
equality analysis will 

be added. 

 
A consultation will be carried out with 

users of the service to understand 
preferences and demand in terms of 

contact, so that resources can be directed 
where they are needed the most. The 
outcomes from the consultation will 

The review aims to better understand 
customer need and will ensure the 

customer service offer meets demand.  
The proposal is still under development 

and will be subject to consultation. 
 

HR processes will be followed to ensure 
fair treatment of staff. 

P
age 62



 

 

Saving Description Element of saving 
with equality impact 

Equality impact and analysis Mitigation 

 inform proposals for making changes to 
the service offer to make savings.  

Review of the 
structure within 

Finance and 
Transactional 

Services 

As the saving proposal 
develops in 

subsequent years 
equality analysis will 

be added. 

  

Digital Services 
Application and 

hosting 

None Reduction in goods and services with no 
equality impact. 

 

 
Corporate – No equality impact for any corporate savings 

 
 

P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

  

Cabinet 

12 October 2022 

Concessionary Fares (ENCTS) Budget 
 
Key Decision No. REG/09/22 
 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Amy Harhoff, Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and 
Growth 

Councillor Elizabeth Scott, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economy 
and Partnerships 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 
 
1 Currently a number of bus services across County Durham are not 

commercially viable.  This reflects a number of compounding issues 
including the forthcoming ending of Government support, increased 
operational costs and continued reduced passenger numbers as a 
result of the Covid pandemic. 
 

2 In March, Cabinet approved redirecting funding from the English 
National Concessionary Travel Scheme (ENCTS) budget to assist DCC 
in funding additional local bus service contracts during 2022/23.  
Reflecting the continued trends in bus usage, this report sets out the 
proposal to redirect funding during 2023/24 to sustain public transport 
services subject to annual review. 

 
Executive Summary 
 
3 In March 2022, Cabinet was advised of the uncertainty of the continued 

Government support which had previously been offered through the 
pandemic support packages, which had sustained bus services during 
the reduced passenger numbers which were drastically reduced during 
the pandemic. 
 

4 At that time, Cabinet agreed additional support for financial year 
2022/2023 for bus services in County Durham, this additional supported 

Page 65

Agenda Item 5



was delivered by redirecting funding from the ENCTS budget, which at 
that time was forecast to be under claimed by £1.934 million due to the 
reduction in passengers travelling. 

5 At that time, it was envisaged that with an increasing return to more 
normal life, bus patronage would continue the recover closer to pre-
pandemic levels.  The current position however is that passenger 
numbers remain subdued and temporary Government financial support 
for the industry is set to end in October 2022.  This report is therefore 
being presented in order to ensure bus services can be secured for 
2023/24. 

 
6 Against this backdrop, bus companies across our region are responding 

to the new patronage and financial position that they face.  As a result, 
without intervention by the County Council, we currently expect cuts to 
bus services across the county of approaching 20% compared to the 
pre-pandemic network, which would impact directly on people accessing 
employment, education, and other essential services. 

 
7 The commercial cuts that have emerged to date have varied 

significantly across the County subject to patronage on different routes.  
Some places have seen a reduction in frequencies, others a loss of 
evening services, and a minority have seen entire services ceasing to 
be proved commercially.  By contrast some communities have so far 
seen no change at all. 

 
8 However, to mitigate the impacts, action has been taken by the County 

Council to support replacements for key services and parts of services, 
using the savings within the ENCTS budget in 2022/23.  

9 In reflecting the commercial context for the operation of bus services 
and the benefits of public transport to our communities, it is now 
necessary to determine medium term arrangements into 2023/2024. 
 

Recommendations 
 
10 Cabinet is recommended to agree: 

 
(a) the forecast savings from the ENCTS budget to be redirected 

during 2023/24 to support bus services across the county, and 
subsequently reviewed annually; 
 

(b) the County Council to transfer to the local bus services the 
revenue support to procure the previously commercial services, 
wherever resources allow; 

Page 66



(c) delegate authority to the Corporate Director of Regeneration, 
Economy and Growth, in consultation with the Cabinet Portfolio 
Holder for Economy and Partnerships to finalise the service 
proposals. 

 
  

Page 67



Background 
 
10 Prior to the pandemic a comprehensive network of bus services 

operated across almost all the county, although frequencies and 
coverage were reduced during later evenings and on Sundays, 
reflecting lower demands for travel.  Services operating without subsidy 
from Durham County Council (“commercial services”) provided a high 
proportion of the network in most of County Durham and reflecting a 
highly rural geography. 
 

11 Most of the main towns of County Durham had at least two operators 
providing locally significant services without subsidy.  Go North East 
(53%) and Arriva (42%) provide the majority of the services across the 
county., with three other bus operators delivering locally significant bus 
services without subsidy. 
 

12 Additionally, the County Council directly supported a significant element 
of non-commercial public transport across the County reflecting the 
balance of the importance of accessibility for a rural area.  In 2019/20, 
the budget to procure bus services was £4.6 million with a net cost of  
£2.7 million (once fare income was taken into consideration).  services 
were a blend of entire tendered routes and extensions of commercial 
services into non-commercial time periods for example late evenings. 

 
13 Since March 2020, the start of the pandemic, bus services have been 

protected by special Government funding direct to operators.  As part of 
this scheme local authorities have been maintaining reimbursement for 
ENCTS journeys without adjustment for reduced volumes.  Local 
authorities have also received grant funding to assist with maintaining 
non-commercial public transport services. 

 
14 In March 2022, Cabinet was advised of the uncertainty of Government 

support and the reduced number of passenger numbers as a result of 
the Covid pandemic.  At that time Cabinet agreed short term support to 
bus services in County Durham by redirecting funding from the ENCTS 
budget which at that time was forecast to underspend by £1.934 million 
during 2022/23. 

 
15 At that time, it was envisaged that with an increasing return to more 

normal life, bus patronage would continue the recovery closer to pre-
pandemic levels.  The current position however is that passenger 
numbers remain subdued and temporary Government financial support 
for the industry is set to be withdrawn. 
 

16 Since that time the Government has confirmed that the financial support 
provided to the industry will come to an end in October 2022, 

Page 68



subsequently extended for a minimum of at least three months but has 
made clear this will be the final pandemic related support package the 
Government will provide to the sector.  The DfT expects local authorities 
and bus operators to work together to achieve a sustainable future 
network, reflecting the pressures in the commercial environment and the 
availability of additional funding, including ENCTS budget underspend, 
that authorities can provide to sustain services. 

 
17 Prior to the outbreak of Covid, after many years of slow decline, bus 

passenger numbers had started to increase in the region.  However, as 
a result of the impact of the pandemic, bus passenger numbers are 
currently between 80 - 90% of pre-pandemic levels.  The level of 
ridership by ENCTS passengers has been materially depressed 
currently reduced to around 65-75% of pre-pandemic levels.  Industry 
forecasts, from organisations such as Transport Focus, predict the bus 
ridership will not recover to pre-pandemic levels for several years. 

 
18 In addition to reduced overall demand for services, pressures in the 

labour market have created challenges with shortages of drivers 
causing journeys to fail to operate and at times emergency timetable 
changes have been necessary to stabilise the operation.  While 
workforce pressures continue at present, ongoing recruitment and some 
reduction in the scale of the network is expected to restore normal 
reliability performance. 
 

19 Bus operators are also facing significant cost pressures, with large 
increases in fuel prices likely to endure and many other costs increasing 
at above the level of general inflation. Recruitment and retention issues 
mean that it seems likely wage costs will rise to at least take account of 
inflation in the economy.  The cost pressures naturally impact on the 
cost of subsidised service contracts. 
 

20 These three significant issues which are now coming together to be 
considered are: 

 
(a) the end of Government pandemic related financial support for the 

sector; 

(b) passenger numbers are not recovering to pre pandemic levels 
and are not forecast to do some for some time; 

(c) increased costs for bus operators. 
 

Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) 
 
21 In October 2021 the North East Joint Transport Committee (JTC) 

produced a Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP), in line with the 

Page 69



requirements of the Government’s National Bus Strategy.  The BSIP 
had significant input from the County Council and genuinely reflected 
the bus service needs of people in our County. 

 
22 The BSIP set out improvements in a wide range of areas including 

network coverage, frequencies and fares.  Many improvements were 
contingent on new funding being made available by Government as part 
of the initial announcement of £3bn national fund for bus improvements. 

 
23 Government has now confirmed indicative funding for the North East 

BSIP of £163.5 million compared to £803.9 million. 

24 It is expected this funding will deliver: 

• a package of fares offers; 

• enhancements to regional bus network; 

• regionwide central website and app for transport information, 
ticket sales and journey planning, 

• additional transport staff at major interchanges; 

• improved multi-modal information provision at interchanges; 

• opportunities to have a community bus champions within the local 
areas; 

• measures to improve bus journey time and reliability 

25 Initial informal indications from the Government were that any BSIP 
funding is to be spent on new and improved services, rather than 
providing support for existing services.  However, it now appears 
possible that some of the funding might be able to be used to address 
pressures emerging as operators reduce the networks they can 
maintain without funding, but formal confirmation of the same is still 
awaited. 
 

26 Whatever Government decision on use of BSIP funding, there will be a 
difficult balance to achieve between maintaining existing services and 
providing meaningful bus service improvements that Government and 
local residents will expect from the BSIP funding.  It should also be 
noted that the BSIP funding period is to March 2025 unless Government 
determines that it can be applied over a longer time period. 

 
  

Page 70



English National Concessionary Travel Scheme 
 
27 In normal times funding for ENCTS is provided by central government 

via local authorities such as Durham County Council which then have a 
duty to provide appropriate reimbursement to operators.  This funding is 
given to offset fare revenue lost by bus operators due to the concession 
they are obliged to provide. 

 
28 Throughout the pandemic, as the amount of funding from Government 

has remained unchanged, local authorities have been reimbursing bus 
operators for ENCTS travel at broadly pre-pandemic levels; this has 
been assumed by Government as part of their pandemic financial 
support arrangements to the sector. 

 
29 The level of ridership by ENCTS passengers has been materially 

depressed currently reduced to around 65-75% of pre-pandemic levels.  
Although it is likely to recover, it is thought that it may remain at 
somewhat lower levels than other passengers due to more material 
behaviour changes including a large increase in on-line shopping by 
older people. 

 
30 Recently issued Department for Transport guidance advises authorities 

to transition ENCTS payments towards actual patronage levels rather 
than the pre-Covid enhancements. 

 
31 However, it should be noted that correspondence dated 19 August 2022 

DfT stated: 
 
We know that in some areas patronage levels for concessionary 
passengers remains lower than for fare-paying passengers.  If 
concessionary patronage does not increase, and the funding spent on 
local bus services declines, we have to be clear that Local Authorities 
should expect funding from the Revenue Support Grant to decrease in 
future Spending Reviews to reflect this position.  We would therefore 
further encourage Local Authorities, working closely with bus operators, 
to work proactively to get concessionary passengers back on board.  I 
will also be writing to bus operators to set out the role the Government 
expects them to play. 

32 In County Durham we could potentially retain up to £2 million of funding 
next financial year which could be used to offset many of the services 
which would be withdrawn by bus operators as not being commerciality 
viable.  Cost modelling is currently being undertaken both in terms of a 
reduction in ENCTS payments and likely contract costs.  This budget 
sits outside of the current REG cash limit. 

Page 71



 
Funding 

 
33 Funding and subsidising public transport services in order to support 

connectivity for business and communities in areas that are not 
commercially viable requires careful consideration.  Local authorities 
and passenger transport executives, alongside Government can play a 
vital role to support services that would otherwise not be viably provided 
by a bus operator as a business, but it must be clear that bus operations 
are a private sector business and local authority resources are 
constrained.  
 

34 It is prudent alongside the support offered to give further consideration 
in determining the local strategy to supporting services in the short, 
medium and long term with a view to supporting the most effective 
public transport options for our communities with the resources 
available. 
 

35 Throughout the pandemic the local transport authorities, including the 
County Council, have received grant funding to assist with maintaining 
non-commercial public transport services during the pandemic. 
 

36 Whilst the Council and local bus operators do work closely to deliver 
better outcomes for bus passengers and the Council does receive 
advance notice of commercial services that operators believe are no 
longer financially viable, it is not possible for either operators or the 
Council to accurately forecast services to be withdrawn over a number 
of years as the financial viability of services is dependent upon a 
number of differing factors. 

 
37 Additionally, it is difficult to forecast future costs given uncertainties 

around future contract prices and fares income the Council can retain to 
offset costs.  However, it is estimated that the net cost for support will 
be £2 million (once fare income is taken into consideration) over the 
forthcoming 12 month period.  Redirecting funding from the ENCTS 
budget as approved by Cabinet and utilising already awarded 
Government pandemic related bus funding will meet this cost for 
2022/23.  From April 2023 the Council has the following options: 

 
(a) cease financial support for the services, which would cease to 

operate with effect 30 October 2022; 
 

(b) utilising some BSIP funding will continue financial support until 
March 2025 and then cease financial support for the services; 

 

Page 72



(c) utilising some BSIP funding will continue financial support until 
March 2025 and then allow £2 million forecast savings from the 
ENCTS budget to allow the County Council to transfer to the local 
bus service revenue support budget on a permanent basis; 

 
(d) allow £2 million forecast savings from the ENCTS budget to allow 

the County Council to transfer to the local bus service revenue 
support budget and be reviewed on an annual basis. 

38 Option (d) allows financial support to be provided to local bus services 
that would otherwise not be viably provided by a bus operator as a 
business, ensuring local residents can access key services, work and 
education but reviews this position on an annual basis to ensure the 
wider economic position of the council can also be considered. 

Background papers 

None 

Other useful documents 

North East Bus Service Improvement Plan - Transport North East 

CMT report 16 March 2022 

Author(s) 

Cathy Knight Tel:  03000 268512  

Page 73



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

None. 

Finance 

As set out in the report. 

Consultation 

No consultation required however information will be provided to the bus 
board. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Failure to act is likely to have a disproportionate effect on the elderly and 
people with limited mobility who rely on public transport. 

Climate Change 

Failure to act is likely to increase the number of people travelling by private 
car. 

Human Rights 

No impact. 

Crime and Disorder 

No impact. 

Staffing 

No impact. 

Accommodation 

No impact. 

Risk 

Failure to act is likely to have a negative impact of people’s ability to access 
employment, education and health. 

Procurement 

Additional services will follow well established procurement methodologies. 

Page 74



 

  

Cabinet 

 12 October 2022 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 

2022 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Jane Robinson, Corporate Director of Adult & Health Services 

Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Adult & Health Services 

Councillor Chris Hood, Portfolio holder for Adult & Health Services 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is for the Cabinet to receive the 2022 Annual 
Report of the Director of Public Health for County Durham (Appendix 2). 

Executive summary 

2 One of the statutory requirements of Directors of Public Health under 
the Health & Social Care Act 2012 is to produce an annual report about 
the health of the local population. In addition, the local authority has a 
duty to publish the report.   

3 The government has not specified what the annual report should 
contain and has made it clear that this is a decision for individual 
Directors of Public Health to determine. 

4 The County Durham Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022 
focuses on the following: 

• Foreword by the Director of Public Health. 

• Health and wellbeing across County Durham. 

• Living with COVID-19. 

• Making smoking history. 

• Priorities (covering Healthier, Fairer, and Protected). 

• Update on recommendations from 2021.  

• Conclusion. 
 

Page 75

Agenda Item 6



Recommendation(s) 

4 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) Receive the Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022. 

(b) Agree to publish the annual report. 

 

  

Page 76



Background 

5 Section 73B(5) of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 amended the 
National Health Service Act 2006 to include the requirement that the 
Director of Public Health (DPH) for a local authority must prepare an 
annual report on the health of the people and that the local authority 
should publish the report.  

6 The government has not specified what the annual report should 
contain and has made it clear that this is a decision for individual 
Directors of Public Health to determine. 

7 In 2018 the Director of Public Health for County Durham set out a new 
vision for the public’s health in County Durham against seven strategic 
priorities. The following four annual reports (2018-2021) provided an in-
depth focus on specific actions against each priority. 

8 Over the last year the County Durham Public Health Strategic Plan has 
been reviewed and reshaped to align to three themed areas of work. 
These are:  

• Healthier: Having and promoting a healthier population (both 
physical health and mental wellbeing).  For example,  

o Improve mental health and emotional wellbeing  

o Improve levels of physical activity and healthy weight  

• Fairer: Improving health across the whole life course, access to 
good quality health services and those wider services that also 
have an impact on population health while reducing population 
health inequalities and inequities.  For example, 

o Work with partners to help reduce poverty and the impact 
of poverty and the cost of living crisis 

o Work with partners to contribute to inclusive economic 
growth 

• Protected: Protecting the health of our communities against 
communicable disease, domestic abuse, tobacco, drugs and 
alcohol that cause severe harm and plan for future emergencies.  
For example, 

o Reduce the harm caused through alcohol and drugs within 
our local communities 

o Respond to seasonal risks to health and ensure County 
Durham’s preparedness for winter 

Page 77



9 The Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022 provides an update 
on the Healthier, Fairer, and Protected themes of the Public Health 
Strategic Plan for 2021-2024. 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022 

10 As part of the foreword to this year’s annual report the Director of Public 
Health introduces the concept of ‘building blocks’ of good health.  

11 These building blocks of good health, (how much money we have, the 
quality of the house we live in, the natural environment surrounding us, 
our access to transport, education and work) all impacts on our chances 
of living a long and healthy life.  It recognises that the impact of social 
and environmental conditions in which people are born, grow up and 
live with, do not give everyone an equal chance of living long and 
healthy lives.  Many of these have been adversely affected by covid-19 
and even greater attention and working as partners with our 
communities will be required to address the inequalities both within 
County Durham and between County Durham and the rest of England.  

12 Future annual reports will ensure these building blocks for good health 
remain at the heart of public health action. 

13 The Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022 provides an overview 
of the health and wellbeing of County Durham’s population and 
examples of how the approach to wellbeing is being implemented. 

14 The report provides an update on our COVID-19 response and the 
transition to living with COVID-19 This impact cannot be underestimated 
and also comes at a time when the cost of living is increasing for our 
residents too.  

15 This year’s report includes an in-depth focus on the progress to make 
smoking history in County Durham. Smoking remains the single largest 
cause of preventable deaths and one of the largest causes of health 
inequalities and remains a key priority for the health of our local 
residents. 

16 The report provides an update on the Healthier, Fairer, and Protected 
themes of the Public Health Strategic Plan for 2021-2024 and 
concludes with a section on previous recommendations and a 
conclusion.  

Main implications 

Legal 

Page 78



17 It is a statutory responsibility for the Director of Public Health in a local 
authority area to prepare an annual report on the health of the local 
population. 

Conclusion 

18 The conclusion re-iterates the fact that the public health team and the 
work of the team can only progress by working with others. 

Background papers 

• Previous DPH annual reports 

https://www.durhaminsight.info/director-of-public-health-reports/  

Other useful documents 

• None 

 

Author(s) 

Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health Amanda.healy@durham.gov.uk  

  

Page 79

https://www.durhaminsight.info/director-of-public-health-reports/
mailto:Amanda.healy@durham.gov.uk


Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Section 73B(5) of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 amended the National 
Health Service Act 2006 to include the requirement that the Director of Public 
Health for a local authority must prepare an annual report on the health of the 
people in the area of the local authority. 

Finance 

The publication of the report is funded by the ring-fenced public health grant.  

Consultation 

This is the independent report of the Director of Public Health (DPH) and is 
not subject to formal consultation. However, Public Health do engage and 
consult with partners in the development of the DPH Annual Report. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Actions from this report are targeted to reduce the health inequalities. 

Climate Change 

No impact. 

Human Rights 

No impact. 

Crime and Disorder 

No impact. 

Staffing 

Staff time to produce the 2022 annual report. 

Accommodation 

No impact. 

Risk 

No impact. 

Procurement 

No impact but should inform council commissioning plans in relation to 

services that impact on the health of the population. 

Page 80



Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022

Building Healthier, Fairer 
and Protected Lives

Protected
lives

Healthier
lives

Building blocks for good health

Fairer 
lives

Page 81



 

Acknowledgements
Many thanks to 

Michelle Baldwin – Public Health Strategic Manager

Julia Bates – Consultant in Public Health

Katie Bewick – Public Health Advanced Practitioner

Sean Barry – Public Health Advanced Practitioner

Julie Bradbrook – Partnerships Team Manager

Katie Dunstan-Smith – Public Health Intelligence Specialist

Joy Evans – Public Health Strategic Manager

Michael Fleming – Strategic Manager, Research and Intelligence

Diane Foster – Public Health Practitioner

Thelma Lambert – Regional Support Officer

Lisa Lynch – Public Health Programme Manager

Michelle Marley – Public Health Advanced Practitioner

Bryn Morris-Hale – Public Health Intelligence Specialist

Hannah Murray-Leslie - Wellbeing Approach Implementation Officer

Helen Riddell – Public Health Advanced Practitioner

Catherine Scott – Public Health Advanced Practitioner

Jane Sunter – Public Health Strategic Manager

Rebecca Turner – Business Partner, Communications and Marketing

Marie Urwin – Public Health Practitioner

Kirsty Wilkinson – Public Health Strategic Manager

Lucy Wilkins – Public Health Practitioner

Glen Wilson – Consultant in Public Health

Partner organisations and everyone who contributed to a case study

Corporate Design Team, Durham County Council

3 2

Contents
 

 Page

Foreword ................................................................................................................. 4

Health and wellbeing across County Durham  ....................................................... 6

Living with COVID-19  ........................................................................................... 14

Making smoking history  ....................................................................................... 18

Priorities  ............................................................................................................... 24

Update on recommendations from 2021  ............................................................. 28

Conclusion  ........................................................................................................... 30

 

P
age 82



4  

Foreword

Welcome to my Annual Report for 2022, my fifth report as Director of  Public Health for 
County Durham. It is my role as Director of  Public Health to promote and protect the 
health and wellbeing of  people in County Durham, with this at the forefront of  public health 
practice and the wider systems we lead and support on. 

2022 has been a year of  transition as we began to move from responding to COVID-19 to 
living with COVID-19 as safely as possible, take stock of  the impact of  the pandemic and  
re-focus the public health priorities. These are all covered in the report with examples of  
how our local residents and staff  across all agencies have carried out this transition.

My annual report this year, as always, provides insight to the health and wellbeing of  our 
residents and reflects the work we are doing to support people in living longer, healthier 
lives. This includes a focus on tobacco and the need to focus our efforts on making smoking 
history in County Durham. 

We are living longer than ever before however this is not the same for everyone. The social 
and environmental conditions in which we are born, grow up and live with do not give us all 
an equal chance. How much money we have, the quality of  the house we live in, the natural 
environment surrounding us, our access to transport, education and work all impact on our 
chances of  living a long and healthy life. These are the ‘building blocks’ of  good health.

Data, intelligence, and the reported lived experiences of  our County Durham residents have 
highlighted the stark differences in health between some of  our communities across the 
county, many of  which existed even before the pandemic. We use the term ‘inequalities’ to 
talk about these differences. Some inequalities have worsened since the pandemic and, in 
this report, we also begin to highlight the wider impact the pandemic has had on widening 
inequalities. For example, in County Durham, children and young people may have been 
less likely than adults to contract the COVID-19 infection but have lost around 30% of  school 
sessions. During the pandemic, the numbers of  those children eligible for free school meals 
increased by 5.4%. Due to inequalities like these and others, we know it will be harder for 
some children to catch up. 

In some parts of  County Durham, these inequalities also mean that some people are dying 
much earlier than they should, from things that could be prevented. Even in those shortened 
lives, people are spending more time living with illness and disability which affect their 
quality of  lives. This is unfair and unjust. In refocussing on the building blocks for good 
health we can seek to address these inequalities.

People want to live for as long as they can, with the best quality of  life that they can. Good 
health is a foundation for living long and independent lives. In aiming to protect people’s 
health and wellbeing so they can live for as long as they can, support people to be healthier 
so they can live their years in the best health possible and work to make systems fairer so 
everyone, no matter who they are or where they live, has an equal chance of  living a long 
and healthy life. 

Amanda Healy
Director of  Public Health

Amanda Healy 

By working together to increase opportunity and choice for people, we can improve health, 
reduce inequalities and ensure no-one is left behind. Reducing inequalities is not easy and 
it requires sustained focus and a fundamental rethink on how we allocate our resources, 
funding, workforce and services. It needs the building blocks for good health. 

No work to improve public health can be achieved without working with others, our partners 
and most importantly our local communities. My role as Director of  Public Health is about 
working on behalf  of  local communities and the elected members who represent those 
communities. The report has many examples of  the work that is being carried out to make 
lives healthier, fairer and protected and I hope you find the report informative and a reminder 
of  how health and wellbeing underpins everyone’s life.

Protected
lives

Fairer 
lives

Healthier
lives

Supporting us to be 
mentally healthier

A fairer approach to 
supporting mental 

wellbeing in schools

Helping protect people 
from domestic abuse

 5

P
age 83



76 Health and wellbeing across County Durham Health and wellbeing across County Durham 

Health and wellbeing across County Durham 

Children and young people have been less affected than other age groups by coronavirus infection 
itself, but have been disproportionately impacted by the social, educational and economic impacts of 
the pandemic

of sessions lost due to COVID-19
(Autumn 20/Spring 21) 

30%
With significant disruption to schools

20%
in demand projected 
for CYP Mental 
Health services over 
the next 5 years 

Older people are more likely to experience severe COVID-19 infection, hospitalisation and mortality 

8 in 10
people classified as Clinically Extremely Vulnerable were aged 65+

91% of all COVID-19 
related deaths in 
County Durham aged 
65+

5.4%
during the pandemic

The proportion of children in County Durham 
eligible for free school meals has increased 

COVID-19 vaccination 
coverage >80% for those 
aged 50+ for first 3 doses 

The impact of COVID-19 on our population 
The COVID-19 pandemic has undoubtedly had, and continues to have, a profound impact 
on the health and wellbeing of  residents of  County Durham. This year has, however, seen us 
move to the next phase of  the pandemic to ‘Living Safely with COVID-19’. Over the last year 
and beyond, the detailed direct and indirect effects of  the pandemic on the situation for 
our communities in County Durham have continually been examined and developed into a 
comprehensive knowledge base.

Developing insight and intelligence for County Durham 
Public Health projects and interventions are evidence-led. This means we use health data, 
health intelligence and wider partner data to inform and underpin our understanding of  
our local communities to help us plan and work with communities to improve health. This 
data and information is collated into a series of  Joint Strategic Needs Assessments (JSNA). 
Where we can, we share this information publicly through Durham Insight  
(https://www.durhaminsight.info/covid-19/) and it includes;

• the current and future health and wellbeing needs of  local people

• the inequalities in our communities

• what is strong and good in our communities

Partners and communities also used this information to help strategic planning across the 
council and partnerships which helps informs the development and improvement of  local 
services.

We have refreshed our JSNA work programme in 2022 and the Durham Insight website 
continues to be developed and improved. In the coming year, we will be looking specifically 
at publishing assessments and recommendations on Healthy Ageing and Veterans Health 
and Wellbeing.

Where we live:

• 14,565 businesses

• 12 green flags for 
parks and open 
spaces

• 2 in 5 residents living 
in rural areas

• 12 miles of  coastline

• 150 miles or former 
railway path

• Durham world 
heritage site

Our Services:

• 223 early years and 
primary schools, 31 
secondary schools,  
4 colleges

• 9 enhanced 
mainstream schools 
and 11 special schools

• 1 university

• 15 council owned 
leisure centres

• 63 GP practices

• 124 pharmacies

Our Communities 
supporting each other:

• 411 sports clubs 
accessing support

• 59 active community 
champions

• Almost 2,000 
expressions of  interest 
to host Ukrainian 
refugees

• Around 115 active 
volunteer leaders in 
walking, running and 
cycling

• 600 people attending 
sessions ran by the 
Cree* network last year

• Over 3,000 VCS* 
organisations*A Cree is County Durham’s version of  Australia’s Men’s Shed. Crees aim to 

engage with those at risk of  suicide by tackling social isolation and self-harm 
through skill-sharing and informal learning to promote social interaction. 
Although Crees were originally aimed at men, some have developed for women 
and young people.

* VCS voluntary and community sector organisation.

Where we live, our services and our communities
There are many challenges to health and wellbeing especially as we move towards living 
with COVID-19. County Durham has many assets that can support and protect the health 
of  our 530,000 residents. Moreover, throughout the pandemic communities have worked 
together and alongside us to both strengthen existing assets and develop new ones. Some 
of  these are set out below:

 

P
age 84

https://www.durhaminsight.info/covid-19/


8 Health and wellbeing across County Durham 9

Significantly better 
than England

Comparison 
to England not 
available

How we contribute to good health and wellbeing and improving life expectancy
Working together, there are things we can do to help address inequalities and increase the 
years people spend in good health. In line with our Public Health Strategic Plan, we have 
broken these things into three areas of  our work, Healthier, Fairer and Protected lives. As 
examples of  how we are doing in County Durham, we have chosen some health-related topics 
from each area and shown how our figures in County Durham compare with the England 
average (where that figure is Nationally available).

Significantly worse 
than England

Not significantly 
different to England

Key 

Fairer lives 

Protected lives 

Healthier lives 

Life expectancy in the least deprived areas 84.5 years
difference between 
living in most and 
least deprived areas

Life expectancy in the most deprived areas 76.8 years 7.7 years

Life expectancy in the least deprived areas 82.7 years

difference between 
living in most and 
least deprived areas

Life expectancy in the most deprived areas 73.4 years 9.3 years

Life expectancy for men is 77.7 years

58.8 years in good health 18.9 years living in ill-health

Life Expectancy and Healthy Life Expectancy 2018-20

Inequality in Life Expectancy 2018-20

We want all people to live as long as they can
In County Durham the life expectancy for some girls and boys born today is much less than 
others. There are unfair and unjust inequalities which shorten life in some of  our communities. 

Life expectancy for women is 81.2 years

59.9 years in good health 21.3 years living in ill-health

Health and wellbeing across County Durham 

Smoking levels 
(aged 18+)

2020

14.3%

Children living 
in low income 

families
2020/21

28.8%

Breast cancer 
screening

2021

64.4%

Around 61,500 smokers

That’s 26,300 children

41,900 screened

Physically 
active adults

2020/21

63.5%

People aged 16-64 
in employment

2020/21

72.3%

Opiate drug 
users completing 

treatment 
2020

5.5%

270,800 adults

233,400 people

That’s 80 people

Mothers smoking 
at time of delivery

2020/21

15.5%

16 and 17 year olds 
not in education, 

employment or training
2020

6.5%

Bowel cancer 
screening

2021

67.5%

That’s 710 mothers

Around 700 young people

Around 66,000 screened

People with 
long-term mental 
health problems

2021

14.9%

Households in 
fuel poverty

2020

14.7%

Flu vaccination 
(aged 65+)

2021/22

86.0%

Around 1,000 people

Around 34,900 households

Around 99,400 vaccinated

The health and wellbeing of our residents
Public Health aims to protect people’s health and wellbeing so they can live for as long as 
they can, and to support people to be healthier so they can live their years in the best health 
possible. So, how are we currently doing? 

The health and wellbeing of  the people in County Durham has improved over recent years 
but remains worse than the England average. Health inequalities remain persistent and 
pervasive. Levels of  deprivation are higher and life expectancy is lower than the England 
average. There is also inequality within County Durham for many measures (including life 
expectancy, childhood obesity and premature mortality for example). 

We want all people to have the best length of life and quality of life that they can
Girls and boys born in County Durham today can expect to live 81.2 years and 77.7 years 
respectively. This is significantly worse than the average life expectancy for England which 
is 83.1 years for girls and 79.4 years for boys. However, people are spending years living 
with illness and disability which affects the quality of  their lives. We want all people to have 
the best length of  life and the best quality of  life that they can. In County Durham healthy life 
expectancy is significantly shorter than the England average. Healthy life expectancy is the 
number of  years an individual can expect to live in good health, rather than with a disability or 
in poor health.  Locally for girls it is 59.9 years compared to 63.9 years for England. For boys 
the figures are 58.8 years locally and 63.1 years for England.

P
age 85



10 Health and wellbeing across County Durham 

Developing our Approach to Wellbeing
The County Durham Approach to Wellbeing as outlined in last year’s DPH report, is how 
we work together to put communities at the heart of  local decision making. The Approach 
to Wellbeing has developed over a period of  years. To help us build on the best elements 
of  this work, the approach was evaluated over three years by Teesside University and the 
findings published in April 2022. Key recommendations include: 

In response to the evaluation feedback, we have created a Self-Assessment Framework 
(SAF) to help us reflect and develop; developed a suite of  resources and case studies 
demonstrating practical ways to use the Approach to Wellbeing (which will be available on 
the County Durham Partnership website soon) and continued to embed the Approach to 
Wellbeing into local work. 

Over 2021/22 we have continued to develop our work together with communities, known as 
co-producing. Next steps include looking at how we continue to develop the Community 
Champions roles, developing our co-production approaches further and exploring how we 
can measure the wellbeing of  our residents more effectively. 

Here are some examples of  how our co-production work and our Approach to Wellbeing are 
helping put communities at the heart of  local decision-making. 

• Building on the Community Champions model, as an effective vehicle for 
implementing the Approach to Wellbeing

• Developing a combination of  training and other measures to place the approach at 
the heart of  our work

• Developing practical ways to support a clear understanding of  how Approach to 
Wellbeing can support better outcomes for communities 

• Creating consistent and standardised monitoring of  wellbeing within County Durham, 
piloting the use of  established measures of  wellbeing (e.g., the ‘ONS4’)*. 

* www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/methodologies/
personalwellbeingsurveyuserguide

County Durham Together 

From the start of  the COVID-19 outbreak, the County Durham 
Together (CDT) community hub was established to provide support to 
vulnerable people during the pandemic, particularly those who were 
shielding or self-isolating. The hub also provided residents with vital 
information, support and advice throughout the pandemic. CDT has 
since supported over 10,000 people in County Durham.    

In moving to living with COVID-19, we recognised that many of  these positive support 
systems and ways of  working were a good model for providing services, especially as 
local communities were so involved in shaping delivery. 

The 2021 Director of  Public Health (DPH) annual report recognised this good work, 
and reflected that working together in a co-production, community-centred way puts 
communities at the heart of  decision making; ‘working with’ residents and communities 
rather than ‘doing to’ them. We also recognised that working together as a whole system 
is also more effective for partners, enabling the best use of  resources and avoiding 
duplication. 

CDT has become central to our partnership work with statutory organisations, working 
hand in hand with the voluntary and community sector and mutual aid groups to deliver 
services and support. CDT now builds on this existing good practice and community 
assets in local areas.    

To further shape the service to enable improved opportunities and better outcomes for 
our communities, the 2021 DPH annual report recommended that we implement the 
‘County Durham Together transformation programme’, which is now underway. We’ll 
continue this work as part of  our recommendations for the forthcoming year. 

Health and wellbeing across County Durham 11

P
age 86

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/methodologies/personalwellbeingsurveyuserguide
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/methodologies/personalwellbeingsurveyuserguide


12 Health and wellbeing across County Durham 

Community Engagement to build a new school in Belmont 

Relationships Matter Community Engagement 

Durham Mental Wellbeing Alliance 

Early Help Assessment Review 

A partnership group was established to embed the national Reducing Parental Conflict 
programme across County Durham. The group commissioned a piece of  community 
engagement work to help identify priorities and design programme delivery through 
a co-created action plan. Listening to the views of  parents and carers led to the re-
branding of  the programme from ‘Reducing Parental Conflict’ to ‘Relationships Matter’. 
Communities told us they wanted self-help tools they could access digitally, and this 
led to the creation of  a public-facing website, with 
children involved in the design process and content 
co-designed with families  
https://www.durham.gov.uk/relationshipsmatter. 
The site will be regularly reviewed with parents and 
carers to ensure it continues to meet their needs. 

Working closely with the local 
community during phase one of  this 
project helped build strong social 
value points into the tender for a new 
school build in Belmont, and make 
sure they reflected local needs and 
aspirations. Working closely with 
the Area Action Partnership, a co-
production group was established to 
highlight existing assets and identify 
priorities. We continue to support 
this group to make new connections 
and find ways to meet the needs in 
their own communities.  

In April 2021, Durham County Council commissioned a new 
collaborative approach to commissioning support services for 
people experiencing mental ill-health. The new County Durham 
Mental Wellbeing Alliance (the Alliance) includes a range of  mental 
health providers, including small charities and larger national 
organisations, and its structure enables members to work together 
to shape the development and delivery of  contracts based on 
knowledge of  local need. 

By pooling skills, knowledge and resources; making 
the most of  existing assets and joining up provision, the 
Alliance aims to make sure people don’t ‘fall through 
the gaps’. To support with this, there is now one point of  
contact for people looking for help around their mental 
wellbeing, where residents can access a wide range of  
services, with referrals taking place either by telephone or 
via the website. A real benefit of  this single point of  service 
is that people don’t have to repeat their story to multiple 
providers. 

The Alliance offers a range of  support, for example around hospital discharge, welfare 
rights, group-based activities and suicide bereavement. More information can be found 
on the Alliance’s website:-  
https://www.durhammentalwellbeingalliance.org

The Department for Levelling Up Housing and Communities (DLUHC) through the 
national Supporting Families Programme placed a requirement on local authorities and 
their partners to capture the volume and quality of  early help that is taking place across 
the system. 

In response, the Prevention and Early Help Partnership worked with partners, children 
and young people, parents and carers to develop a new Early Help Assessment, with 
a range of  supporting guidance. A group of  children and young people, parents and 
carers came together to co-produce a family friendly animation explaining Early Help in 
County Durham https://youtu.be/j6qkmpdBfJk. 

The establishment of  project task 
and finish groups also enabled 
close links with the Durham 
Safeguarding Children’s Partnership 
and other stakeholders, to help 
make sure this work is joined up. 

Health and wellbeing across County Durham 13

A local councillor has been involved in the co-production group: 

“We’ve seen that people have come and really shared their knowledge of  what’s 
going on in the community. We’ve found out a lot more about what’s happening, we’ve 
learned a lot more about who is benefitting from the activities, and we’ve heard a 
lot about the needs of  venues, projects and services in the community…I think the 
discussion has been realistic but also aspirational”. 

P
age 87

https://youtu.be/j6qkmpdBfJk


1514 Living with COVID-19 Living with COVID-19

Recognised over 400 
COVID-19 heros

Supported over

10,000
individuals through the County 
Durham Together Community Hub.

Dealt with over 4,700
COVID-19 reports in 
schools, further education 
and early years settings.

Managed over76 bids 
through various COVID-19 funding 
totalling over £23 million.

Delivered over 

800 COVID-19 
compliance and 
enforcement visits.

Supplied over

1.5 million
LFD Tests through the 
targeted community 
testing programme

Published over 400
‘live’ COVID-19 dashboards social 
media posts with figures for local 
rates, age bands, vaccinations 
hospital admissions, to inform the 
public.

Living with COVID-19
The pandemic has been one of  the biggest public health challenges in living memory. 
COVID-19 has affected every part of  our society throughout 2020, 2021 and into 2022.

During the many waves and variants we experienced, we saw incredible and sustained 
efforts from communities and organisations working together in helping to make sure people 
were as protected as possible. Across the county local people, health, social care, council 
staff  and wider partners showed us some extraordinary examples of  positive partnership 
working. 

This partnership approach has continued through new and rapidly changing environments, 
while keeping systems running and supporting community resilience. To support these 
positive actions, we have contributed to both national and regional programmes and 
are heavily involved in the regional LA7 Leaders* work, providing consistent advice and 
guidance across the North East region. We have also been proactive in advocating for 
greater national support on behalf  of  our communities. 

The 2020 and 2021 Director of  Public Health annual reports give detailed information on the 
extensive COVID-19 response and recovery actions that Public Health have led and worked 
collaboratively with others to deliver. 

During 2022, in line with national guidance, we have moved from our enhanced response 
to a position of  ‘living safely with COVID-19’, aligning the management of  COVID-19 to 
other respiratory infections and diseases which can spread between people. However, we 
must remember that the virus remains a highly infectious illness which continues to require 
ongoing partnership work to protect people’s health. 

The learning from our COVID-19 response and recovery work, along with other elements 
such as the Local Tracing Partnership (NHS Test and Trace Service), the County Durham 
Together Community Hub, the Targeted Community Testing programme and the successful 
rollout of  the COVID-19 vaccine programme has been brought together. Together, they form 
the basis of  many of  the ‘Protected’ actions in our refreshed Public Health Strategic Plan. 

*The LA7 Leaders are the leaders of  Durham County Council, Gateshead Council, Newcastle City Council, 
Northumberland County Council, North Tyneside Council, South Tyneside Council and Sunderland City Council. 

County Durham’s Winner

Alfie Dixon-Clark
During lockdown, Alfie used money that he’d saved for his 
birthday to buy supplies to create coronavirus “survival packs” 
- filled with treats, colouring pages and other helpful items 
which he delivered to youngsters across County Durham. 

Known locally as ‘Alf  the Kid’, he handed out over 1,000 packs 
during the pandemic by using his weekly pocket money to 
keep the project going, and thanks to donations from the local 
community. The Academy at Shotton Hall pupil also created 
special VE Day bags for care home residents and to this day is 
continuing to do all he can to support others. Through his many 
acts of  kindness, Alfie has shown that no matter what your age, 
you can make a difference.

Over the pandemic we have…
• Maintained the interactive public-facing COVID-19 dashboard on Durham Insight and 

promoted it through social media platforms 

• Developed the ‘spike detector’ tool to highlight local areas seeing a rise in cases. This 
helped us to quickly implement appropriate infection control measures from a range 
of  key partners locally 

• Produced and maintained a range of  COVID-19 dashboards (schools, care homes, 
health settings, age bands, testing and vaccinations), to inform partners and to focus 
their actions and delivery

• Overseen and supported the rollout of  the COVID-19 vaccination and booster 
programmes, including vulnerable groups

• Delivered a proactive ‘Leaving no-one behind’ vaccination programme in 
communities with low vaccine uptake

• Developed, implemented and delivered Local Plans, including plans to deal with any 
surge in case rates or new variants of  concern

• Maintained and adapted essential public health services to 
continue to deliver support throughout the pandemic

• Introduced many new partnership groups to coordinate and 
deliver support where needed 

• Developed and supported our COVID-19 Champions

• Talked with young people to better understand how we 
could support them through the pandemic 

• Continued to build strong relationships with national and 
regional partners to better support our communities

• Delivered communication plans to support our communities 
with COVID-19 secure messages (Hands, Face, Space, 
Fresh Air) 

• Supported regional ‘BeatCovidNE’ campaigns such as, 
‘Thank you County Durham’, ‘Acts of  Kindness Awards’ and 
‘Step up to beat Covid’ 

Covid-19 Acts of Kindness 

During the pandemic we have ...

Delivered over 
1,152,536 doses 
of COVID-19 
vaccinations 

P
age 88



1716 Living with COVID-19 Living with COVID-19

More than 400 COVID-19 heroes have been nominated for an award recognising  
the contribution of County Durham residents during the pandemic.

The hundreds of  heart-warming nominations for the Recognition of  Contribution award 
include stories from a wide range of  people who have received support from friends, 
neighbours, local businesses and community groups. They feature people who have 
organised social activities and befriending services or have collected shopping and 
prescriptions as well as NHS, GP and care staff  and those who have volunteered at testing 
and vaccination sites. 

Here are a few examples of  the people who have been recognised so far.

Tom
Tom Howe, from Bishop 
Auckland, raised more than 
£8,000 for local hospitals by 
entertaining the community 
with his crazy bingo and 
singing sessions. The 25-year-
old hosted a variety of  
online events from his dining 
room during the COVID-19 
lockdowns, including a 
virtual VE day celebration 
to help raise people's 
spirits and promote positive 
mental wellbeing during the 
pandemic. He also took on 
the challenge of  running his 
own pub so he could continue 
looking after the community.

Pat
Pat Clarey worked tirelessly during 
the first lockdown, baking much 
appreciated cakes and scones for 
staff  at Bishop Auckland hospital. 
She also delivered shopping 
for people unable to leave their 
homes and regularly walked an 
elderly neighbour’s dog.

When COVID-19 restrictions 
began to ease, Pat helped people 
keep active and connected by 
organising a socially distanced 
sequence dance three times a 
week in Leeholme Community 
Hall, providing refreshments and 
sourcing music CDs at her own 
expense.

Chloe 
Chloe Fairclough played a key 
role in our Get Tested COVID Safe 
County marketing campaign. The 
17-year-old from Bishop Auckland 
kindly let us use an image of  her 
taking a COVID-19 test, to help us 
promote regular testing to young 
people across County Durham. 

Chloe’s contribution is an 
important one, making the 
decision to put the importance 
of  promoting testing ahead of  
any concerns or embarrassment 
about being judged by her peer 
group.

Recognition of Contribution 
to Public Health Award

Recognising heroes of the COVID-19 pandemicWe have retained elements of  the temporary Outbreak Control Team set up to respond 
to COVID-19. From this, we have established a new Protecting Health Team within public 
health, which has seen us extend our health protection work to support the response and 
capacity including:- 

How to thank someone
If  you would like to nominate someone who has been a shining light during the pandemic, 
email PublicHealth@durham.gov.uk with the title Public Health Award. Include details of  
the person you are nominating, the reasons for your nomination and an example of  their 
contribution. A letter and certificate will then be shared with you to present to the nominee. 

• Working with the UK Health Security Agency (UKHSA) and wider colleagues to detect 
and prevent onward transmission of  infectious diseases; such as Avian Flu and 
Monkeypox.

• Creating frameworks and pathways to help identify, control and treat these diseases, 
including the development of  the County Durham Avian Influenza Framework, Anti-
viral pathways for Seasonal Flu, Avian Flu and Monkeypox. Emergency planning and 
surge response for infectious diseases. 

• Plans to mitigate the health impacts of  severe weather and climate change.

• Identifying and addressing variations in uptake in screening vaccination, and 
immunisation.

• We have reviewed the health protection arrangements and continue to work closely 
with our local and regional partners, as health protection is a joint responsibility 
across various bodies including the Local Authority, UKHSA, NHS England and 
Integrated Care Board. 

P
age 89

mailto:PublicHealth%40durham.gov.uk?subject=


1918 Making smoking history Making smoking history

We also want to reduce the number of  mothers smoking at time of  delivery of  their babies 
to 0% by 2025. The latest data suggested that to meet this target, we would need 700 fewer 
mothers smoking at time of  delivery. 

Smoking levels in County Durham   
The percentage of  the population who smoke is called the ‘smoking prevalence’. Over time 
the prevalence is generally reducing within County Durham. However, it is still higher than 
the North East and England averages. Due to the pandemic, the way in which we collect 
data has changed. The 2020 Local Tobacco Control Profile shows the prevalence at 14.3%, 
but as the method has changed, we cannot directly compare this to previous years. 

In County Durham we want to achieve a prevalence of  5% by 2030. To get to this figure, we 
would need 40,100 fewer smokers. 

Whilst smoking overall across the county is decreasing, smoking amongst some groups 
of  people is going up. The ‘routine and manual’ workforce are smoking more than 
before, including labourers, bar staff, lorry drivers and care workers. The numbers of  
smokers in this category of  people has increased from 25.1% in 2018 to 27.3% in 2019. 
This is a concern, as nationally and within other areas of  the North East the rates have 
decreased. We need to understand why this is the case, and to support, we will engage 
with businesses through our connections with Business Durham. This will help us to better 
understand how we support these people to stop smoking. 

0% 
by 2025

700
fewer mothers smoking 
at time of delivery. 
Similar to the population 
of Frosterley.

Current 14.3%
40,100
fewer smokers. Similar to the 
population of Bishop Auckland 
and Shildon.

Making smoking history 
Background  
Smoking remains the single largest cause of  preventable deaths and one of  the largest 
causes of  health inequalities. In England, despite reductions in the numbers of  people 
smoking, there are still approximately 7.3 million adult smokers and more than 200 people a 
day die from smoking-related illness, which could have been prevented. 

Across County Durham, the difference in life expectancy between the poorest and most 
affluent groups can be over nine years. Some of  this reduced life span is directly due to 
people smoking. Smoking, and the harms linked to smoking, continue to fall hardest on 
some of  the poorest and most vulnerable people in our society. 

Smoking impacts on so many facets of  an individual’s life. As well as dying earlier than 
non-smokers, smokers also suffer from poorer quality of  life. Many of  the conditions caused 
by smoking are chronic (long-term) illnesses such as heart disease, stroke, lung cancer 
and respiratory disease. There are also huge implications for those who live with smokers, 
as breathing in second-hand smoke also has detrimental impacts on health for babies, 
children, and other family members. 

Surveys have shown that 75% of  smokers regret ever starting smoking and 69% of  
adult smokers in England want to quit. It takes, on average, 30 attempts before a smoker 
successfully quits, showing the real addiction and grip that tobacco has on people. 

For all these reasons, tobacco is a key public health priority, and this report aims to 
refocus our efforts on reducing the number of  people smoking in County Durham. In this 
section, we will also give updates from the key areas of  previous reports and make further 
recommendations for change. With the new findings from the Khan Review*, this is the right 
time to refocus on smoking.
*www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-khan-review-making-smoking-obsolete 

The scale of the issue

Smoking still kills

894
people die 
per year 
from causes 
linked to 
smoking 

 1 in 6  
adult deaths are 
smoking related

 700 
babies are 
born to 
mothers 
that smoke

Smoking in County Durham – Our challenges

The number 
of adults 
smoking is 
decreasing 
over time

Over 4,800 people 
set a quit date with 
the Stop Smoking 
Service in 2019/20, 
around 45% quit at 
4 weeks

People working 
in routine and 
manual jobs are 
twice as likely 
to smoke than 
people in other 
professions

2030 ambition 5%

Current 15.5%

More than 
5 out of 6  
adults are non-
smokers, similar  
to England

Deaths from chronic 
obstructive pulmonary 
disease (COPD) and lung 
cancer are significantly 
higher than England

Early deaths 
equate to 

4,357 
lost years of 
life each year

P
age 90

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-khan-review-making-smoking-obsolete


2120 Making smoking history Making smoking history

Our local plans  
The Tobacco Control Alliance is a group with many different agencies who work together to 
reduce the County Durham smoking prevalence. During COVID-19 this group still met, as 
we continued to prioritise tobacco control as an important public health priority. 

The plan to reduce smoking to 5% by 2030 is focussed around seven key areas of  work 
below. We have several partners working together within this agenda to ensure that we 
reach this target: 

Media, communications and 
engagement4

a.  Share communications about the harms 
associated with tobacco

b.  Providing training about how to have a 
conversation with someone who would like 
to stop smoking

Use of an integrated evidence-based 
strategic approach to reducing smoking 
prevalence in County Durham

1
a. Undertake proactive and reactive work to 

influence policy and legislation

b.  Work together to achieve the 5% by 2030

Motivating and supporting smokers 
to stop and stay stopped3

a.  Providing our local stop smoking service

b.  Targeted provision at key groups– routine 
and manual workers, pregnant women, 
people with serious mental illness

Reducing Exposure to 
Second-hand Smoke2

a.  Providing training and information on the 
harms that are linked to second-hand smoke

b.  Working with local housing providers to 
see how we can support them to reduce 
exposure to second hand smoke, e.g. 
offering vapes as options

c. Working with partners in education and 
children’s services to reduce the exposure 
that children have to second-hand smoke

Reducing the demand and supply of illegal 
tobacco products, increasing price and 
addressing the supply of tobacco to children

5
a.  Tackling underage sales

b.  Advocating for the age of sale to be 
increased

 Research, monitoring and evaluation7
a.  Review data and responding to local needs

Tobacco Regulation and reducing 
tobacco promotion 6

a. Enforcement around illicit tobacco 

17,500 
people registered with COPD – 
enough to fill an international 

match at Durham Cricket 
ground

Over 

38,000 
people registered 
with asthma

Costs associated with 
Healthcare, social care 
and fire costs total over 

£41.1m

Over

260,000
GP appointments

Over 

6,000 smoking 
attributable hosptial 
admissions each 
year

Smoking is estimated to cost 

£170.7m 
in lost productivity

3% 
of newborns have a 
low birth weight

This includes around 

16,000
dependant children

Smoking costs contribute to 

25,000 households living 
in poverty

Smoking related ill-health means 

an extra 12,300 people are 
receiving care from relatives and 

friends and 5,000 people 
with unmet social care needs

The average smoker 
spends just under

£2,000
per year on tobacco

Preventable ill-health Health care, social care and services Poverty and the economy

Every week there are 10 new 
cases of lung cancer

Over 

4,300 people are 
economically inactive 
due to smoking 

Carol’s experience

“I knew that if  I didn’t quit, I would end up dead from COPD. Thinking back, I have pushed 
my luck since the age of  15 and the effects of  smoking were starting to catch up with me. 
I was rushed into hospital with breathing difficulties one Sunday and as soon as I got out, 
I rang my GP for help to stop and they gave me the stop smoking service number. Whilst 
quitting, I found it helpful to clean my whole house and decorate to remove the stale smell 
of  smoke. It was like starting a new life without cigarettes. Decorating also made me want to 
keep my house smelling nice so was another reason not to smoke”. 

Costs
The average smoker spends around £2,000 a year on tobacco, meaning £141.70 million 
is spent in County Durham on tobacco each year. When income and smoking costs are 
taken into account, 25,003 households are driven into poverty. These are real residents of  
households within County Durham which includes 34,165 adults below pension age, 6,252 
pension age adults and around 16,163 dependent children. 

Smokers’ employment chances and average earnings are also damaged by smoking. In 
County Durham 4,326 people are economically inactive due to smoking, with smokers 
earning 6.8% less than non-smokers which creates further disadvantage for smokers.

 

Within County Durham, smoking impacts on…

P
age 91



2322 Making smoking history Making smoking history

Alan’s experience

“I have smoked for 41 years and now I’m really looking forward to 
telling my friends and family that I have quit. My health has 
improved, I am saving money and people are telling me I look well. 
My motivation was to save money and my health. I coughed a lot. I 
found that patches and an E Cig worked well. If  I do now ever think 
about smoking, I do something that takes my mind off  it like make 
myself  a cup of  tea”.

What more needs to be done 
Whilst lots of  great work is ongoing, it is key that we need to work together to continue to 
reduce our smoking prevalence rates. This is vitally important across our entire population, 
but in particular in targeting key priority groups to reduce health inequalities associated 
with smoking. To make this happen, we will enhance the work that we are doing with our key 
partners such as the NHS, Social Care and Housing Providers. 

The Khan Review has implications across the country. Locally, we need to champion and 
endorse these recommendations to support our local population. We also need to ensure 
that we continue to engage with elected members, MPs and Health and Wellbeing Board, to 
gain their support to endorse the recommendations.

Cathy’s experience

What have we done in 2022
Durham County Council is the lead local authority who commission Fresh 
to support seven local authorities within the North East by: 

• Providing a wealth of  knowledge and information to support our local 
plans 

• Delivering mass media campaigns on the harms associated with smoking, such as 
‘Don’t wait’ to encourage people to quit smoking, which we have localised across County 
Durham 

• Championing and advocating for change within government policies, to make a 
difference nationally which will improve lives for local people 

• Having active involvement in research and national consultations to better understand the 
needs and opinions of  the public 

One important component within our approach to tobacco control is our local stop smoking 
service, delivered by ABL Health, which is there to provide free support and guidance to 
those who want to stop smoking. The service offers an individual quit programme for up 
to 12 weeks, alongside a choice of  stop smoking medications and Nicotine Replacement 
Therapy (NRT). This year, the service has begun piloting e-cigarettes as a stop smoking 
method to provide an alternative product to cigarettes. This year our local stop smoking 
service has helped 1,776 people to stop smoking and live healthier lives.

In County Durham we have identified that the cost of  NRT is often a barrier to people who 
are wanting to quit smoking. Therefore, we have ensured that there is no cost for those 
receiving NRT through our local stop smoking service. 

We have also recently been successful in gaining funding from Office for Health 
Improvement and Disparities (OHID) to work with individuals with serious mental illness who 
smoke and may wish to stop. We will do some targeted work within Chester-Le-Street as a 
pilot to look at how we support people with serious mental illness to quit smoking.

 

Mark’s experience

“I really believed that if  I didn’t contact the stop smoking service 
then I would end up dead. My breathing difficulties started with hay 
fever, which turned into asthma and then COPD. I was getting 
infections and antibiotics; this was a regular thing and I noticed I 
couldn’t walk upstairs without being breathless. I started smoking 
when I was 14 and at school. I just wanted to fit in. Dealing with 
cravings at first was the hardest thing. I used a patch and a nasal 
spray to quit, it took some getting used to but I was really surprised 
how quick it worked. My advisor from the stop smoking service 
helped me with weekly calls, it really helped knowing that someone 
was going to ask me how I was doing and check up on my 
progress”. 

Cathy lost one of  her lungs to cancer through smoking and has 
been urging others to quit and not wait until it is too late… 

“I smoked and smoked, I was aware of  the risks, but you think it 
is never going to happen to you. Then two days before my 50th 
birthday I found out I had a tumour on my lung. It was terrifying and 
the impact on my girls was the hardest thing. You hear the word 
cancer and the first thing I thought was how do I tell my girls? As a 
single parent it was a horrendous thought that I might not be there 
for them.”

Seven years after her cancer and now two years cancer free, Cathy can reflect on the 
benefits she sees from quitting…

“The biggest benefit is the money. When you smoke you find a way to buy cigarettes. 
You eat cheaper food and deny yourself  things so you can smoke. Also, I can see the 
difference in how I look. Smoking ages you and my skin is so much better now. I feel the 
benefits every day and thank God I am alive and there with my girls.” 

“My advice would be to never think that poor health or cancer won’t happen to you and 
if  you’re trying to quit then ring your local stop smoking service and get their advice on 
avoiding smoking. They will advise you on quitting aids to take away cravings.”

If  you are a current smoker living or working within County Durham and interested in 
learning about the support available for you to quit please contact 0800 772 0565 to 
arrange an appointment. Or visit the Smokefree County Durham website at 
www.smokefreecountydurham.co.uk for more information.

P
age 92

http://www.smokefreecountydurham.co.uk


2524 Priorities Priorities

The campaign was originally scheduled to run across County 
Durham from March to June 2022, including posters on buses and 
some bus stops across County Durham. We also ran short adverts 
on local radio stations, and a TV advert showing local people 
walking on Seaham beach. You can see the TV advert at  
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=2qdeGwAZTto
In Spring 2022 the campaign was extended, in recognition 
of  some significant UK and world events, such as the news 
about Ukraine and the worries about the rising cost of  fuel. The 
campaign will now run across County Durham until Summer 2023. 
We are extremely grateful to everyone who has helped shape the 
campaign. 

Remember, if  you need some support with your mental health information and support is 
available through https://www.durham.gov.uk/adultmentalhealthsupport

Fairer: A fairer approach to supporting mental wellbeing in 
schools – the Young People’s Health and Wellbeing Framework
The Young People’s Health and Wellbeing Framework was developed 
through collaboration with schools, Special Educational Needs and 
Disability (SEND) and Inclusion, Public Health and Education Durham to 
support schools and education settings in County Durham to improve the 
overall health and wellbeing of  children and young people.

The framework uses the ‘Thrive’ model (https://www.annafreud.org/schools-and-colleges/) 
and supports partners in working together and taking a whole school approach to mental 
wellbeing. This helps schools by offering a positive, resilience-based approach, providing 
a structure and guidance considering the physical, mental, and emotional health and 
wellbeing of  the whole school setting. Resources and training are also provided in support. 

Since April 2021 when the framework was launched, 106 education settings across 
primary, secondary, post 16, independent and special schools have pledged to adopt 
the framework. This means that each school setting has committed to completing a self-
assessment, which helps them to identify areas of  improvement.  

Ox Close Primary School Case Study 

“To decide the focus of  any health and wellbeing 
improvements in school we surveyed staff  and pupils then 
met and discussed our action plans and made the decision to 
roll out the project on a whole-school basis from early years 
to year 6. Our children now enjoy new playtimes with a range 
of  focused activities, and we have noticed that teamwork has 
improved and playtime conflict is reduced. Our lunchtime supervisors have also been in 
full support and have noted a huge decline in behaviour incidents. Parents and ancillary 
staff  are on board and have been supportive. Staff  morale has increased so much 
during this project. Staff  have mentioned that even the fact that staff  wellbeing has 
been made a priority by the Senior Leadership Team has made them feel valued and 
more open to accessing resources to help improve their personal mental health and 
wellbeing.” 

Priorities 
Over the last year we have reviewed and reshaped our County Durham Public Health 
Strategic Plan to improve and protect the health and wellbeing of  the county and to reduce 
health inequalities. Our actions strive, not only to increase life expectancy but to extend the 
length of  time individuals live in good health.

We are working on the following priorities within the Strategic Plan which will focus on 
reducing health inequalities. Our actions are aligned to our wellbeing principles and the 
following three themed areas: 

• Healthier: Having and promoting a healthier population (both physical health and mental 
wellbeing). For example.

 Improve mental health and emotional wellbeing 
 Improve levels of  physical activity and healthy weight 

• Fairer: Improving health across the whole life course, access to good quality health 
services and those wider services that also have an impact on population health while 
reducing population health inequalities and inequities. For example.

 Work with partners to help reduce poverty and the impact of  poverty and the cost of   
 living crisis
 Work with partners to contribute to inclusive economic growth

• Protected: Protecting the health of  our communities against communicable disease, 
domestic abuse, tobacco, drugs and alcohol that cause severe harm and plan for future 
emergencies. For example.

 Reduce the harm caused through alcohol and drugs within our local communities 
 Respond to seasonal risks to health and ensure County Durham’s preparedness for  

 winter

We have provided an update below of  some work covered in our plan.

Healthier: Supporting us to be mentally healthier - The ‘Now You’re Talking’ 
campaign 
In 2021, we recognised that many things, including the ongoing 
pandemic, could be negatively impacting people’s thoughts and 
moods. In response, we created a supporting mental wellbeing 
campaign. The ‘Now You’re Talking’ (‘NYT’) campaign encourages 
people to talk to someone they trust about anything that may 
be worrying or bothering them. The campaign doesn’t directly 
mention ‘mental health’, as the campaign is for all of  us. We all 
worry about things from time to time. When this happens, it’s 
important to open up to someone about how we are feeling. 

We created some draft images and messages for the proposed 
campaign, including things that many people in County Durham 
would say in everyday life. We asked a number of  mental health 
groups and charities for their thoughts on the draft campaign, receiving some fantastic 
suggestions as to how to make it better, more inclusive and more relevant to the people of  
County Durham. These included:- 

• Including more pictures of  ‘real’ people, pictures and images from County Durham. 

• Not using any gender references. Everyone should be involved, no matter how people 
gender-identify. 

• Recognising that talking to someone can be hard, including messages encouraging 
someone to talk, and encouraging a person to talk to someone they might be worried 
about. 

We included all the suggestions in the final campaign. 

P
age 93

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=2qdeGwAZTto
https://www.durham.gov.uk/adultmentalhealthsupport
https://www.annafreud.org/schools-and-colleges/


2726 Priorities Priorities

 Case study - Kelly and Talia’s story

Kelly and her daughter Talia live in South Durham and are the first 
family to complete the Respect Young People’s Programme - a 
new programme designed to support families where Child and 
Adolescent to Parent Violence and Abuse (CAPVA) may be a 
concern. 

Kelly’s daughter has complicated medical needs and at around 
the age of  13, she started rebelling against her disability, misbehaving at school, being 
aggressive at home and self-harming. Her behaviour got worse during lockdown until 
her mum decided to go to One Point, the council’s early help service for children and 
their families, for support. Here she was introduced to the Respect Young People’s 
Programme (RYPP) and shown how it could help the family.

During the 12 week RYPP programme, Kelly and her daughter each worked individually 
with their support workers, before coming together as a group to talk about the issues 
they were facing, triggers for behaviour and how those situations were dealt with. 

Kelly has found the programme useful as it made her look at what she could do better 
as a mother to manage her daughter’s behaviour. 

“The programme was good as it helped me see where I was going wrong. I suppose I 
parented in the same way my dad did, but I have come to understand that times have 
changed. I wouldn’t dare answer back but kids these days are not afraid to challenge 
parents and teachers.

Instead of  just rewarding good behaviour, I now challenge poor behaviour too. Since 
going through the programme, she has been good at understanding and taking her 
punishment and while her behaviour is still not perfect, it has improved. She still displays 
typical teenage attitude, and things are still not perfect at school, but the aggressive 
outbursts have stopped, and she is generally a lot easier to handle. 

I’m just happy that things have settled down at home. Home should be a haven, and its 
starting to feel like that for us now. Her six-year-old sister was frightened of  her, but since 
going through the programme, this is no longer the case.

I would definitely recommend the programme, as I feel like the interventions have helped 
me get my life back and the house is now a much calmer place”.

Talia said, “before we did the RYPP programme mam and me had lots of  arguments, 
this made me feel angry. Since doing the RYPP programme mam and me now 
communicate more to prevent further arguments. Rewards have been put in place. 
Things are better now, we don’t argue as much, we spend more time together.”

“We are delighted to roll out the Respect Young People’s 
Programme to families across County Durham. CAPVA is 
becoming more and more common, and it isn’t just about violent 
behaviour, it can incorporate emotional, coercive, or controlling 
behaviour, sexual and economic abuse.”

The programme is designed to enable families to identify 
negative behaviour patterns and work towards positive outcomes, avoiding blame and 
instead working together with parents or carers and the young person, and seeing them 
all as part of  the solution.

For more information and links to support for Domestic Abuse visit: 
www.durham.gov.uk/domesticabuse

Burnside Primary School case study

“The aim of  my project was to raise the profile of  mental health 
and wellbeing in school and to focus on resilience to help address 
some of  the needs that had been identified in the parents and child 
questionnaires.” 

“During the lockdown remote learning took place and resilience 
needed to have a large focus. Therefore the idea of  ‘Resilient Rex’ 
was born. This was a dinosaur who had resilient characteristics. 
He appeared in online lessons and the children discussed with 
Rex how he could remain resilient. In order to support children’s mental health week, 
we created mindfulness packs. These included tasks the children could use to help 
keep their minds calm during lockdown and Resilient Rex came to school to hand 
out the packs. It was vital I found ways to ensure that the profile of  mental health and 
wellbeing remained a priority even though the children were learning remotely. The final 
assessment in the Summer term showed that the children’s resilience was slightly better 
compared to where it had been at the end of  the Autumn term. Having looked at the 
resilience scales for the children from the beginning of  the project to the end, it is clear 
that their awareness of  resilience has improved with children moving up the scale.” 

Mrs Paula Renwick (deputy Head and Mental Health and Wellbeing Lead)

Protected: Helping protect people from Domestic Abuse 
It is estimated that over 2.4m people are affected by domestic abuse each year in England 
and Wales. To tackle this, in April 2021 the government introduced The Domestic Abuse Act 
2021. The Act aims to support victims, including children and young people, to live lives free 
from abuse, coercion, and control.

The Act highlights the challenges that families experiencing domestic abuse can face. This 
includes recognising Child/Adolescent to Parent Violence and Abuse (CAPVA) as a form 
of  abuse. Over 2021, early help services in County Durham were trained to deliver the 
Respect Young People’s Programme (RYPP), a 12 week course designed to help families 
experiencing CAPVA, using solution-focused interventions.

A staff member working with Kelly’s family

White Ribbon Day

Durham County Council (DCC) has also strengthened our response to domestic abuse 
in the workplace. This included supporting the ‘16 days of  International Action’ and 
‘White Ribbon Day’ campaigns, with a number of  staff  members pledging to support 
the end of  violence against women and girls.

P
age 94

https://www.durham.gov.uk/domesticabuse


2928 Update on recommendations from 2021 Update on recommendations from 2021

Better quality of life through integrated health and care services 
1. Shape and engage in the Integrated Care Partnership ensuring County Durham 

is at the forefront to benefit from any changes  
The County Durham Care Partnership has continued to work to improve the public’s 
health and provide input to reduce health inequalities. 

2. Implement the County Durham Together (CDT) transformation programme 
Since 2021, CDT has worked in partnership to begin embedding co-production into 
our decision making, policy and strategy development processes and service  
re-design. Please see page 11 for more details on CDT. 

3. Build on the personalised care developments in cancer for other long-term 
conditions

 We continue to work with partners using a co-production approach where we can, 
to make our interventions better and more tailored. This includes creating new pilot 
models to test how best tailored care may work for individual people, and continuing 
to support the roll out of  Personalised Health Budgets. 

High quality drug and alcohol services 
1. Increase co-production within drug and alcohol services to ensure delivery is 

inclusive 
County Durham Together has supported the Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service 
(DARS) to develop a Co-production Board. The Board now includes service users,  
ex-service users and their carers, helping people impacted by substance misuse to 
have a voice in innovating service delivery. 

2. Build on and improve the current working relationship with criminal justice 
partners to ensure a co-ordinated whole systems approach to drug harm 
reduction 
We are working with partners on drug-related harm reduction, with the support of  
additional funding secured for the county. This includes a new workforce within the 
prison, police and court system and extended provision of  ‘Naloxone’ (used as an 
antidote to overdoses) in police response vehicles. 

3. Begin work towards implementing the recommendations in Dame Carol Black’s 
Independent report, ‘Review of drugs part two: prevention, treatment and 
recovery’

 County Durham has secured significant new funding to implement the 
recommendations made by Dame Carol Black. This has supported more services 
within the criminal justice workstream, greater harm reduction, more outreach 
support and the provision of  a new Alcohol Care Team (ACT). We now also have extra 
capacity for inpatient detoxification, mental health, families, women-only services and 
extra support for Rough Sleepers. 

Update on recommendations from 2021

Promoting positive behaviours
In the last year’s report I said that we would: 
1. Increase the number of schools signed up to ‘Active 30’ and target communities 

most impacted by COVID-19 to promote and embed daily physical activity habits  
70 schools have signed up to the programme in the 2021/22 academic year. 
Additional government funding has provided greater opportunities to extend the 
project’s reach, including embedding Active 30 across holiday ‘fun and food’ delivery 
with resources to support young people to be active during the holiday periods. 

2. Implement measures with housing and other providers to reduce the risk from 
second-hand smoke in the home   
We are now engaging with housing providers to reduce smoking rates of  those 
who are living in social housing and to reduce exposure to second-hand smoke for 
children and other family members.

3. Produce a communications campaign to raise awareness of the health and 
social impacts of increased alcohol intake on individuals, families and the wider 
community   
Two significant alcohol-related campaigns “Alcohol Causes Cancer” and “What’s the 
Harm” were promoted throughout County Durham. A Drink Coach app was included 
in one campaign to provide information and on safe drinking levels and how to 
access additional support.

P
age 95



Conclusion 31 30

Conclusion 
My report this year has been one of  transition from the pandemic to a re-focusing of  
priorities. It has provided an update of  the health and wellbeing of  our residents and 
where COVID-19 has had the greatest impact, both directly and indirectly.

It has also highlighted the work taking place to live safely with COVID-19 which has 
continued to be prominent and with our attention on those who are at greatest risk 
as well as reflecting on the last two years and how we worked so closely with our 
communities and how this can be taken forward.

Examples of  this were evident on our approach to wellbeing, shifting the balance to 
working with our communities and not ‘doing to’. 

In the recommendations from 2021 tobacco was highlighted as a key priority to redouble 
our efforts to make smoking history in our county. This report has provided an update 
on some excellent work alongside local residents stories of  how they have given up 
smoking which gives us a strong rationale to do everything possible to tackle levels of  
tobacco.

The building blocks for good health are a way of  us now describing how health 
and wellbeing is impacted by a range of  factors, including employment, housing, 
our environment and how much money our residents have to live on. The impact of  
COVID-19 and the cost-of-living increases make it even more important for us to embed 
health and wellbeing in the building blocks for good health. That means of  course that 
the public health team will lead on some aspects such as tobacco, however, will also 
continue to work very closely in the coming year with others to reduce poverty and the 
impact of  poverty and contribute to inclusive economic growth to ensure health and 
wellbeing is considered in the relevant strategies and action plans. 

It is only by doing this will we collectively and most importantly with our communities 
have healthier, fairer and protected lives.

P
age 96



Please ask us if you would like this document
summarised in another language or format. 

Braille Audio Large print

Arabic Chinese Urdu

Polish Punjabi Spanish

Bengali Hindi German

French Turkish Malay

polski Español

Deutsch  
Français  Türkçe  Melayu  

Telephone: 03000 264 109
Email: PublicHealth@durham.gov.uk

53300 AHS

Page 97

http://PublicHealth@durham.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Director of Public Health

Annual Report 2022

Cabinet

12 October 2022

Amanda Healy
Director of Public Health

P
age 99



Building blocks for good health

• Social and environmental 

conditions in which we are 

born, grow up and live with do 

not give us all an equal 

chance. 

• How much money we have, 

the quality of the house we live 

in, the natural environment 

surrounding us, 

• Our access to transport, 

education and work, 

• Ability to choose healthy 

options,

• All impact on our chances of 

living a long and healthy life.

P
age 100



Health and wellbeing – impact of COVID-19

• The COVID-19 pandemic  impact on the health and wellbeing of residents of 

County Durham. 

• Challenges to health and wellbeing especially as we move towards living with 

COVID-19. 

• However County Durham also has many assets that can support and protect 

the health of our 530,000 residents. 

• Communities have worked together and alongside us to both strengthen 

existing assets and develop new ones. 

P
age 101

https://www.durhaminsight.info/


Health and wellbeing across County Durham

• The health and wellbeing of the people in County Durham is worse than the 

England average. 

• Health inequalities remain persistent and pervasive.

• There are inequalities within County Durham too.

We want all people to have the best length of life and quality of life that they can

Girls and boys born in County Durham today can expect to live 81.2 years and 77.7 years 

respectively. However, people are spending years living with illness and disability which 

affects the quality of their lives.

Life Expectancy and Healthy Life Expectancy (2018-2020)

P
age 102



Health and wellbeing across County Durham

• Working together, we can strive to reduce inequalities

P
age 103



Health and wellbeing – approach to wellbeing 

• How we work together to put communities at the heart of local decision 

making. The Approach to Wellbeing has developed over a period of years 

and has been evaluated during 2022 to see what is working and what 

needs to be improved

Durham mental wellbeing alliance

The new County Durham Mental Wellbeing 

Alliance includes a range of mental health 

providers, including small charities and 

larger national organisations, and its 

structure enables members to work 

together to shape the development and 

delivery of contracts based on knowledge 

of local need.

P
age 104



Living with COVID-19

• We have moved from response to living with 

COVID-19

• Continued support from communities

• Leave no-one behind vaccination campaign

• Focus on key settings and groups most at risk

During the pandemic we have…. 

P
age 105



Living with COVID-19

• Over 400 COVID-19 heroes have been nominated for an award recognising the 

contribution of County Durham residents during the pandemic. 

• Beat Covid NE campaigns and award

County Durham winner 

COVID acts of kindness award

During lockdown, Alfie used money that he’d saved 

for his birthday to buy supplies to create coronavirus 

“survival packs” which he delivered to youngsters 

across County Durham. 

Chloe played a key role in our Get 

Tested COVID Safe County 

marketing campaign. 

P
age 106



Making smoking history – recommendation 

from 2021

Smoking remains the single largest 

cause of preventable deaths and 

one of the largest causes of health 

inequalities. 

Smoking levels in County Durham

Prevalence is reducing within County 

Durham. However, it is still higher than 

the North East and England averages.  

In County Durham we want to achieve 

a prevalence of 5% by 2030.  To get to 

this figure we would need 40,100 fewer 

smokers and no new smokers

P
age 107



Making smoking history – our local plans

The Tobacco Control 

Alliance is a group with 

many different agencies 

who work together to 

reduce the County Durham 

smoking prevalence.  The 

plan to reduce smoking to 

5% by 2030 is focussed 

around seven key areas of 

work. 

P
age 108



Giving up smoking – local peoples experiences 

Cathy’s experience

Cathy lost one of her lungs to cancer through 

smoking and has been urging others to quit and 

not wait until it is too late… “ My advice would be 

to never think that poor health or cancer won’t 

happen to you and if you’re trying to quit then ring 

your local stop smoking service.

Alan’s experience

“I have smoked for 41 years and now I’m really 

looking forward to telling my friends and family 

that I have quit. My health has improved, I am 

saving money and people are telling me I look 

well. 

P
age 109



Priorities looking ahead

• Focused on the building blocks of good health

• Healthier lives, fairer lives and protected lives  

• Healthier: Supporting us to be mentally 

healthier - The ‘Now You’re Talking’ campaign 

• Fairer: A fairer approach to supporting mental 

wellbeing in schools – the Young People’s 

Health and Wellbeing Framework

• Protected: Helping protect people from 

Domestic Abuse

P
age 110



Healthier, Fairer and Protected

Healthier: 

The ‘Now You’re Talking’ campaign

Fairer: 

The Young People’s Health and Wellbeing 

Framework – Oxclose Primary School

Protected:

Respect Young People’s Programme –

Kelly and Talia’s story

P
age 111



Conclusion

• Building blocks for good health

• Transition from pandemic to living with 

COVID-19

• Increased focus on making smoking 

history

• Healthier, Fairer and Protected priorities

• Work with others to reduce poverty and 

contribute inclusive economic growth

• Working with partners and most 

importantly our local communities

P
age 112



 

  

 

 Cabinet 

12 October 2022 

Road Safety Strategy 2022-2032 

 Ordinary Decision 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Amy Harhoff, Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and 
Growth 

Councillor Elizabeth Scott, Portfolio Holder for Economy and 
Partnerships 

Councillor John Shuttleworth, Portfolio Holder for Portfolio Holder 
for Rural Communities and Highways 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To seek approval from Cabinet to adopt a Road Safety Strategy 2022-
2032 embedding a strategic partnership approach to engage with all 
road user groups to promote safer use on our roads to better safeguard 
the county’s road users. 

2 To establish a reporting mechanism for the recording of casualties and 
associated interventions to reduce the impact that road traffic accidents 
have on society. 

Executive summary 

3 The strategy was produced to assist in the coordination of all road 
safety related activities to assist in the aims and objectives of the 
County Durham Vision 2035 and the Safer Durham Plan 2025. 

4 To establish a framework for the recording of all interventions that 
address casualty reduction and to provide partners with an annual 
performance plan linked to a County Durham and Darlington delivery 
plan. 

5 To establish a mechanism for all strategic partners to follow a 
collaborative, efficient and effective approach to casualty reduction. 

Page 113

Agenda Item 7



 

6 In County Durham total injuries have reduced by 36% in 2021 from the 
2017-19 average, however, fatal and serious injuries have only reduced 
by 2%. 

7 40% of all injuries in County Durham in 2021 had the failure to look 
properly named as a contributing factor to the collision, but in 2017-19, 
this was 51%. 

Recommendations 

8 Cabinet is recommended to: 
 

(a) note the report and authorise the implementation of the new Road 
Safety Strategy. 

 

  

Page 114



 

Background 

 
9 The previous road safety strategy has expired and was previously 

developed when the Department for Transport (DfT) issued highway 
authorities with casualty targets and provided additional funding to work 
towards meeting these targets. 
 

10 The previous strategy and delivery plan provided the County Durham 
and Darlington Casualty Reduction Forum (The Partnership) with 
specific road safety targets to meet, to address those issued by the DfT. 

11 The County Durham and Darlington Casualty Reduction Forum consists 
of partners from: 

 
(a)  Durham Constabulary; 

(b) Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service, 

(c) National Highways, 

(d) Darlington Council; and 

(e) Durham County Council. 

The aim of the Partnership is to assist in the coordinating of road safety 
interventions that improve the safety of residents, promote safer 
sustainable travel choices and educate road users as riders, drivers, 
passengers and pedestrians. 

12 Road casualty data was previously analysed on a yearly basis to 
establish partnership performance in respect of delivering programmes 
that are reducing casualties and improving safety. 

13 The delivery plan detailed the actions that partners were taking to 
improve safety, and this was used as a tool for evaluating performance 
and reporting to the Safer Durham Partnership and Scrutiny Committee 
on an annual basis. 

14 The previous strategy was delivered using a ‘Specific Road Safety 
Grant’ allocated to Durham County Council by the DfT. 

15 This grant ended and the central government road safety strategy was 
replaced with a Road Safety Statement without setting any specific 
performance targets or issuing any additional funding to aid delivery. 

16 The current Partnership continued to operate without an underpinning 
strategy to assist with the coordination and delivery of road safety 
interventions. 

Page 115



 

17 The Strategic Road Safety Partnership was established to provide a 
senior level reporting mechanism for delivery of interventions and 
allocation of resources.  This group requested that the Partnership 
develop a road safety strategy to assist with the coordination of all 
activities against an agreed delivery plan. 

18 A new strategy was produced prior to the national lockdown and a 
consultation exercise was undertaken. 

19 This exercise was delayed due to the pandemic and partners re-
evaluated delivery based on the difficulties faced because of Covid.  A 
high proportion of road safety education or training involved a 
community setting or face-to-face with groups or individuals.  Given the 
restrictions faced by delivering this model an alternative methodology 
for interventions has been developed.  This resulted in delays to 
publishing the strategy. 

The Strategy 

20 The strategy is based on the effective analysis of recorded injury 
collisions, underpinned with a delivery plan broken down into 
addressing safety amongst the following groups: 

• Children; 

• Older Road Users; 

• Pedestrians; 

• At Work Drivers; 

• Young Drivers; 

• Cyclists and Motorcyclists; 

• Car drivers and passengers. 

21 In addition to these key road user groups, there are a number of higher 
risk taking behaviours that contribute to the number and severity of 
people injured on our roads.  Therefore, the strategy looks to target the 
following areas: 
 

• Speeding; 

• Mobile phones; 

• Drink/Drug driving; 

• Seatbelts/Restraints. 

Page 116



 

22 The Partnership has been redefined to reflect this coordinated approach 
to delivering interventions.  The strategy focuses predominantly on the 
Education, Training and Publicity aspect of casualty reduction.  
However, to reflect the holistic approach to road safety, for recording 
and reporting purposes Engineering and Enforcement interventions 
have been included. 

Consultation 

23 A comprehensive countywide stakeholder / public consultation focused 
on seven key road user groups who have been identified as particularly 
at risk from injury in the development of the new road safety strategy. 
 
These include: 
 

• Younger drivers (age range) (17-24); 

• Older drivers (age range) (55+); 

• Children (age range) (0-16); 

• At work drivers; 

• Cyclist; 

• Motorcyclist; 

• Pedestrians. 

24 Opinions were sought from the wider public on the proposed approach 
to the Strategy, the main objectives of the Strategy being as follows: 

• to ensure there is a better coordinated approach amongst 

partners; 

• that, in working with our partners, we support each other in 

delivering schemes and projects; 

• we work together to devise interventions and implement a 

delivery plan, and that we can monitor frequently and evaluate 

success; 

• we can update and amend annual programmes and initiatives 

based on the evidence and data we collect; 

• have a delivery plan that details project actions against key road 

user groups. 

The consultation asked if it is right to focus on a co-ordinated, 
supportive partnership working approach and introduce a robust 
process to ensure actions are completed and outcomes as evaluated 

Page 117



 

and understood.  Also, if it is right to produce an annual review of road 
casualties to help determine future programmes of initiatives. 

25 There were 110 responses to the consultation, all of which have been 
assessed and the results of which have been fed into the development 
of the strategy. 

26 This consultation took place during the Covid pandemic and national 
and local lockdowns resulting in delays and a re-focus on delivery 
mechanisms.  The delays in delivering the strategy allowed road safety 
partners to re-evaluate delivery mechanisms in light on lockdown and 
distancing guidelines. 

27 Comments made in respect of the strategy have been taken into 
account and included: 

• a more holistic approach to casualty reduction with recording of 
engineering and enforcement schemes included in reporting; 

• the Road Safety Partnership to include engineering and 
enforcement groups as part of its delivery mechanism; 

• recording of all schemes that contribute to casualty reduction and 
safer roads; 

• inclusion of community groups to assist in delivery; 

• integration of education into other areas of casualty reduction; 

• closer working with other groups such as the Fire & Rescue 
service, and the British Horse Society to help disseminate 
information; 

• involvement of community fire stations to stage events; 

• link to wider strategies such as accident investigation and 
prevention, speed management etc; 

• cycle safety in schools; 

• general road safety in schools; 

• young driver and older driver training programmes; 

• setting of road safety targets. 

28 There was substantial support for the delivery of road safety and the 
identification of key road user groups. 

29 The recording and reporting of success, delivery and evaluation of 
interventions and the production of reports was supported. 

Page 118



 

30 A request was made to set ambitious casualty reduction targets.  This 
has not been included in this strategy but will be reviewed if the 
Government set wider road safety targets. 

31 Many responses focused on the delivery of traffic engineering schemes 
which fall outside the scope of the consultation and the strategy.  
However, by developing an education-based strategy this should result 
in safer road use by all. 

32 A response requested that the strategy needed to consider wider 
casualty reduction including engineering and wider enforcement 
strategies.  The strategy focuses on the delivery of education, training 
and publicity.  However, the Road Safety Partnership attendance has 
now been changed to record and monitor engineering/traffic schemes 
and those targeted enforcement campaigns.  Representatives from 
those sectors are now attending partnership meeting to report on their 
casualty reduction initiatives. 

Conclusion 

33 The production of a Road Safety Strategy that covers the County 
Durham and Darlington area enables all of our key strategic partners to 
work towards a common delivery plan. 
 

34 Having a robust mechanism for recording, evaluating and reporting 
casualty performance provides accountability to all partners involved in 
the collaborative approach to delivery. 

Appendices 

• Implications 

Background papers 

• Road Safety Strategy Jan 2022 

• Links to County Durham Vision 2035 - Actively take steps to 
encourage community cohesion by co-delivering services for the 
benefit of our residents. 

• Safer Durham Partnership Plan 2021-2025 – Strategic Priority 1 - 
Promote being safe and feeling safe in your community - targeted 
partnership approach to address those key road user groups 
over-represented in casualty statistics. 

Author 

Angela Redmond Tel: 03000 268168 

Page 119



 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Road Traffic Act 1988 (Section 39) requires local authorities in Great 
Britain to: 

• take steps both to reduce and prevent accidents 

• prepare and carry out a programme of measures designed to 
promote road safety 

• carry out studies into accidents arising out of the use of vehicles 
on roads or part of roads, other than trunk roads, within their area 

• take such measures as appear to the authority to be appropriate 
to prevent such accidents 

The Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 (Section 122) requires local 

authorities in Great Britain to: 

• to secure the expeditious, convenient and safe movement of 
vehicular and other traffic (including pedestrians) 

The Traffic Management Act 2004 (Section 16) requires local authorities in 

England and Wales to manage and maintain their road networks to: 

• secure the expeditious movement of traffic on, and the efficient 
use of, their road networks 

• avoid, eliminate or reduce road congestion or other disruption to 
the movement of traffic on their road network or a road network 
for which another authority is the traffic authority. 
Finance 

The Partnership will seek out opportunities to secure funding to enhance 
delivery. 

Finance 

None. 

Consultation 

A consultation exercise was undertaken 2020/21 the results of which are 

detailed in this report. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The strategy aims to address all road users equally. 

Page 120



 

Climate Change 

The strategy aims to ensure that it complements the Walking and Cycling 
strategy in the promotion of safe and sustainable modes of travel. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

The strategy contributes to reducing anti-social use of the road through 

enforcement activities. 

Staffing 

The strategy will be delivered using existing staff across the partnership area. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

Serious road traffic collisions attract significant media attention and the 
Council’s actions to reduce their occurrence comes under regular media 
scrutiny. 

If casualty numbers increase this may distract residents from adopting 
sustainable forms of travel if County Durham is perceived to be unsafe. 

Procurement 

The Partnership will follow all recognised procurement guidelines. 

 

 

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
  

 

 

County Durham & Darlington 
Road Safety Strategy 2022-2032 

 

Page 123



1 

 

Contents 
 

1. Introduction .................................................................................................... 2 

2. Strategy Objectives ....................................................................................... 2 

3. Strategy Benefits ........................................................................................... 2 

4. Approach to Road Safety Delivery ............................................................... 3 

5. Road Safety Partnerships ............................................................................. 5 

6. Legal Framework for Implementation of the Strategy ................................ 6 

7. Casualty Statistics ......................................................................................... 8 

8. The Value of Injury Prevention in County Durham and Darlington ......... 17 

9. Delivery Plan ................................................................................................ 18 

10. Annual Reporting ........................................................................................ 18 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 124



2 

 

 
1. Introduction 

 
1.1 This Road Safety Strategy has been developed in partnership between 

Durham County Council, Darlington Borough Council (the ‘Councils’), Durham 
Constabulary and County Durham & Darlington Fire & Rescue Service. It 
provides a delivery framework for maintaining and improving road safety in 
County Durham and Darlington. 

 
1.2 Road casualties have reduced in recent years which is to be welcomed. 

However, we need to continue to strive to reduce road casualties even further. 
Every fatality is a tragedy for the family and friends involved. Also, serious 
injuries can be life changing and far reaching in their consequences for the 
victim and their family and friends. 

 
1.3 The human cost of road casualties can never be fully quantified. However, 

using the Department for Transport’s methodology we can attach an economic 
cost of road casualties in County Durham and Darlington and this is estimated 
at £120million per annum which provides a further imperative to reduce road 
casualties. 

 
1.4 This annual figure is based on the cost of each road casualty classification as 

determined by the Department for Transport: 
 

• Fatal Collision 

• Serious Collision 

• Slight Collision 
 
1.5 The production of this Strategy provides all partners with a foundation from 

which road safety programmes can be designed, implemented and evaluated. 
 

2. Strategy Objectives 

2.1 The primary objectives of the Road Safety Strategy are: 
 

• Provide a coordinated approach to data led programmes of road 
safety work. 

• Aim to maintain a downward trend in casualties and severity across 
all road user groups. 

• Specifically target those road user groups over-represented in 
casualty statistics. 

• Improve the safety of all highway users. 

• Promote and encourage safer healthier modes of travel and 
contribute to carbon reduction and air quality, and 

• Reduce the burden that road casualties have on all agencies 
including the NHS. 
 

3. Strategy Benefits 

3.1 An effective Strategy can deliver significant benefits including: 
 

• Saving lives and preventing (often life-changing) injuries 

Page 125



3 

 

• Enabling people to live healthier and fuller lives 

• Preventing emotional and psychological trauma associated with 
being involved directly or indirectly in a road traffic collision 

• Saving a significant amount of public money 

• Reducing the burden on over-stretched public services, such as 
health and social care 

• Supporting other public policies, such as improving health by 
helping and encouraging people to walk and cycle in a safer and 
attractive environment 

• Helping to tackle health inequalities 

• Improving community cohesion and quality of life of all road 
users. 

• A reduction of the environmental impact that motorised vehicles 
have on air quality. 

 
4. Approach to Road Safety Delivery 

4.1 Our approach to maintaining and improving road safety is based on a 
traditional 4 ‘E’s’ approach: 

 

• Education  

• Engineering 

• Enforcement  

• Evaluation 
 
Education 
 
4.2 This aspect of the Strategy will be addressed by: 
 

• Targeted road safety education, training and campaigning in schools and 
colleges. 

• Delivering safety campaigns within communities and neighbourhoods. 

• Delivery of training schemes for vocational drivers including younger and 
older drivers. 

• Engaging with businesses to promote a safer road user culture. 

• Using a targeted approach to address the vulnerable road user population, 
and 

• Promoting safer road use through community events, social media and 
websites. 

 
Enforcement 
 
4.3 Enforcement plays a key role in changing the behaviour of the driving 

population to instill a responsible attitude to driving. This aspect of the 
Strategy will be achieved by: 

 

• Durham Constabulary enforcing road traffic law with particular regard to 
speeding, drink/drug driving, mobile phones when driving and seat 
belts/restraints also known as the Fatal 4. 

• Depriving criminals use of the road through intelligence led policing of 
uninsured vehicles and unlicensed and banned drivers. 

Page 126

http://www.rsa.ie/RSA/Road-Safety/Education/
http://www.rsa.ie/RSA/Professional-Drivers/Owners-and-managers/Road-haulage-enforcement/


4 

 

• Ensuring compliance with all legislation in respect of vehicles and drivers 
in the commercial sector. 

• Deterring illegal, dangerous and careless behaviour on the road. 

• Identifying known offenders. 

• Identifying the causation factors in crashes. 

• Helping to educate and change the attitudes and behaviour of road users 
through attendance on offender re-training courses. 

• Preventing other forms of crime, and 
• Identifying and removing dangerous vehicles. 

 
Engineering 
 
4.4 The delivery of quality infrastructure schemes that influences road user 

behaviour is a key aspect to sustained casualty reduction. This will be 
achieved by: 

 

• The analysis of casualty data to establish those locations that will benefit 
from infrastructure improvements. 

• The delivery of 20 mph projects in those communities where appropriate. 

• Implementing of low-level highway improvements and local safety 
schemes that encourage safer road use with particular reference to the 
vulnerable road user. 

• Evaluating new developments to ensure that their design promotes 
slower speeds and an appropriate road environment for all road users. 

• Implementation of safety audits. 

• Identifying proportionate and suitable strategies for reducing speeds and 
addressing community concerns. These include Community Speed 
Watch, Vehicle Activated Signs, and mobile speed enforcement. 

 
Evaluation 
 
4.5 The partners will continue to monitor and evaluate collision statistics to 

ensure that all interventions are data and intelligence led. 
  

4.6 Evaluation plays an integral part of this vision and Strategy and is 
integrated into every programme to establish the impact that the action 
has on casualty levels and road users. We will: 

 

• Undertake annual casualty analysis to identify appropriate interventions. 

• Measure the effectiveness of road safety initiatives through casualty 
data. 

• Monitor casualty data by key road user group, and 

• Record casualty data at an area level with particular reference to children 
and other vulnerable road users. 

 
4.7 This Strategy outlines how education, training and publicity is used to maintain 

and improve road safety in County Durham and Darlington. However, this is 
not done in isolation from engineering and enforcement programmes where 
education can play a significant role in complementing such activities. 

 
4.8 There is a correlation between the volume of traffic in the county as a whole 

and the number of accidents. The volume of traffic is driven by social economic 

Page 127

http://www.rsa.ie/RSA/Your-Vehicle/Vehicle-Standards/


5 

 

factors such as population and economic activity. This helps to underline that 
there is a road safety benefit from sustainable transport initiatives to 
encourage modal shift from cars to public transport, cycling and walking. 

 
5. Road Safety Partnerships 

 
5.1 Partnership working is a vital ingredient for a successful road safety 

Strategy to ensure a joined-up approach to road safety and to raise 
public awareness of road safety and sustainable transport. Road safety 
delivery agents, such as the Police, Fire and Rescue Services and 
Public Health agencies, all have a duty to help prevent road crashes 
and casualties. 
 

5.2 In terms of governance of the Strategy, there is a strategic group to 
oversee delivery of intervention programmes, and an operational group 
responsible for actual delivery, coordination, monitoring and evaluation 
of road safety performance. 
 

County Durham and Darlington Road Safety Partnership (Delivery Group) 
 
5.3 This partnership is responsible for the coordination and delivery of road 

safety initiatives and projects aimed at encouraging safer road user 
behaviour and is made up of delivery representatives from the following 
organisations: 

 

• Durham County Council. 

• Durham Constabulary. 

• Durham Police, Crime and Victim’s Commissioner’s Office. 

• County Durham Fire & Rescue Service. 
• Highways England, and 

• Public Health 
 

County Durham and Darlington Strategic Road Safety Partnership 
 

5.4 This partnership is responsible for providing strategic direction, 
performance monitoring and resource allocation to the County Durham 
and Darlington Road Safety Partnership. The partnership consists of 
senior and strategic representatives from the organisations 
represented in the delivery group. 

 
 
 
Road Safety Great Britain – North East 
 

5.5  Road Safety Great Britain North East (RSGB NE) is a regional casualty 
reduction partnership involving: 

 

• 12 Local Authorities,  

• 3 Police Forces,  

• 4 Fire and Rescue Teams and  

• Highways England.  
 

Page 128



6 

 

5.6 The remit of RSGB NE is to disseminate publicity and marketing to the 
whole NE region to promote safer road use. Staff from the delivery 
group represent the sub-region at RSGB NE meetings to demonstrate 
that a coordinated approach is taken when addressing road safety, 
 

5.7 The partnership will continue to work with and support RSGB NE in the 
delivery of their campaigns and activities. 

 
5.8 In addition, any national road safety campaigns delivered by the 

Department for Transport or via colleagues in the emergency services, 
will be supported by the partnership. 

 
Partnership Expansion and Development 
 
5.9 A key element of the Strategy is to establish a methodology for 

engaging with existing and new partners and ensuring that training 
opportunities, education initiatives and publicity messages are 
cascaded to the widest possible audience. 

 
5.10 To deliver the Strategy the partnership will strive to enhance working 

with all agencies with an interest in casualty reduction including: 
 

• Emergency Services 

• Public Health 

• Community Groups 

• Educational Establishments 

• Businesses 

• Third Sector/voluntary 

• Charities 

• Bespoke interest groups. 
 

5.11 In County Durham the work of the delivery partnership will feed into the 
wide Safer Durham Partnership for monitoring and reporting purposes. 

 
5.12 By way of development of the existing delivery group, work will 

encompass that of other agencies, and, through annual reporting and 
monitoring, engineering and enforcement schemes will be recorded 
against casualty targets in the production of annual reports.  

 
6. Legal Framework for Implementation of the Strategy 

6.1 While central government sets the regulatory framework for roads, vehicles 
and road users, and national road safety strategies, road safety delivery 
occurs primarily at the local level with Local Government being the lead 
delivery agent, working in partnership with many other agencies and 
stakeholders, predominantly with emergency services colleagues. 

6.2 Local authorities have various statutory duties related to road safety: 
 
The Road Traffic Act 1988 (Section 39) requires local authorities in Great 
Britain to: 
 

▪ Take steps both to reduce and prevent accidents. 

Page 129



7 

 

▪ Prepare and carry out a programme of measures designed to promote 
road safety. 

▪ Carry out studies into accidents arising out of the use of vehicles on 
roads or part of roads, other than trunk roads, within their area. 

▪ Take such measures as appear to the authority to be appropriate to 
prevent such accidents. 
 

The Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 (Section 122) requires local authorities 
in Great Britain to: 
 

▪ To secure the expeditious, convenient and safe movement of vehicular 
and other traffic (including pedestrians) 
 

The Traffic Management Act 2004 (Section 16) requires local authorities in 
England and Wales to manage and maintain their road networks to: 
 

▪ Secure the expeditious movement of traffic on, and the efficient use of, 
their road networks. 

▪ Avoid, eliminate, or reduce road congestion or other disruption to the 
movement of traffic on their road network or a road network for which 
another authority is the traffic authority. 

 
The Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 sets out the responsibilities of Fire 
and Rescue Authorities (FRAs). 
 
There are four key responsibilities for FRAs that they must ensure that they 
make provision for including: 
 

• Extinguishing fires in their area 

• Protecting life and property in the event of fires in their area 

• Rescuing and protecting people in the event of a road traffic collision, 
and 

• Rescuing and protecting people in the event of other emergencies. 
 
FRAs also need to collect information to assess risk in their areas as well as 
protect the health and safety of their workers. The Fire and Rescue Services 
Act 2004 also gives the Government responsibility for producing the Fire and 
Rescue National Framework which outlines the Government's high-level 
priorities and objectives for FRAs in England. The National Framework's 
priorities for FRAs are to: 
 

• Identify and assess the full range of foreseeable fire and rescue related 
risks their areas face, make provision for prevention and protection 
activities and respond to incidents appropriately. 

• Work in partnership with their communities and a wide range of partners 
locally and nationally to deliver their service, and 

• Be accountable to communities for the service they provide. 
 
Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue are a key emergency services partner 
in the delivery of road safety programmes. 
 
6.4 In terms of the Police, The National Police Chiefs' Council takes 

responsibility for the writing and dissemination of policies in respect of 

Page 130



8 

 

road safety, casualty reduction, policing of traffic, drugs, alcohol and 
victim support. Other policies are determined by the chief constable. 

 
7. Casualty Statistics   

7.1 Collision data and the associated injuries are recorded by Durham 
Constabulary onto STATS 19 and reported to Durham County Council 
and Darlington Borough Council for recording, analysis and monitoring 
purposes. 

 
7.2 There are some factors, some positive and some negative, that affect 

road safety that are largely outside of the influence of the partners and 
these include: 

 

• Traffic volumes; and 

• Improvements in motor vehicle safety; and  

• Costs of car ownership. 
 
7.3 For the purposes of the Strategy casualties will be reported across the 

Durham Constabulary area (County Durham and Darlington Councils) and 
individually for local reporting as Durham County Council and Darlington 
Borough Council. 

 
  

Page 131



9 

 

All Casualties by Severity in the Durham Constabulary Area (County Durham 
and Darlington.) 

7.4 The following table details road casualties by severity over the last 10 
years as reported by Durham Constabulary: 

 

Casualty Severity 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Fatal 16 19 27 34 20 26 24 19 11 21 20 

Serious 201 213 206 207 188 218 193 227 204 261 180 

Slight 1827 1757 1655 1453 1699 1272 1254 1279 1127 868 608 

Total 2044 1989 1888 1694 1907 1516 1471 1525 1342 1150 808 
 

Note – the 2020 casualty figures were collated during Covid-19 Pandemic and 
reflect a significant reduction in traffic volumes. 
 

 
 
 
 
County Durham Casualties by Severity 2010 – 2020 
 

Casualty Severity 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Fatal 14 19 24 28 17 26 21 18 9 19 19 

Serious 170 177 174 172 165 186 157 183 154 214 152 

Slight 1524 1459 1346 1168 1403 1030 998 1049 919 702 497 

Total  1708 1655 1544 1368 1585 1242 1176 1250 1082 935 668 

 
Note – the 2020 casualty figures were collated during Covid-19 Pandemic and 
reflect a significant reduction in traffic volumes. 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

2000

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Total Casualties - County Durham and Darlington 
2010-2020

Fatal Serious Slight

Page 132



10 

 

 
 
 
Darlington Casualties by Severity 2010 – 2020 
 

Casualty Severity 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Fatal 2 0 3 6 3 0 3 1 2 2 1 

Serious 31 36 32 35 23 32 36 44 50 47 28 

Slight 298 298 309 285 296 242 256 230 208 166 111 

 Total 331 334 344 326 322 274 295 275 260 215 140 

 
Note – the 2020 casualty figures were collated during Covid-19 Pandemic and 
reflect a significant reduction in traffic volumes. 
 

 
 
  

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Total Casualties - County Durham 2010-2020

Fatal Serious Slight

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Total Casualties - Darlington 2010-2020

Fatal Serious Slight

Page 133



11 

 

7.5 In the last 10 years Durham County Council and Darlington Borough 
Council has overseen: 

 
• A 59% reduction in all recorded injury collisions; 
• A 15% reduction in serious injuries; and   
• A 65% reduction in slight recorded injuries  

this compares the date between 2011-2020 
 
 
7.6 Whilst these figures are encouraging, we must not be complacent as 

we strive to achieve further casualty reduction gains. By continued 
strategic working with our partners in a targeted and intelligence led 
approach, we will endeavour to maintain the downward trend of 
casualties on the highway network in County Durham and Darlington. 

 
Fatal Injury Collisions 

 
7.7 Fatal injury collisions continue to be an area for concern and every 

fatality is one too many. The Council will continue to investigate the 
circumstances involved in all fatalities and identify appropriate 
engineering, enforcement and education solutions. 

 
Note – the 2020 casualty figures were collated during Covid-19 Pandemic and 
reflect a significant reduction in traffic volumes. 
 

 
 
 
Serious Injury Collisions 
 
7.8 Serious injuries have not shown the same level of decline as other 

injury classes. The Councils are committed to reducing levels and 
improve this trend through targeted interventions. 

 
  

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Fatal Injury Collisions 2010-2020 
(County Durham and Darlington.)

Page 134



12 

 

 
Note – the 2020 casualty figures were collated during Covid-19 Pandemic and 

reflect a significant reduction in traffic volumes. 
 

 
 

 
Slight Injury Collisions 
 
7.9 The 65% reduction in slight injuries is encouraging however there is still 

work to be done and we will continue to target road safety delivery in 
those communities where casualties continue to be a concern. 
 

 
  

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Serious Injury Collisions 2010-2020 
(County Durham and Darlington.)

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

2000

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Slight Injury Collisions 2010-2020 
(County Durham and Darlington.)

Page 135



13 

 

 
Casualties by Road User Group 
 
7.10 The following table details how County Durham and Darlington’s 2010-

2020 road casualties are split by road user group: 
 

Road User Group Percentage 

Car 64% 

Bus, Minibus or Coach 6% 

Goods Vehicle 4% 

Motorcycle 7% 

Pedal Cycle 6% 

Pedestrian 12% 

Other 1% 

 

 
7.11 There is a significant amount of work required to address casualties 

involving car drivers and passengers. This is referenced in the delivery 
plan. 

 

7.12 This Strategy will provide a focus on those areas where the risk is 
greatest and where our vulnerable road users are over-represented in 
casualty data. 

 
Causation Factors 
 
7.13 The principle causes of injury collisions in the County Durham and 

Darlington partnership area in the last 10 years are listed below: 
 
 

Causation Factor Percentage 

Fail to Look 47% 

Speeding 17% 

Drink / Drug Driving 16% 

Distraction 5% 

No Seatbelt 5% 

Other 10% 

 
7.14 There is merit in concentrating on addressing observational skills 

amongst all road users in order to address the impact that ‘fail to look’ 
causation factors have on almost half of all injury collisions. 

 
  

Page 136



14 

 

Casualty Age Groups 
 

Casualty Age Group Percentage 

Under 17 13% 

17-24 21% 

25-34 19% 

35-44 14% 

45-54 14% 

55-64 9% 

Over 64 10% 

 
7.15 An area where the partnership will concentrate initiative on is the 

younger and novice driver. A third of all injury collisions involve a 
person under 25 years old. These casualties are predominantly as 
drivers and passengers. 

 
Fatal 4 
 
7.16 The fatal four are a series of risk-taking behaviours the most common 

causes of road accidents that can often result in serious injuries and 
fatalities. 

  

Causation Factor Percentage 

Fail to Look 48% 

Speeding 17% 

Drink / Drug Driving 8% 

Distraction 5% 

 
 
Child Casualties 
 
7.17 Child casualties, as vulnerable road users, continue to be a key target 

group in County Durham and Darlington.  
 
7.18 A considerable amount of effort and resources are allocated to 

protecting children and to encourage safer road use. The Councils, and 
their partners, will continue to develop schemes that directly engage 
with pupils and parents to help formulate positive actions and attitudes 
to road safety. 

 
 
  

Page 137



15 

 

Note – the 2020 casualty figures were collated during Covid-19 Pandemic and 
reflect a significant reduction in traffic volumes. 

 
County Durham and Darlington Child Casualties 2010-2020 
  

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Fatal 0 1 1 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Serious 20 27 21 30 26 25 22 23 21 39 16 

Slight 201 208 192 144 255 137 176 147 132 76 67 

Total 221 236 214 175 281 163 198 170 153 115 84 

 

 
 

County Durham Child Casualties 2010 – 2020 
  

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Fatal 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Serious 18 23 18 24 24 23 18 18 16 34 14 

Slight 167 176 147 110 228 105 149 123 104 61 53 

Total 185 200 166 134 252 129 167 141 120 95 68 
 

 
 

Darlington Child Casualties 2010 – 2020 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Child Casualties 2010-2020 
County Durham and Darlington

Fatal Serious Slight

0

50

100

150

200

250

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Child Casualties 2010-2020
County Durham

Fatal Serious Slight

Page 138



16 

 

  
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Fatal 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Serious 2 4 3 6 2 2 4 5 5 5 2 

Slight 34 32 45 34 27 32 27 24 28 15 14 

Total 36 36 48 41 29 34 31 29 33 20 16 

 
 

 
 
Factors influencing crash severity and occurrence 

 
7.19 Road traffic collisions resulting in injury can occur in a number of areas. 

This Strategy aims to try and educate road users to address some of the 
key factors that can influence behaviour and attitude to safety: 

 
▪ Inappropriate and excessive speed 
▪ Presence of alcohol, medicinal or recreational drugs as a 

driver/pedestrian. 
▪ Driver/rider fatigue 
▪ Failure to look properly as a driver/rider and pedestrian 
▪ Failure to wear a seatbelt or use a suitable restraint 
▪ Being a young male driver with passengers in vehicle 
▪ Being a vulnerable road user i.e. a cyclist, young person older road 

user in urban and residential areas 
▪ Travelling in the hours or darkness, particularly as a young/novice 

driver 
▪ Helmet not worn as a cyclist or powered two-wheeler 
▪ Poor vehicle maintenance 
▪ Poor eyesight of road users 

 
  

0

10

20

30

40

50

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Child Casualties 2010-2020 
Darlington

Fatal Serious Slight

Page 139



17 

 

8. The Value of Injury Prevention in County Durham and Darlington 

 
8.1 The Department for Transport place a society cost of collisions and 

casualties. The values for the prevention of fatal, serious and slight 
casualties include the following elements of cost:  

• Loss of output due to injury. This is calculated as the present 
value of the expected loss of earnings, plus non-wage payments 
made by employers.  

• Ambulance costs and the costs of hospital treatment.  

• The human costs of casualties.  These are based on willingness 
to pay to avoid pain, grief and suffering to the casualty, relatives 
and friends, as well as intrinsic loss of enjoyment of life in the 
case of fatalities. 

 
The average value of preventing a fatal accident is greater than the 
value of preventing a fatality. This applies for each level of severity.  
This is for two reasons, the first being that an injury accident is classified 
according to the most severe casualty but will on average involve more 
than one casualty. 
 
For example, in 2012 a fatal accident on average involved 1.07 
fatalities, 0.29 serious casualties and 0.43 slight casualties.  
 
The second reason is that there are some costs which are part of the 
valuation of an injury accident but which are not specific to casualties.  
These are:  

• Costs of damage to vehicles and property.  

• Police costs and administrative costs of accident insurance. 
 
8.2 The average cost for of each casualty, based on 2020 figures reported 

be the Department for Transport [DfT] is detailed below: 
 
 

    2020 

Accident/casualty type Cost per casualty Cost per accident 

Fatal £1,930,329 £2,120,669 

Serious £216,915 £246,109 

Slight £16,722 £24,960 

Average for all severities £75,711 £101,415 

Damage only - £2,303 

 
The number of reported road accidents were based on national 2020 data 
including 2020 prices and values. 
 
  

Page 140



18 

 

8.3 The total cost of all injuries and collisions in County Durham and 
Darlington in 2020 was as follows: 

 

 Casualties 
Cost 

£’000s 
Collisions 

Cost 

£’000s 

Killed 21 40,536 19 40,292 

Seriously Injured 261 56,614 152 37,408 

Slightly Injured 868 14,514 428 10,682 

Total 1,150 111,664 599 88,382 

 
8.4 This Strategy aims to further reduce the financial burden that is placed 

on society as a result of road traffic collisions that result in injury. 
 
9. Delivery Plan 

9.1 The Strategy relies on a coordinated approach to deliver a safer 
environment where key road user groups and risk-taking behaviours 
will be addressed through the delivery plan. See Appendix 1. 

9.2 The following Delivery plan details some of the key activities and 
interventions targeted at specific road user groups and will be 
implemented over a three-year period from 2021-2024. 

 
9.3 How success will be achieved 

• Working in partnership and using the different strengths of agencies to 
provide a co-ordinated approach to delivery of road safety. 

• Data analysis of road traffic collisions. 

• Behaviour change is a key element of the success of the Strategy and 
our programmes will focus on the psychological aspect of changing road 
user behaviour. 

• Communication and use of social media are fundamental to the Strategy 
and having a strong focus on the use of these tools will ensure that 
messages are communicated to the widest possible audience. 

• Having enforcement campaigns backed with education programmes can 
deliver significant wider casualty benefits. 

 
10. Annual Reporting 

10.1 Annual reports will be issued to all partners detailing the performance of the 
partnership in respect of meeting the delivery plan and addressing the safety 
of key road safety groups. This report will include evidence of the following: 

 

• Number of schools or colleges visited, and audience reach. 

• Number of children trained. 

• Number and detail of campaigns delivered, and reach. 

• Number of community/neighbourhood events and reach. 

• Number of clients attending offender retraining schemes by course type 
offered by the police. 

• Number of local safety and other engineering schemes delivered. 

• The casualty performance against all injury classifications. 

Page 141



19 

 

1. County Durham and Darlington Delivery Plan 2022-2025           APPENDIX 1 
 1.1 Children 1.2 Older Road Users 1.3 Pedestrians 1.4 At Work Drivers 1.5 Car Drivers/Passengers 1.6 Two-Wheelers 1.7 Young Drivers 

 
 

Strategic 
Aim 

 

 
All children using the roads in 
the County Durham and 
Darlington to do so in an 
environment where road traffic 
does not cause distress, 
distraction or danger. 
 
Through active engagement 
children and parents to receive, 
training, education, 
encouragement, information 
and resources that encourage 
safe and active travel. 

 
To improve the safety and 
independence of all older road 
users as pedestrians, passengers, 
drivers and riders. 
 
 

 
Reducing the fear and barriers 
experienced by pedestrians in 
using the highway network. 
 
To improve safety and increase 
accessibility for all pedestrians. 
 
To educate, engage and 
encourage safer choices when 
using the road network. 
Highlight the vulnerability and  
the importance of pedestrian 
safety to the driving population. 

 
To reduce the impact that ‘at 
work’ collisions have on both 
company business and the 
strategic road network. 
 
To encourage businesses to 
adopt policies procedures and 
training that improve safety and 
compliance with health and 
safety legislation.  

 
To create a safer environment 
for drivers and passengers 
through the promotion of safer 
speeds, seatbelt wearing and 
discouraging risk taking 
behaviour. 
 
Encourage all drivers to share 
road space responsibly with 
other road users with particular 
reference to the vulnerable road 
user. 
 

 
To reduce and highlight the 
vulnerability of riders of powered 
two wheelers and cyclists on the 
road network. 
 
 
To encourage safe riding practices 
to all riders through education, 
training and encouragement. 
 
Encourage other road users to 
share the road space responsibly. 
 

 
To reduce the unacceptable 
levels of death and serious injury 
faced by young/inexperienced 
drivers on our roads. 
 
To encourage safer driving 
practices amongst young drivers 
through education, training and 
encouragement, particularly in 
respect of the fatal four risk 
taking behaviours and the impact 
that peer pressure has on a 
driver. 

 
 
 
 
 

What we 
know 

 
 
There has been excellent 
progress both locally and 
nationally in reducing child 
casualties. 
 
However, children are still one of 
the most important groups to 
focus road safety work on and 
represent 14% of all injuries. 
Children from disadvantaged 
backgrounds pose a higher road 
safety risk than those from more 
affluent areas. 

 
 
Whilst statistically older people 
are amongst the safest road 
users, the number of injuries has 
not decreased at as fast a rate as 
for other age groups over recent 
years. 
 
With an aging population, older 
road user injuries will become 
more of an issue in the future. 
They currently represent 9% of 
all injury collisions. 

 
 
After car occupants, pedestrians 
are the largest casualty group.  
This is especially clear in town 
centres and other urban areas. 
 
Two of the biggest causes 
around pedestrian injuries are 
the pedestrian themselves failing 
to look properly and being 
impaired by alcohol. 
 
Pedestrian represent 
approximately 12% of all injury 
collisions. 

 
 
Two in five injuries were from 
collisions that involved a vehicle 
that was either commuting or 
driving for work. 
 
Given that business travel only 
accounts for 9% of miles 
travelled it accounts for a far 
higher number of casualties than 
we would expect. 

 
 
Car passengers and drivers 
provide the greatest challenge 
and numbers involved in 
collisions. 
 
The Fatal 4 and observational 
causation factors play a 
significant part in a high 
percentage of collisions. 
 
Drivers and passengers 
represent 65% of all reported 
injuries in County Durham and 
Darlington. 

 
 
Whilst there has been a lot of good 
work done to reduce motorcyclist 
and cyclist injuries around the 
country, motorcyclists still account 
for some of the highest rates of 
casualties per mile travelled. 
 
Many incidents involve loss of 
control or an observation-based 
collision where the riser simply 
hasn’t been seen by the driver. 
 
Riders represent 13% of all injuries. 
 

 
 
Regionally and locally road traffic 
collisions are still one of the 
leading causes of death for this 
age group. 
 
Locally, young drivers are the 
most likely age group to be both 
involved and injured in a collision 
despite making up one of the 
smallest proportions of licence 
holders. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

What we 
will do 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

• Promote safer road user 
behaviour through social 
media. 

• Highlight to drivers the 
‘Look Out for Each Other’ 
message. 

• Promote the ‘Be safe be 
seen’ message during dark 
nights. 

• Implement the Junior Road 
Safety Officer scheme. 

• Where required deliver 
school gate parking 
campaigns and 
programmes. 

• Deliver child pedestrian 
training where required. 

• Deliver Bikeability cycle 
training scheme. 
 

• Promote Safer Driving with 
Age courses across the 
County Durham and 
Darlington region. 

• Highlight the health issues 
associated with an ageing 
driver population through 
community events. 

• Identify opportunities to 
deliver partnership events 
that encourages 
independence. 

• Highlight the impact that 
prescription drugs can have 
on driving ability. 

• Highlight the vulnerability of 
age and its effect on road 
user ability. 

• Promote safer road user 
behaviour through social 
media. 

• Highlight to drivers the 
‘Look Out for Each Other’ 
message. 

• Highlight to pedestrians 
their vulnerability, 
particularly around the 
night-time economy. 

• Highlight to drivers the need 
to look out for pedestrians 
under the influence of 
alcohol. 

• Promote the benefits of 
slower speeds in 
neighbourhoods, schools 
and shopping areas. 
 

• Promote safer road user 
behaviour with specific 
reference to mobile phones, 
seatbelts, distractions, 
speeding etc. 

• Encourage business to 
engage/invest/promote 
driver training. 

• Highlight to drivers the 
‘Look Out for Each Other’ 
message. 

• Encourage businesses to 
sign up for Highway England 
‘Driving for Better Business’ 

• Assist companies in the 
development of work-
related road safety policies 
and training. 

• Promote safer road user 
behaviour through social 
media. 

• Highlight to drivers and 
riders the ‘Look Out for Each 
Other’ message. 

•  Encourage seatbelt/child 
restraint wearing. 

• Delivery of child seat fitting 
workshops. 

• Development of parent road 
safety classes in partnership 
with Public Health and 
emergency services 
partners. 

• Promote safer road user 
behaviour through social 
media. 

• Highlight to drivers and riders 
the ‘Look Out for Each Other’ 
message. 

• Rural riding campaigns aimed 
at leisure bikers supported by 
Highways England resources. 

• Erection of biker warning signs 
at key locations across County 
Durham and Darlington. 

• Lower power machines – 
highlight the benefits of safety 
clothing, gloves, helmet etc.  

• Promote the health and 
environmental benefits of 
cycling. 

• Highlight ‘close pass’ 
initiatives. 

• Highlight the benefits of 
protective clothing and cycle 
helmet wearing. 

• Promote safer road user 
behaviour through social 
media. 

• Highlight the Fatal 4 and the 
impact that risk taking 
behaviour has on young 
drivers. 

• Encourage further training. 

• Promote attendance at 
young person/driver and 
rider events. 

• Deliver events in 
communities to highlight the 
vulnerability of young 
drivers. 

• Attendance at events using 
the driving simulator. 

• Engagement with Modern 
Apprentices in industry and 
businesses with a 
development programme. 

Links to • County Durham Vision 2035  - Actively take steps to encourage community cohesion by co-delivering services for the benefit of our residents. 

• Safer Durham Partnership Plan 2021-2025 – Strategic Priority 1 - Promote being safe and feeling safe in your community - targeted partnership approach to address those key road user groups over-represented in casualty statistics. 

P
age 142



20 

 

 

2. Fatal 4 Road User Behaviours – Delivery Plan 2022-2025 
 2.1 Speed 2.2 Drink/Drugs 2.3 Distraction 2.4 Seatbelts/Restraints 

 
 
 

Strategic 
Aim 

 
 
 

 
Reduce the impact that inappropriate/excess speed has on 
communities. 
 
Achieve habitual compliance through encouragement, 
education and enforcement. 
 
 

 
Reduce the serious harm and trauma caused by drivers 
under the influence of drink and drugs. 
 
Achieve habitual compliance through encouragement, 
education and enforcement. 
 

 
Reduce the impact that distraction/inattention has on all 
road users. 
 
Achieve habitual compliance through encouragement, 
education and enforcement. 

 
To reduce the impact that non-seatbelt wearing has upon 
the survivability and severity of injuries sustained in road 
traffic collisions. 
 
Achieve habitual compliance through encouragement, 
education and enforcement. 

 
 
 
 
 

What we 
know 

Most people, on most roads, most of the time do not break 
the speed limit.  This is a marked change from 15 years ago 
when the Department for the Environment, Transport and 
the Regions stated that around two thirds of people 
regularly exceeded 30mph urban speed limits. 
 
However, whilst things have come a long way, excessive 
and illegal speeding still accounts for 17% of injuries on the 
roads in County Durham and Darlington areas.  
 
Evidence suggests that a 1mph reduction in average speeds 
results in an average 5% reduction in collisions. 
 
 

Drink driving is an issue that has not gone away, despite the 
amount of work that has been done on it over the last 50 
years. 
 
On our roads there are still around 8% of people injured 
from collisions that involve a drink/drug driver or as a 
pedestrian. 
 
Drug driving is a relatively newer issue, with the recent 
change in the enforcement law making it much easier to 
detect and prosecute. 
 
Different drugs impair driving in different ways, for 
example, cannabis slows a person’s reaction times, while 
cocaine leads to over-confidence. 

Distraction is a growing issue for drivers given the 
proliferation of ways to become distracted while driving 
over the last 20 years. 
 
While the older issue of talking on a mobile phone while 
driving is still relevant, a more dangerous trend has been 
using a phone for texting and social media while driving, 
which not only takes attention away from the road (as 
when making a phone call), but also takes people’s eyes 
away from the road as well. 
 
People using a phone while driving are around four times 
more likely to be involved in a collision and show similar 
reaction times to drink drivers. 
 
Observational based causation factors account for almost 
50% of all injuries.  

There is decades of evidence that wearing a seatbelt while 
in a vehicle will reduce the risk of death or serious injury.   
 
Despite this, there are still around 5% of people injured on 
County Durham and Darlington roads who were not 
wearing a seatbelt. 
 
In a collision, a person is twice as likely to die when not 
wearing a seatbelt, with young people having the lowest 
seatbelt wearing rates combined with the highest casualty 
rate.  There is evidence that people are less likely to wear 
seatbelts on short or familiar journeys, but the data shows 
that these are the types of journey that people are most 
likely to be injured whilst making. 

 
 
 
 
 

What we 
will do 

 

• Promote the benefits of slower speeds in respect 
of compliance with the law, fuel savings, and the 
contribution to safer communities. 

• Highlight the dangers of illegal and inappropriate 
speed in communities and on rural roads and the 
risk of injury and harm. 

• Deliver key messages to Modern Apprentices in 
industry and in businesses. 

• Highlight the impact that speeding and penalty 
points has on a young/novice driver. 

• Discourage speeding at pre-driver and young 
driver events. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

• Promote the safety benefits of compliance with 
the law and choosing alternative and safer travel 
choices. 

• Highlight the dangers of driving while under the 
influence of drink/drugs – illegal and prescribed. 

• Deliver key messages to Modern Apprentices in 
industry and in businesses. 

• Highlight the impact that peer pressure has on 
driving ability. 

• Discourage drink/drug driving at pre-driver and 
young driver events. 

 

 

• Promote the benefits of compliance with the law, 
reducing risk and encouraging safer driver 
behaviour that contributes to safer communities. 

• Highlight the danger of driving while distracted 
whether through mobile phones, carrying 
passengers, music, outside the vehicle influences 
or peer pressure. 

• Deliver key messages to Modern Apprentices in 
industry and in businesses. 

• Discourage distraction driving at pre-driver and 
young driver events. 

 

• Promote the benefits of wearing seatbelts and the 
impact that peer pressure has on car occupants. 

• Highlight the danger of driving while not wearing a 
seatbelt or carrying adult passengers not wearing 
seatbelts, or children inappropriately restrained. 

• Deliver key messages to Modern Apprentices in 
industry and in businesses. 

• Promote seatbelt wearing through pre-driver and 
young driver events. 

Links to • County Durham Vision 2035  - Actively take steps to encourage community cohesion by co-delivering services for the benefit of our residents. 

• Safer Durham Partnership Plan 2021-2025 – Strategic Priority 1 - Promote being safe and feeling safe in your community - targeted partnership approach to address those key road user groups over-represented in casualty statistics. 

 

P
age 143



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Cabinet 

  12 October 2022 

Health and Wellbeing Board Annual 

Report 2021-22 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Jane Robinson, Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services 

John Pearce, Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s 

Services 

Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health County Durham 

Cllr Chris Hood, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Adult and Health 

Services  

Cllr Ted Henderson, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children and 

Young People’s Services 

Electoral divisions affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to present Cabinet with the Health and 
Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2021-22 (Appendix 2) for endorsement. 

Executive summary 

2 The annual report outlines the work carried out which has been led and 
supported by the HWB during 2021-22 which has impacted positively on 
the strategic priorities detailed in the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy 2021-25 (JHWS). The priorities, based on evidence from the 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA), informs partners planning, 
policy and commissioning decisions, which enables us to continue to 
work to improve health and wellbeing services to all sections of the 
population countywide.  

3 The Covid-19 pandemic has adversely affected the health and 
wellbeing of our population and increased health inequalities. The 
partnership response during these challenging times was particularly 
strong and there are positive lessons, practices, and collaborative 
experiences to build on, enabling the HWB to confidently address some 
of the future challenges we face over the forthcoming year and beyond.  

Page 145

Agenda Item 8

https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/JointHealthAndWellbeingStrategy.pdf
https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/JointHealthAndWellbeingStrategy.pdf


 

 

Recommendations 

4 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) note the work that has taken place in 2021-22 by the Health and 
Wellbeing Board; 

(b) endorse the Health and Wellbeing Annual Report 2021-22. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 146



 

 

Background 

5 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 required all upper tier local 
authorities to establish Health and Wellbeing Boards.  The County 
Durham Health and Wellbeing Board was formally established as a 
committee of Durham County Council (DCC) in April 2013. 

6 This is the seventh Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report, which 
outlines the key achievements of the Board during its ninth year of 
operation. The last HWB annual report was produced for 2018/19, there 
were no reports produced for 2019/20 or 2020/21 due to pressures of 
the pandemic response. 

7 The annual report includes examples of work the HWB has undertaken, 
or supported, during the past 12 months which delivers against the 
strategic priorities detailed in the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
2021-25; and includes several case studies which show how the work of 
the HWB, and its sub-groups has impacted on people’s lives.  It also 
specifies the future challenges the HWB faces over the forthcoming 
year. 

8 The HWB continues to receive progress updates on Health and Social 
Care Integration, the Integrated Care System and on joint health and 
social care planning and commissioning activity and performance 
through the Better Care Fund. This includes receiving updates on the 
County Durham Place Based Commissioning and Delivery Plan 2020-
25, which sets out the health and care commissioning and delivery 
intentions for the lifetime of the population of County Durham from 
Starting Well, through Living Well, to Ageing Well. 

9 At its meeting on 28th September 2022, the Health and Wellbeing Board 
elected Cllr Chris Hood, Portfolio Holder for Adult and Health Services 
as its chair. Cllr Paul Sexton was Chair of the HWB from May 2021 to 
August 2022.  

What has happened in the past 12 months 

10 The Covid-19 pandemic is one of the greatest public health challenges 
in living memory, with significant repercussions for health and wellbeing 
and as such has been at the forefront of the HWB agenda for the last 
two years.  

11 The HWB has overseen a Local Covid-19 Outbreak Management Plan 
(LOMP) which sets out our plan to protect our local communities by 
preventing and controlling transmission of Covid-19. The plan includes 
provision of clear prevention messages, rapid detection, and 
management of outbreaks, working with various settings to implement 
appropriate infection control measures and developing and applying 

Page 147



 

 

intelligence, including the knowledge and insight provided by our 
communities.  

12 The HWB has functioned as our Member led Local Outbreak 
Engagement Board to support and coordinate the ongoing response to 
Covid-19; utilise the Approach to Wellbeing Principles; and support local 
communities to understand the issues, provide a forum to ask questions 
and influence how recovery is planned at a local level.  

13 The County Durham Approach to Wellbeing has been adopted by the 
Health and Wellbeing Board as a means of ensuring all organisations 
and services within the county consider wellbeing as a common 
currency; it includes everything that is important to people and their 
lives. It is designed to ensure we involve people in decisions that affect 
them and devolve power to people, and the act of doing so, then has an 
impact on people’s wellbeing. This will invoke a culture where the 
wellbeing of the County’s residents is considered in every decision that 
is made whether this be regarding decisions about people or places, or 
the systems designed to support them. It is aligned to the County 
Durham Vision 2035.  

14 In June 2019 it was announced that County Durham will be part of a 
North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care System (ICS), a 
collaboration of existing NHS commissioners and providers, as well as 
partners, working together to drive improvements in health, wealth, and 
wellbeing.  

15 Over the last 18 months the HWB has been cited on these plans as 
they have developed and from July 2022 an Integrated Care Board 
(ICB) became the statutory NHS organisation replacing the 8 CCGs in 
the ICS, taking on their responsibilities to plan and deliver healthcare 
across 13 local authority (‘place’) areas. The ICB will delegate many of 
its functions to ‘place’ level. An Integrated Care Partnership of the ICB 
with local authorities will be responsible for developing an Integrated 
Care Strategy built up from the needs assessment from each of the 13 
Places.  

16 The ICB is now a key member of the Health and Wellbeing Board and 
the HWB will work closely with the ICB and its place-based teams as it 
has done with CCGs. 

17 The following sections give examples of initiatives which have taken 
place to achieve the strategic objectives in the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 2021-25. 

All priorities 

18 Examples include: 

Page 148



 

 

(a) HWB members have shared feedback with the Integrated Care 
System Programme Board and expressed strong views that 
County Durham is not disadvantaged in the new system. The 
County Durham Care Partnership sits within the governance 
structure of the Health and Wellbeing Board and its first Forum 
took place in November 2021. 

(b) The Health and Wellbeing Board received assurance on the 
commissioning intentions of the Integrated Health and Social 
Care Commissioning Team alongside the delivery intentions of 
NHS mental health, acute, community and primary care services 
through the County Durham Commissioning and Delivery Plan 
2020-25.  

(c) The workstreams of the Mental Health Strategic Partnership (a 
subgroup of the Health and Wellbeing Board) have continued to 
progress planned deliverables whilst also reacting to the 
demands placed on them by Covid-19.  

As part of the Covid response, additional funding has instigated 
the development of several new initiatives to address the 
increased demands on mental health provision, including the 
development of a Mental Health and Wellbeing Alliance of 
providers; numerous campaigns to engage children, young 
people, and adults to address key issues; and work on a 
community mental health framework to support adults with a 
Serious Mental Illness.  

Priority 1: Starting Well 

19 Examples include:  

(a) In September 2021 the HWB supported the launch of the County 
Durham Health and Wellbeing Framework for schools and 
education settings, to address both physical and emotional 
wellbeing and improve outcomes for children, young people, staff, 
and the education setting.  

The framework helps education settings to understand the 
importance of health and wellbeing and the close association with 
progression, engagement, and attainment, and to make 
appropriate and informed choices according to their needs and 
evaluate impact and value for money.  

(b) Additional Covid support funding allowed local authorities and 
their partners to distribute food hampers to our most vulnerable 
families, food vouchers to care leavers, kinship carers and 
children during the school holidays, and help with fuel costs.  

Page 149



 

 

Partners have continued to promote and raise awareness of the 
Healthy Start Vouchers for milk, baby milk and some foods, 
leading to an increase in uptake from 54 percent to 68 percent – 
higher than the regional and national average.  

(c) Continuing the Holiday Activities with Healthy Food project, 
during 2021, 381 Fun and Food projects were allocated funding 
for the Easter, Summer and Christmas holidays engaging 32,423 
children and young people, including 2,355 with additional needs.  

Priority 2: Living Well 

20 Examples include:  

(a) Despite significant progress in County Durham since 2005, adult 
smoking remains a key driver of health inequalities and therefore 
a priority for the HWB. The Tobacco Control Alliance sits within 
the governance structure of the HWB, and its strategic plan now 
embraces activity to address the impact of Covid on tobacco 
control. The alliance continues to work with FRESH on a 
denormalisation programme for tobacco across the region and a 
campaign was run between July 2021 and March 2022 to amplify 
the awareness of the health harms of smoking at a local level.  

The Stop Smoking Service retained a continuity of service during 
the pandemic, promoting quitting smoking as a way of reducing 
the harms caused by Covid.  Referrals into the service are 
continuing to increase. 

The Chair of the HWB also wrote to local MPs to advocate for the 
introduction of a “polluter tax” for tobacco manufacturing firms.  

(b) Housing is a key social determinant of health and the HWB 
recognises the need to work with colleagues to ensure all homes 
in County Durham provide a safe, inclusive, and secure 
environment for people to live and grow within their local 
community.  

The HWB endorsed partners’ approach to addressing rough 
sleepers in County Durham. During 2020/21 and in the peak of 
the Covid-19 pandemic, partners worked to the Government’s 
‘Everybody In’ initiative, to identify and verify rough sleepers and 
house them in either temporary or secure accommodation. This 
work has been built on through various initiatives to increase the 
accommodation and support for rough sleepers including 
additional staff, and funding to assist with the shortfall on housing 
benefit in B&B accommodation, provide food parcels, assist with 
deposits/rent in advance for private landlords.  

Page 150



 

 

(c) In response to increasing concerns about rising levels of alcohol 
consumption during the Covid-19 pandemic, the Health and 
Wellbeing board endorsed a number of campaign materials from 
Balance to be adopted across County Durham and cascaded to 
partners to maximise impact at a local level.  

Priority 3: Ageing Well 

21 Examples include: 

(a) To support our residents to be able to live independently for 
longer, the Health and Wellbeing Board endorsed a 5-year 
Council New Build Programme which outlines plans for delivery of 
500 affordable homes, with a large proportion dedicated for older 
persons accommodation including bungalows. 

(b) The Health and Wellbeing Board supports plans for an Ageing 
Well Health Needs Assessment (HNA) which will focus on people 
aged 50+, outlining how public health prevention can be used to 
help people age well in a healthy way. The HNA will make 
recommendations for this age group, which will be used to inform 
the Ageing Well Strategy (a key deliverable included in the JHWS 
2021-25).  The HNA will be structured around eight themes taken 
from the World Health Organisation’s (WHO) Age Friendly Cities 
framework, including Information and Advice, Transport, Social 
Participation, Housing and Economic Activity. It will also consider 
the disproportionate impact of the Covid pandemic on older 
people, particularly around social isolation, and loneliness 

Looking Forward 

22 In line with the statutory responsibilities of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board, a new three-year Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) was 
approved in September 2022 and will be published in October 2022. 
The PNA is part of Durham Insight. Publication of the new PNA was 
delayed nationally due to services responding to the Covid pandemic. 

23 A HWB work programme has been developed for the coming year 
which includes strategies for Physical Activity, Falls, Oral Health and 
Ageing Well. The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy will also be 
refreshed.  

Future Challenges 

24 The Covid-19 pandemic has had significant repercussions for health 
and wellbeing, it has affected every part of our society and is likely to 
lead to lasting changes to how we live, work and play. As well as the 
direct health consequences of the Covid-19 virus, the subsequent 
restrictions have affected other areas of health and wellbeing including 

Page 151



 

 

mental health, social isolation, and changes in eating, drinking and 
physical activity behaviours. The wider impacts continue to unfold, with 
concerns around the health of the economy, employment, education, 
business, and socio-economic inequalities.  

25 The ongoing pandemic has impacted disproportionately on certain 
people across the County, particularly our older population, people with 
existing/underlying health conditions such as diabetes and obesity, our 
Black, Asian, and Minority Ethnic (BAME) populations as well as those 
living and working in more disadvantaged circumstances. 

26 At the Health and Wellbeing Board meeting in March 2022 the Board 
discussed local and regional plans for transition to a ‘Living Safely with 
Covid’ response and how we embed this into wider health protection 
measures. We intend to take forward the learning, expertise, good 
practice, flexibility, and collaborative relationships gained by all partners 
from the response over the last two years. The Health and Wellbeing 
Board will remain at the forefront of this approach.  

27 The current Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2021-25 sets out the 
following objectives across our three strategic priorities of Starting Well, 
Living Well and Ageing Well; chosen due to their importance given the 
impact they have on people’s health and where we want to be in 2025: 

• Improve healthy life expectancy and reduce the gap within 
County Durham and between County Durham and England 

• We will have a smoke free environment with over 95% of our 
residents not smoking and an ambition that pregnant women and 
mothers will not smoke 

• Decrease overall levels of unemployment and specifically close 
the employment gap between the general population and those 
living with a long term physical or mental health condition, or with 
a learning disability 

• Over 90% of our children aged 4-5 years, and 79% of children 
aged 10-11 years are of a healthy weight 

• Improved mental health and wellbeing evidenced by increased 
self-reported wellbeing scores and reduced suicide rates 

• Increase the number of organisations involved in Better Health at 
Work Award (to improve health and wellbeing interventions at 
work)  

 
28 The cost of living crisis will have an impact on County Durham’s 

residents, with increases to food costs, utilities, and fuel.  More people 
are living with in-work poverty which has a profound effect on their 
mental health and wellbeing. Further work with the County Durham 
Economic Partnership will look at how we can support people into good 
jobs within the county to improve health inequalities. 

Page 152



 

 

29 The implementation of the Integrated Care System will continue to 
develop over the coming years and County Durham will ensure we 
contribute to this developing agenda to ensure our residents are not 
disadvantaged.  

30 Given the impact of the last two years, the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy 2021-25 will be refreshed in 2023 to ensure it still accurately 
reflects the position outlined in the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
(JSNA) and can drive health and wellbeing improvements across the 
County linked to the County Durham Vision for 2035.  

31 There are also wider long-term system challenges to face including 
ensuring people live longer in good health, reducing life expectancy 
variations, improving healthy life expectancy in a climate of ongoing 
austerity, and reducing health inequalities in places where people live, 
work, learn and play. 

Next Steps 

32 Cabinet is requested to note that the Health and Wellbeing Board 
Annual Report 2021-22 will be presented through partner governance 
arrangements during October and November 2022 for endorsement.  

Background papers 

• County Durham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2021-25  

Other useful documents 

• None 

Contact: Gordon Elliott Tel:  03000 263605 

Page 153

https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/JointHealthAndWellbeingStrategy.pdf


 

 

Appendix 1: Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Health and Social Care Act 2012 (HSCA) places clear duties on local 
authorities and CCGs to prepare a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 
and Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS). The local authority must 
publish the JHWS. The Health and Wellbeing Board lead the development of 
the JSNA and JHWS. 

Finance 

Ongoing pressure on public services will challenge all agencies to consider 
how best to respond to the health, social care, and wellbeing agenda.   

Consultation 

Consultation with partners and members of the public is undertaken during 
development of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  

Equality and Diversity/Public Sector Equality Duty 

An Equality Impact Assessment is undertaken alongside the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy.  

Climate Change  

There are no climate change implications. 

Human Rights 

No direct implications. 

Crime and Disorder 

Durham Insight provides information relating to crime and disorder. 

Staffing 

No direct implications. 

Accommodation 

No direct implications. 

Risk 

No direct implications. 

Procurement 

The HSCA outlines that commissioners should take regard of the JSNA and 
JHWS when exercising their functions in relation to the commissioning of 
health and social care services.

Page 154

https://www.durhaminsight.info/


 

 

Appendix 2:  Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2021-22 

 

The report is attached as a separate document. 

 

Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 
 

‘County Durham is a 
healthy place where 
people live well, for 

longer’ 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board  
Annual Report 

2021-22 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 157



2 
 

 
 
 

Contents 
Welcome from Chair and Vice Chair ...................................................................4 

About the County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board ...................................5 

Responsibilities ...................................................................................................5 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment ......................................................................5 

Approach to Wellbeing .......................................................................................6 

Governance and partnership working arrangements ............................................................................. 7 

Performance monitoring......................................................................................................................... 8 

The Health and Wellbeing Board response to Covid-19 ....................................................................... 11 

Update on priority areas in 2021-22 ..................................................................................................... 14 

All priorities ....................................................................................................................................... 14 

Integrated Care System ................................................................................................................. 14 

Director of Public Health (DPH) Annual Report: Putting life into living ........................................ 14 

County Durham Place Based Commissioning and Delivery Plan .................................................. 15 

County Durham Care Partnership Executive and Forum .............................................................. 15 

Health Protection annual assurance ............................................................................................. 15 

Winter Planning Arrangements .................................................................................................... 16 

Mental Health ............................................................................................................................... 16 

NHS Dentistry ................................................................................................................................ 17 

Marketing Campaigns ................................................................................................................... 17 

Starting Well ..................................................................................................................................... 18 

Healthy Framework for Schools .................................................................................................... 18 

Poverty .......................................................................................................................................... 19 

Holiday activities with Healthy Food ............................................................................................ 19 

Living Well ......................................................................................................................................... 20 

Better Health at Work Award ....................................................................................................... 20 

Tobacco control ............................................................................................................................ 21 

Housing and Health ....................................................................................................................... 22 

Rough Sleepers.............................................................................................................................. 22 

Alcohol and Drug Harms ............................................................................................................... 22 

Ageing Well ....................................................................................................................................... 23 

Ageing Well Health Needs Assessment (HNA) .............................................................................. 23 

Older Persons Accommodation .................................................................................................... 23 

Page 158



3 
 

Looking Forward ................................................................................................................................... 24 

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2022-25 .................................................................................... 24 

Mental Health Strategic Partnership ................................................................................................ 24 

Health and Wellbeing Board Work programme ............................................................................... 24 

Challenges and opportunities for 2022 ................................................................................................ 24 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

If you would like more information about this report email HWB@durham.gov.uk 

Page 159

mailto:HWB@durham.gov.uk


4 
 

Welcome from Chair and Vice Chair 

Welcome to the County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board annual report 2021-22.   
 
As Chair and Vice Chair we are privileged to have been supported by a wide range 
of partners who have gone above and beyond, during an extremely challenging time, 
to deliver on our shared vision to make County Durham a healthy place where 
people live well, for longer. 
 
The ongoing pandemic has impacted disproportionately on people across the 
County, particularly our older population, people with existing/underlying health 
conditions, our Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) populations as well as 
those living and working in more disadvantaged circumstances. We have also seen 
how the virus has had a direct impact on our communities in terms of their health 
and also a wider indirect impact instigated by lockdown on mental wellbeing across 
the whole life course, exasperating issues and widening health, social and economic 
inequalities.  As we work through recovery from the restrictions of the pandemic, 
communities across the County are still facing what could be a protracted period of 
hardship. Debt, poverty, poor mental health, and the cost-of-living crisis are 
undermining the capacity in all sectors to be as effective as they want to be in 
enabling social and economic growth and wellbeing.  
 
Despite the challenges and the widening health inequalities, we have continued to 
deliver against our three priorities across the life course, and this annual report is 
testament to that, with the examples of our achievements, including several new 
initiatives to address the demand on mental health provision, launching the health 
and wellbeing framework for schools, and using additional Covid funding to actively 
engage and re-engage people who are inactive, into physical activity.  
 
As we move into a new way of working, with the Integrated Care System, we will 
ensure that County Durham is positioned well across the region and continues to 
work for the benefit of our communities.  
 
We would like to thank everyone, for their hard work and continued commitment in 
these unprecedented and challenging times. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

Cllr Paul Sexton 
Portfolio Holder for Adults & Health 
Services  
Chair of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board 
Durham County Council 
May 2021 – August 2022 
 

 

 

 

  

Dr Stewart Findlay 
Vice Chair of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board  
Chief Officer, County Durham 
Clinical Commissioning Group 
June 2013 – June 2022 
 

Page 160



5 
 

About the County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board 

The County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) is a strategic partnership, 

which sets the vision and direction for health and wellbeing across the county.  

The HWB’s vision is to ‘make County Durham a healthy 

place where people live well, for longer’.  To achieve this, 

we identified three strategic priorities in the Joint Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) 2021-25: 

• Starting well 

• Living well 

• Ageing well 

The HWB met five times during 2021-22, these meetings took place virtually and in-
person to comply with changing government coronavirus guidance.   
 

Responsibilities 

The County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board is a statutory committee of Durham 
County Council. The Board is committed to working together with key partners to set  
the direction and improve the health and wellbeing of the local population and reduce 
health inequalities. This includes working closely with County Durham overview and 
scrutiny committee to deliver a complementary work programme. 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board has a number of statutory responsibilities:  
 

• Assess the health and wellbeing needs of the local population and how they 

can be addressed through a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA). 

• Produce and implement a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) based 

on the information in the JSNA. 

• Promote integrated working and joining up services across health, public 

health and social care services. 

• Work closely with organisations or departments who provide services related 

to the wider determinants of health. 

• Produce a Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment. 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment  

The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) in County Durham builds a picture of 

current and future health and wellbeing needs of local people. It is a suite of 

resources locally that helps to inform the planning and improvement of local services 

and guides us in making the best use of funding available. We use it to shape joint 

commissioning priorities to improve health and wellbeing as well as reduce health 

inequalities in our communities.  

As we look beyond the Covid-19 pandemic it is vital that we understand the 

protective factors and strengths across communities. This combined view of both 

Page 161



6 
 

needs and assets (building on our Approach to Wellbeing) will allow us to build a 

broader understanding of health and wellbeing and how we can support and protect 

the health of our local communities.  

Approach to Wellbeing  

The Health and Wellbeing Board has championed the County Durham Approach to 

Wellbeing and its implementation across the County Durham Partnership. The 

Approach is evidence-based, asset-based and seeks to involve communities in 

decisions that affect them, in order to achieve better health outcomes. The Approach 

comprises of seven wellbeing principles which have evolved in partnership and now 

form the basis of a new self-assessment framework which can be used by 

organisations to reflect on how they could support better health and wellbeing 

outcomes across our communities.

Community partners are supportive of this approach and feedback has been 

positive: 

“…..this wellbeing approach could work and would make a difference now….. is 

very much about giving the power back, or moving the power back out into the 

community” 

“……rather than thinking ‘patients’ we need to think about ‘partners’…. we need 

people to start to take responsibility for their wellbeing and not be patients 

themselves but actually be citizens, residents and not just service users but actual 

genuine partners in their wellbeing” 

“I suppose that’s the kind of overall goal isn’t it that people don’t ever need to see 

the model people just work in that way because that’s the right thing to do and there 

is that culture and system wide change that means that you don’t have to sit down 

with a set of principles and say to people this is how you need to be working or this 

is how you should be working in order to improve the wellbeing, that people just do 

it” 

 

Page 162



7 
 

Governance and partnership working arrangements 

The County Durham Partnership is the overarching strategic 

partnership in County Durham, with thematic boards leading on 

the priorities in the County Durham Vision 2035. These are the 

Health and Wellbeing Board, Safe Durham Partnership, 

Economic Partnership, Environment and Climate Change 

Partnership and County Durham Together Partnership. 

Effective joint working takes place between these strategic 

partnerships to improve outcomes for residents in County 

Durham.  

There are close links between the statutory Durham 

Safeguarding Children and Durham Safeguarding Adult 

Partnerships and the Health and Wellbeing Board to provide assurance that effective 

safeguarding arrangements are in place. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board governance structure includes responsibility for 

Mental Health, Special Educational Needs and Disabilities, Physical Activity, Healthy 

Weight and Tobacco Control, as well as health and care integration.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 163

https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/Health-and-Wellbeing-Board-Governance-Structure-PDF.pdf


8 
 

Performance monitoring 

Monitoring performance against the JHWS is important to the Health and Wellbeing 

Board. Below is an idea of the direction of travel on several of the key performance 

indicators. 

The JHWS features six objectives across our three strategic priorities of starting well, 
living well and ageing well. These are long-term health and wellbeing outcomes 
which take time to show meaningful change. This update is intended to demonstrate 
the impact of our work has on the trajectory of people’s health and outline where we 
aim to be in 2025. 
 

• Improve healthy life expectancy and reduce the gap within County 
Durham and between County Durham and England. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• We will have a smoke free environment with over 95% of our 
residents not smoking and an ambition that pregnant women and 
mothers will not smoke. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 164



9 
 

• Decrease overall levels of unemployment and specifically close the 
employment gap between the general population and those living 
with a long term physical or mental health condition, or with a 
learning disability 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Over 90% of our children aged 4-5 years, and 79% of children aged 
10-11 years are of a healthy weight. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Improved mental health and wellbeing evidenced by self-reported 
wellbeing scores and reduced suicide rates. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 165



10 
 

• Increase the number of organisations involved in Better Health at 
Work Award (to improve health and wellbeing interventions at 
work). 
 
 
 

  

Page 166



11 
 

The Health and Wellbeing Board response to Covid-19  

The Covid-19 pandemic has been at the forefront of the work of the Health and 

Wellbeing Board throughout 2021-22 as all services responded to a changing 

situation which has affected every part of our society. Throughout the pandemic 

local, regional and national partners have worked together to deliver local 

interventions and to protect and support our residents, families, businesses, social 

care, community organisations, and NHS structures in County Durham. 

The HWB has overseen the Local Covid-

19 Outbreak Management Plan (LOMP) 

which was developed to deliver our Covid-

19 response and protect our communities 

from the virus. The plan includes a range of 

actions including the rollout of the Covid-19 

vaccination programme, our local Covid-19 

testing offer and support to our 

communities, particularly those who are 

vulnerable or needing to self-isolate. Partners worked across key settings (including 

care homes, schools, workplaces and a variety of community settings) to rapidly 

detect and manage outbreaks and implement appropriate infection control 

measures. 

The HWB has also overseen the allocation and expenditure of the Contain Outbreak 

Management Funding (COMF). This funding was provided to Local Authorities from 

central government for public health purposes to mitigate the impact of Covid-19 in 

local areas. During the pandemic a total of £23.9 million was provided to County 

Durham.  

COMF has supported a diverse range of projects including increasing access to 

testing and vaccination, supporting re-engagement with physical activity, improving 

the quality of life for people living with long covid and for improving wellbeing for 

people currently on NHS waiting lists, targeted work to support vulnerable 

populations including those needing emergency housing, Not in Education, 

Employment and Training (NEET), and children and young people experiencing 

mental health issues. Evaluations from the bids have shown how this funding has 

helped to develop future programmes and service plans. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board functioned as a Member-led Local Outbreak 

Engagement Board to answer crucial questions posed by members of the public 

around the pandemic and response.  

Page 167



12 
 

The County Durham Together Community Hub was introduced in March 2020 as 

a single point of access for people in County Durham who required support to remain 

at home because they had to shield or self-isolate. Initially the focus of the Hub was 

around provision of food, but the remit of the hub adapted to the needs of 

communities through the different phases of the pandemic, based on continuous 

feedback and built on assets within communities.  

 

Sacriston Youth Project Food for Thought project which was created in March 

2020 and ran throughout 2021/22 provided care packages, hot food provision, 

prescription collection, advice and information and a doorstep befriending service 

using 30 volunteers. At their peak the service received calls for help from 7am – 

10pm, 7 days a week with approximately 80% of the people who were supported 

were unknown to the project prior to the pandemic.  

As of January 2022, the Food for Thought Project is now a permanent part of 

Sacriston Youth and Community Project’s offer. The elements of the project include 

care packages, debt management support, white goods and digital poverty support, 

school uniform bank, community shelves/larder and information/advice/guidance/ 

signposting.  

Wellbeing for the time being is an integrated patient focused service development 

within County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT) to support 

patients currently on the waiting list for surgery and patients with a recent diagnosis 

of cancer awaiting treatment.  

Patient needed support with chest clearance which has since improved with 
breathing exercise support. Lots of advice given on energy conservation and pacing 
although patient is currently maintaining a fairly good activity level.  

  
The patient is to receive weekly telephone reviews as chemo hasn’t started yet.   

  
Surgeon Feedback on pilot:  
“Good to see the referral process is working. Just need to work on patient 
engagement now! Really keen to support this as definitely has impact on patient 
outcomes. Keep up the good work! Delighted you have funding for another year”  
 

Page 168



13 
 

The Covid-19 Community Champions Programme recruited people 

representative of our communities to become volunteer Champions who shared 

important information with their local communities and provided feedback to the 

HWB on what local people think is going well, what can be done better and any 

questions. This enabled organisational and professional responses to be shaped by 

local intelligence and ensured information was being shared in the best way for each 

community.  

As the pandemic has progressed the Champions programme has continued to 

evolve in line with public health messaging, to promote the vaccination programme 

and respond to issues identified within communities with a focus on reducing 

inequalities.   

The rollout of the Covid-19 vaccination programme 

across County Durham began in December 2020 and is 

ongoing. Vaccinations have a critical role to play in the 

fight against Covid-19 and the vaccination programme 

has seen high uptake rates across County Durham.  

The Health and Wellbeing Board has 

been supportive of significant work 

by partners to ensure equitable 

access to the Covid-19 vaccination 

programme in all sections of the population. Specific promotional 

activity is aimed at grass roots level and targets low uptake 

communities.  

Between May and November 2021 mobile pop-up vaccination 

clinics were delivered in communities. Alongside community engagement activities 

and supported by Covid-19 Awareness Co-ordinators and Covid-19 Champions the 

interventions were well received and thought to impact positively on vaccine uptake.  

January 2021 saw the transfer of national NHS Test and Trace tracing services to 

County Durham Together under the umbrella of the Local Tracing Partnership 

(LTP). The LTP continued to support the national NHS Test and Trace tracing 

services, prioritising geographies with lower vaccine uptake, higher than expected 

rates of Covid-19 and those where engagement with NHS Test and Trace had been 

low.  

At the Health and Wellbeing Board meeting in March 2022 the Board discussed local 

and regional plans for transition to a ‘Living Safely with Covid’ response and how 

we embed this into wider health protection measures. We intend to take forward the 

learning, expertise, good practice, flexibility and collaborative relationships gained by 

all partners from the response over the last two years. The Health and Wellbeing 

Board will remain at the forefront of this approach.  

 

 

Page 169



14 
 

Update on priority areas in 2021-22 

All priorities 

Integrated Care System 

Plans are progressing regionally for the Integrated Care System – 
County Durham will be part of the North East and North Cumbria 
Integrated Care Board. HWB members have shared feedback with 
the Integrated Care System Programme Board and expressed 
strong views that County Durham is not disadvantaged in the new 
system.  
 
Implementation of the new Integrated Care System is from 1st July 2022, with new 
membership on the HWB. The chair thanked previous CCG members, including Dr 
Stewart Findlay for their commitment and leadership over last 10 years. 

Director of Public Health (DPH) Annual Report: Putting life into living 

The Director of Public Health is a statutory member of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board. Under the Health and Social Care Act 2012, one of the statutory 
requirements of the Director of Public Health is to produce an annual report about 
the health of the local population.  The local authority has a duty to publish the 
report.  

In addition to recognising our response and recovery to the Covid-19 pandemic, the 
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2021 brings to a close the last four DPH 
annual reports which have introduced us to the Taylor family and looked at progress 
against the seven priorities to promote and protect the health and wellbeing of the 
people of County Durham. This report focuses on promoting and supporting positive 
behaviours across our communities so we can achieve and sustain active lives 
which includes the Active 30 campaign to help schools across the County support 
every pupil to participate in the recommended 30 minutes of activity every day at 
school. It also details the work of the County Durham Tobacco Alliance to reduce the 
impact of smoking on families and reduce the exposure to second-hand smoke. 

Providing high quality drug and alcohol services to work with families to ensure a 
joined-up systems approach across County Durham is really important including 
establishing outreach facilities in the local community to ensures services are 
accessible to those most in need. 

Working together, in a joined-up way across health and care services, benefits and 
advice services, as well as the VCS can ensure that the needs of people with long 
term conditions, and their families and carers are met. Over 1,200 people have 
benefitted from Macmillan Joining the Dots, a cancer support programme, designed 
by people who have lived experience of cancer. Most of these have been people 
who have a diagnosis of cancer, but there is also a strong element of support for 
family and carers. 

 

 

 

Page 170

https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s148671/Appendix%202%20DPH%20Annual%20Report%202021.pdf


15 
 

County Durham Place Based Commissioning and Delivery Plan  

The County Durham Commissioning and Delivery Plan 2020-25 sets out the health 

and care commissioning intentions of the system – how we will achieve the 

objectives in the JHWS. The Health and Wellbeing Board receives assurance on the 

commissioning intentions of the Integrated Health and Social Care Commissioning 

Team alongside the delivery intentions of NHS mental health, acute, community and 

primary care services.  

The plan reflects an increasing maturity of the health and care system in County 

Durham to collaboratively plan, measure, and deliver integrated services, whilst 

tackling the health inequalities within the county, and addressing the legacy of Covid-

19. 

To support the move towards a coproduction model each chapter of the plan is 

summarised. The website will enable communities to provide feedback on content. It 

is hoped that this engagement will facilitate improvements in participation and 

coproduction from non-statutory partners in future editions of the plan.  

County Durham Care Partnership 

Executive and Forum  

The County Durham Care 

Partnership sits within the governance structure of the HWB. It’s first Forum took 

place in November 2021, which brought together health and social care and 

voluntary organisations to achieve improved health and wellbeing for the people of 

County Durham. Attendees raised concerns about the forthcoming changes and 

were encouraged to share their feedback at relevant forums regarding the place-

based arrangements and the need to ensure County Durham was not disadvantaged 

within the new arrangements. 

The collaborative approach of this Forum will help to develop place-based 

integration, which will avoid unnecessary admissions to acute care, giving people 

better outcomes and maximising the available resources. 

Health Protection annual assurance 

The HWB accepted that there were effective assurance processes in place for 

communicable disease control, strategic regulation intervention and emergency 

preparedness.  

Key achievements of the Health Protection Assurance and Development Group 

included improvements in flu vaccination uptake amongst eligible groups, sustained 

delivery of national immunisations programmes and the Antenatal and Newborn 

Screening programme. 

Most of our screening programmes have been impacted by the multiple waves of the 
pandemic and we are continuously working to get these back on track, whilst 
learning lessons to improve the uptake of certain vaccinations, the rates of 
vaccination amongst adolescents and ensure equitable coverage and uptake of 
screening and immunisation programmes. 

Page 171

https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/health-wellbeing-board/county-durham-place-based-commissioning-and-delivery-plan-2020-25/
https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/health-wellbeing-board/county-durham-place-based-commissioning-and-delivery-plan-2020-25/
https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/health-wellbeing-board/county-durham-place-based-commissioning-and-delivery-plan-2020-25/


16 
 

Winter Planning Arrangements 

Planning for Winter 2021/22 predicted it to be one of the most challenging for public 

services, with a surge in demand caused by a combination of Covid-19, RSV (a 

respiratory virus that infects the lungs and breathing passages of children), flu, 

staffing pressures and entering the winter with already unprecedented demand). 

Partners worked together across more areas than ever before to coordinate activity 

and prioritise work at this challenging time, including health (primary and acute 

services), social care, public health and a range of council services. 

Mental Health  

Evidence continues to build, highlighting the impact of Covid-19 inequalities and 
mental health and emotional wellbeing. The entire system has experienced a 
significant and sustained increase in demand for mental health and emotional 
wellbeing support, especially in the past 18 months.  

The workstreams of the Mental Health Strategic Partnership (a subgroup of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board) have continued to progress planned deliverables whilst 
also reacting to the demands placed on them by Covid-19, in five key areas: 

• Children and Young People 

• Suicide Prevention 

• Crisis Care 

• Dementia 

• Resilient Communities 

The work of the County Durham Suicide Prevention Alliance has been maintained 

during 2021/22 including the ongoing monitoring of potential deaths by suicide via 

the Real Time Data Surveillance (RTDS) system. The RTDS system triggers post-

vention referrals to support individuals, families and friends to help reduce the 

negative impact of the death on our local communities. Work continues to monitor 

high-frequency locations across the County and to also provide support for 

vulnerable groups including those who self-harm, men aged 35-45, Veterans and 

substance misusers. There has been no statistical increase in the number of 

potential deaths by suicide in County Durham during 2021/22.  

In January 2022 funding for a new mental health and employment service was 

agreed, to provide additional support to help people with poor mental health find and 

maintain employment.  

As part of the Covid response, additional funding has instigated the development of 
several new initiatives to address the increased demands on mental health provision.  

• Campaigns have been initiated to engage children, young people and adults 
and address issues such as mental health in the workplace, community 
issues such as social isolation, low level anxiety and debt.  

• Work on a Community Mental Health Framework to support adults with a 
Serious Mental Illness access evidence-based treatment within their Primary 
Care Network and transform services for complex emotional needs, adult 
eating disorders and community rehabilitation, has progressed.  

Page 172



17 
 

• A Mental Health and Wellbeing Alliance has been developed, bringing 
together a number of providers to address the wider determinants influencing 
mental health; helping prevent entry (and re-entry) into statutory health and 
social care systems; reducing suicide; preventing negative outcomes 
associated with mental health issues and promoting positive outcomes related 
to good mental health and wellbeing. The Alliance will be launched on 1st April 
2022.  

• A Mental Health Resilience Team was created to respond to local people’s 
mental health and wellbeing needs who have been impacted directly from 
Covid-19, including Covid-19 survivors; mental health impact of lockdown on 
vulnerable groups; moral injury amongst all front line groups (from any 
sector).  

• In order to maximise the potential of the Voluntary and Community Sector and 
support grass roots organisations, funding grants were issued to voluntary 
organisations and community groups to provide mental health and wellbeing 
support to local populations.  

NHS Dentistry 

NHS dental practices have been operating at significantly reduced capacity whilst 
adhering to national infection control guidance related to the nature of dental practice 
causing increased likelihood of Covid-19 infection spread. It has been necessary for 
dental practices to triage patients who contact them to ensure patients with the 
greatest clinical need. Those requiring urgent dental care and vulnerable patients 
(including children) are prioritised. The Health and Wellbeing Board received 
assurance that all opportunities are being explored to increase the clinical treatment 
capacity available.  

Marketing Campaigns  

HWB partners have supported a coordinated approach to key public health 

marketing campaigns which have an impact on health inequalities and early deaths.  

Campaigns supported include: 

• Regional Don’t Wait Campaign and localised Durham amplification 

Collaborating with the Stop Smoking Service and FRESH regional tobacco 

control programme, a County Durham campaign raising awareness to risks of 

smoking, benefits of quitting and access to local Stop Smoking Service was 

targeted in areas of high smoking prevalence. TV ads were shown on ITV On 

Demand featuring Dr Ruth Sharrock Hope and Harm videos. The campaign 

was promoted via community bus shelters, Go North East/Arriva bus sides, 

localised posters, flyers, digital screens, and paid promotion via Facebook.  

• Ask for ANI is a mental health and wellbeing campaign which encourages 

people to ask if they need support from police or other domestic abuse 

support services.  ‘ANI’ stands for Action Needed Immediately and is a 

pharmacy offer of a private space and phone.  

 

 

 

Page 173

https://mobile.twitter.com/FreshSmokeFree/status/1407618987350007814


18 
 

• World Breastfeeding Week/Big Latch On  

Partners used their resources to raise awareness of World Breastfeeding 

Week across social media channels, driving traffic to The Global Big Latch On 

event, which took place virtually.  

• Physical Activity 

Additional Covid funding was used to proactively engage and re-engage 

people who are inactive into physical activity within their local community, and 

to instil key health behavioural messages as we recover from the Covid19 

pandemic. The ‘Move’ campaign launched in September with over 191 one to 

one appointments booked as of 11 October.  

 

Our marketing and communications activity has supported the changes to the Covid-

19 Government Roadmap, including a regional approach to key messages with the 

strapline ‘Covid Safe County’. Regular social media, outdoor ads and updated web 

pages have supported prevention work in response to outbreaks and changes in 

guidance, the Covid vaccination programme and promoted health and wellbeing 

services with the general population, education settings, parents, prisons and other 

targeted groups.  

Starting Well 

Healthy Framework for Schools  

In September 2021 the Health and Wellbeing 
Board launched the County Durham Health 
and Wellbeing Framework for schools and 
education settings. The framework was 
developed collaboratively with schools, DCC 
Education Services and Harrogate and District 
Foundation Trust (HDFT), to address both 
physical and emotional wellbeing and improve 
outcomes for children, young people, staff and 
the education setting.  

Education settings play an important role in 
supporting young people with their mental 
health by providing stability, routine and 
consistency. They also offer protective factors 
for young people through a connection to 
trusted adults such as teachers or pastoral 

Page 174



19 
 

support. Increasing evidence exists demonstrating the close association between the 
wellbeing of pupils and their educational outcomes.   

The framework helps education settings to understand the importance of health and 
wellbeing and the close association with progression, engagement and attainment, 
and to make appropriate and informed choices according to their needs and evaluate 
impact and value for money.  

Poverty 

Additional Covid support funding was used to enable local authorities to support 
people struggling with the cost of food, energy and water bills, and other associated 
costs arising from the pandemic. Food hampers were distributed to our most 
vulnerable families, food vouchers to care leavers, kinship carers and children during 
the school holidays. Vulnerable households with children were supported to keep 
them safe, secure and have access to cooking facilities over the winter period, 
including help with fuel costs.  

To help increase the uptake of Healthy Start Vouchers for milk, baby milk and some 
foods, partners have continued to promote and raise awareness of the programme 
through staff training and communications. The focus on uptake has led to an 
increase from 54 percent to 68 percent – higher than the regional and national 
average.   

Funding has been allocated to setting up ten food hubs through the ‘That Bread and 
Butter Thing’. Approximately 50 families engage with each of the five operational 
hubs each week – which provides access to low-cost food and access to advice and 
provides a stepping stone from the crisis support through food banks and through 
the Welfare Assistance Scheme. Work is underway with community groups to open 
a further five hubs in the coming months. 

Holiday activities with Healthy Food 

Continuing the Holiday Activities with Healthy Food (HAWHF) project, the group 
have worked together with the Area Action Partnerships to develop, administer and 
distribute funding for enriching holiday activities with healthy food over the school 
holiday periods 
 
During 2021, 381 Fun and Food projects were allocated funding for the Easter, 
Summer and Christmas holidays, through the funding from the Department for 
Education, engaging 32,423 children and young people including 2,355 with 
additional needs. 

Government funding does not include half term holidays, however additional funding 
was secured from Durham County Council to provide enriching activities and 
experiences with healthy food for the May and October 2021 and February 2022 
holidays, funding 181 different projects in total. 

A dedicated web page has been set up for the project 
www.durham.gov.uk/funandfood along with a facebook group 
https://www.facebook.com/groups/funandfoodcountydurham/. Videos of previous  
activities can be viewed at Videos of previous activities - Durham County Council 
 

Page 175

http://www.durham.gov.uk/funandfood
https://www.facebook.com/groups/funandfoodcountydurham/
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/25530/Videos-of-previous-activities


20 
 

Living Well 

Better Health at Work Award 

The BHAWA gives a framework for workplace health. The award asks businesses to 

promote campaigns and deliver interventions and activities to promote positive 

health.  

 

New College Durham - Better Health at Work Award case study: 

The College recognises and takes seriously its commitment to promoting a supportive culture 

that recognises the importance and value of staff wellbeing and the positive impact that this 

can have on recruitment and retention of staff and students. 

Being involved in the Better Health at Work Award has allowed us to look at our offer of 

wellbeing activities for staff and students and led to the creation and delivery of a calendar of 

wellbeing events. This has allowed for significant collaboration between those staff leading 

on the staff and students’ mental health and wellbeing strategies, notably Human Resources 

and Occupational Health staff and student support services. It has allowed us to. 

• Create a positive working environment that supports mental health and wellbeing, 

creating a culture of openness by lifting the stigma surrounding mental health. 

• Ensure that Governors, Staff and Students recognise and embrace that mental 

health and wellbeing is the responsibility of everyone. 

• Enhance the support available to staff and to increase awareness of and 

participation in wellbeing activities and initiatives. 

It is recognised that there are tangible benefits from such a collaborative approach in 

demonstrating that health and wellbeing is a strategic priority for the College in terms of staff 

and students.  

Some campaigns that have taken place: 

Wellbeing 

• New You have engaged 20 staff in two weight loss, health and wellbeing programmes. 

• Dedicated health and wellbeing budget and staff who have specific wellbeing roles, 

including a Health and Wellbeing Coach and Occupational Health Technician.  

 

 

New College Durham New You Group January 2022 

 

 

 

Page 176



21 
 

 

Tobacco control 

Adult smoking in County Durham has nearly halved since 2005 but remains a key 
driver of health inequalities and therefore a priority for the Health and Wellbeing 
Board. The Tobacco Control Alliance strategic plan now embraces activity to 
address the impact of Covid on tobacco control. 

FRESH continues to work on a denormalization programme 
for tobacco control across the region. A campaign was run 
between July 2021 and March 2022 to amplify the 
awareness of the health harms of smoking at a local level.  

The Stop Smoking Service has retained a continuity of 

service during the pandemic, promoting quitting smoking as 

a way of reducing the harms caused by Covid.  Referrals into the service are 

continuing to increase, with numbers of quit dates being set and smokers quitting at 

4-week follow-up being maintained.  

 

The Chair of the HWB also wrote to local MPs to advocate for the introduction of a 

“polluter tax” for tobacco manufacturing firms. 

Case study: 

KL (25) quit smoking in March 2021, after finding out she was pregnant.  
 
“I wanted to quit as soon as I found out I was pregnant. It was knowing anything I 
put in body goes to the baby, too. Obviously I didn’t want to risk having a premature 
baby and all of the other risks to my baby’s health as well as my own.” 

  
K had given up smoking during a previous pregnancy but started again once she’d 

had her baby and started socialising with friends. She found smoking was having an 

impact on her day-to-day life.  

“After I’d do something I’d go for a tab, which takes about 5 mins so that’s an hour a 

day spent just going for tabs. If I was in the middle of something I would have to 

stop doing it just to go for a tab.” 

New College Durham - Better Health at Work Award continued: 

Mental Health  

• Thirty staff have completed Level 2 mental health qualification, we have held 

variety of events where we have invited external partners in to share 

information with staff and students including Kooth and Qwell, Samaritans, If 

U Care Share and many more. 

• In support of these efforts the College has signed up to AOC Mental Health 

Charter, DfE for Wellbeing Charter and Durham County Council Schools and 

Education Settings Health and Wellbeing Framework. 

 

Page 177



22 
 

 

Housing and Health 

Housing is a key social determinant of health and the Health and Wellbeing Board 
recognises the need to work with colleagues to ensure homes in County Durham 
provide a safe, inclusive and secure environment for people to live and grow within 
their local community. This includes accessing funding to improve heating and 
insulation systems, helping people with money management to pay their fuel bills, 
developing a hospital discharge protocol and facilitating early intervention to reduce 
hospital admissions.  

Rough Sleepers 

The HWB endorsed partners’ approach to addressing rough sleepers in County 
Durham. During 2020/21 and in the peak of the Covid-19 pandemic, partners worked 
to the Governments ‘Everybody In’ initiative, to identify and verify rough sleepers and 
house them in either temporary or secure accommodation. This work has been built 
on through various initiatives to increase the accommodation and support for rough 
sleepers including additional staff, and funding to assist with the shortfall on housing 
benefit in B&B accommodation, provide food parcels, assist with deposits/rent in 
advance for private landlords.  

This has included Public Health and Housing colleagues working closely together to 
ensure hard to reach groups including rough sleepers and the Gypsy Roma Traveller 
(GRT) community are communicated with in relation to receiving the Covid-19 
vaccination.  

Alcohol and Drug Harms 

In response to increasing concerns about rising levels of alcohol consumption during 
Covid-19, particularly amongst people who were already drinking above the Chief 
Medical Officer’s low risk guidelines, and who were likely to be drinking even more 
as a result of pressure and anxiety during the pandemic, the Health and Wellbeing 
board endorsed a number of campaign materials from Balance to be adopted across 
County Durham and cascaded to partners to maximise impact at a local level 

• “Alcohol - Not the Answer” was re-launched in February 2022 to underline 
the broad range of physical and mental health problems alcohol causes, why 

Case study continued: 

K used a temporary vape and patches with support from a Stop Smoking Advisor. 

“The patches really helped reduce cravings… Having the patch felt like I didn’t know 

I even used to smoke; I just wasn’t bothered.” 

K feels good about being an ‘ex-smoker’ and noticed improvements to her health.  

“I’ve saved a lot of money for the bairn – over £700 since quitting. I’ve been putting 

the money away which will go towards Christmas for the kids….Also, I feel like I can 

breathe again – I can go outside and not feel like I’m struggling.” 

 

Page 178



23 
 

it is important to reduce drinking, and was targeted at men and women of all 
ages who are drinking more during Covid-19. 

• In May 2021, Balance launched the next phase of this campaign, “What’s the 

harm?”, aimed at helping North East parents to understand the Chief Medical 

Officer’s guidance around children and alcohol. The summer is often a peak 

time for teenage alcohol consumption, but the easing of lockdown has moved 

some of the issues usually experienced during the summer holidays forward 

in some local areas. The 2021 campaign’s key messages highlight how 

alcohol consumption before the age of 18 can harm the developing body and 

brain, raise depression and anxiety and lead to risk taking behaviour.  

 

Key messages include trying not to stockpile alcohol and limit the amount of alcohol 

bought, opting for non-alcoholic drinks to help stay within the 14 unit low-risk weekly 

guidelines, the importance of being a good role model to your kids around alcohol, 

which includes how often and how much alcohol is consumed.  

Ageing Well 

Ageing Well Health Needs Assessment (HNA)  

The Health and Wellbeing Board supports plans for an Ageing Well Health Needs 
Assessment focussed on people aged 50+, outlining how public health prevention 
can be used to help people age well in a healthy way. The HNA will make 
recommendations for this age group, which will be used to inform the Ageing Well 
Strategy (a key deliverable included in the JHWS 2021-25).  The HNA will be 
structured around eight themes taken from the World Health Organisation’s (WHO) 
Age Friendly Cities framework, including Information and Advice, Transport, Social 
Participation, Housing and Economic Activity. It will also consider the 
disproportionate impact of the Covid pandemic on older people, particularly around 
social isolation and loneliness 

Older Persons Accommodation 

To support our residents to be able to live independently for longer, the Health and 
Wellbeing Board endorsed a 5-year Council New Build Programme which outlines 
plans for delivery of 500 affordable homes, with a large proportion dedicated for 
older persons accommodation including bungalows. 

 

Page 179



24 
 

Looking Forward 

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2022-25  

In line with the statutory responsibilities of the Health and Wellbeing Board, a three-

year Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) was approved in April 2018.   

A PNA considers the health needs of the population, the provision of pharmaceutical 

services commissioned by NHS England and Improvement that can support health 

needs, and therefore whether there are any potential gaps in pharmaceutical service 

delivery over a 3-year period. The PNA is part of Durham Insight. 

Publication of the new PNA was delayed due to services responding to the Covid 

pandemic and the PNA is due to be agreed by the HWB in September 2022 and will 

be published in October 2022. 

Mental Health Strategic Partnership 

The Health and Wellbeing Board supports a refresh of the Mental Health Strategic 

Partnership for County Durham. Agreement has been reached to add value to the 

current workstreams for children and young people, suicide prevention, crisis care, 

dementia and resilient communities by linking-in the Mental Health Alliance, Mental 

Health Resilience Hubs and other initiatives developed during the Covid-19 

response. This will support a coordinated, system-wide response to addressing the 

mental health and wellbeing needs of our local communities.  

Health and Wellbeing Board Work programme 

A work programme has been developed for the coming year which includes: 

• Physical Activity Strategy 

• Breastfeeding Friendly Buildings 

• Oral Health Strategy 

• Refresh of Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

• Poverty Strategy and Action Plan  

• Ageing Well Strategy 

Challenges and opportunities for 2022 

The year that this annual report covers has been difficult and unprecedented for our 
residents and those in the health and care professions that have worked tirelessly 
through Covid-19 and the pandemic. The Health and Wellbeing Board has received 
updates on infection rates, testing and the roll out of the vaccination programme, 
along with regular updates on the planned phased recovery during what will be a 
challenging year to come.  

The learning from the previous year will re-shape our services and priorities along 
with continuing to influence our strong partnership working.  

We will refresh our Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy in 2023 and will take this 
learning into account and work with our communities on those issues that will have a 
wide-reaching benefit, including through regional work with the Integrated Care 
System. 

Page 180



 

  

Cabinet 

12 October 2022 

Humanitarian Support in County 

Durham 

 Ordinary Decision 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Alan Patrickson, Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and 
Climate Change 

Councillor Alan Shield, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Equality and 
Inclusion 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide an update on County Durham’s support for vulnerable 
individuals and families under Government schemes to assist refugee 
resettlement, unaccompanied asylum-seeking children, Afghan 
resettlement and relocation programmes and the Homes for Ukraine 
Sponsorship Scheme and to confirm the Council’s future approach. 

2 To inform Cabinet of changes to mandate all local authorities in 
England, Scotland and Wales to participate in a new system of full 
asylum accommodation dispersal, the development of a regional plan of 
anticipated asylum dispersal into local authority areas and the 
implications for County Durham. 

Executive summary 

3 The scale of the global humanitarian challenge has resulted in the UK 
facing significant demands for humanitarian support and Government 
requests for local authority pledges to assist the UK’s effort. 

4 Following significant developments globally and nationally, the county is 
now engaged in five different programmes delivering refugee and 
asylum support, some developed at speed in response to global 
emergencies. 

Page 181

Agenda Item 9



5 The Council’s support structure has developed to provide capacity to 
deliver the increasing number of Government schemes, including two 
new programmes to assist individuals arriving from Afghanistan, the 
Homes for Ukraine sponsorship scheme, as well as the UK’s global 
resettlement scheme which provides aid to the world’s most vulnerable 
refugees and a national transfer scheme for unaccompanied asylum-
seeking children (UASC). 

6 The UK’s asylum system is also under significant pressure, with 
thousands of asylum seekers in contingency accommodation, including 
hotels.  As a result, earlier this year, the Government confirmed that all 
local authority areas in England, Scotland and Wales will be expected to 
participate in a new system of full dispersal to enable a move from 
hotels to less expensive, more suitable dispersed accommodation. 

7 The scale and global challenge of providing appropriate humanitarian 
support to those in need is recognised and has recently been 
emphasised by the compassionate response of County Durham 
residents in offering refuge to individuals and families fleeing the war in 
Ukraine.  The UK’s response significantly increases pressures on local 
authorities and partners and work is ongoing within Government to 
assess the burdens being placed on areas. 

8 As migration and asylum programmes develop further in response to 
Government pressures and expectations, key decisions are required to 
confirm the Council’s approach. 

Recommendation(s) 

9 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) agree the establishment of two partnership working groups; 
County Durham Migration and Cohesion Multi Agency Group, to 
act as the forum for asylum support in the county; and a Refugee 
and Resettlement Working Group, to focus on relevant 
programmes; 

(b) note the challenges in providing placements for unaccompanied 
asylum-seeking children, particularly given the increased 
threshold that the county could be requested to accommodate, 
and a reduction in the transfer deadline for unaccompanied 
children accommodated in hotels; 

(c) agree expansion of the county’s resettlement programme to 
accommodate three phases each year when capacity allows; 

Page 182



(d) agree that future phases of resettlement support should, where 
possible, continue to focus on working with social landlords and  
aim to resettle refugees in main towns; 

(e) agree that the Council should not opt into the Afghan Find Your 
Own Accommodation pathway at this time; 

(f) agree the introduction of a private sector incentive scheme for 
Homes for Ukraine arrivals, to reduce the impact on the Council’s 
homeless service and overcome barriers in offering 
accommodation; 

(g) to note the update on Hong Kong British National (Overseas) 
status holders; 

(h) to note that Mears has commenced efforts to secure properties in 
County Durham to accommodate asylum seekers as part of the 
Government’s efforts to disperse asylum seekers in a more 
proportionate way across the country; 

(i) agree that the first priority for utilisation of the funding allocated to 
support the asylum accommodation programme should be 
targeted at developing the community and voluntary sector 
infrastructure to assist asylum seekers dispersed to 
accommodation in County Durham. 

  

Page 183



Background 

10 When County Durham’s contribution to the Government’s humanitarian 
support effort was agreed in 2015, the Council and its partners were 
focused on delivering a single scheme providing resettlement support to 
the world’s most vulnerable families, initially concentrating on refugees 
arriving from the Syrian conflict.  As a result of significant developments 
in the migration and asylum landscape globally and nationally, the 
county is now engaged in five different programmes delivering refugee 
and asylum support, some developed at speed in response to a global 
emergency. 

11 As extensively reported in the media, the scale of global challenges has 
resulted in the UK facing increased requests for humanitarian support.  
In trying to deal with these pressures, the Government is seeking 
increased support from local authorities. 

12 The Council’s humanitarian support offer is co-ordinated within the 
Partnerships and Community Engagement Service in Neighbourhoods 
and Climate Change and also includes a dedicated staffing resource 
supporting the programme within the Council’s Housing Solutions, 
Employability and Education (EAL) teams.  The support structure has 
developed to provide capacity to deliver Government programmes, 
including the time-limited workload associated with the Homes for 
Ukraine sponsorship scheme. 

13 As migration and asylum programmes develop further in response to 
Government pressures and expectations, a number of key decisions are 
required to confirm the Council’s approach. 

Governance of the programme 

14 In 2015 County Durham Humanitarian Support Partnership was 
established to ensure a joined-up approach which promoted cross-
service and agency working, social cohesion and engagement with 
communities.  It was agreed that the Partnership would be part of the 
wider County Durham Partnership framework.  The Partnership set the 
strategic direction for the county’s participation in humanitarian support 
schemes, whilst a partnership working group was established to plan 
effective delivery. 

15 The Partnership last met in 2017, where it agreed principles for the 
delivery of a preferred approach to humanitarian support in the county 
via resettlement programmes, including: 

(a) resettling arrivals in the county’s main towns/areas, avoiding 
isolation in smaller villages and settlements.  The first year review 
of resettlement agreed that some larger villages and areas with 

Page 184



good access and transport links to the City centre should also be 
considered, in consultation with partners to confirm suitability; 

(b) assisting family groups, who are more likely to support one 
another and settle within County Durham’s communities; 

(c) resettling arrivals in clusters of small family groups, offering a 
self-supporting mechanism within communities. 

16 Since establishing these principles, decisions on the approach have 
been delegated to the Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and 
Climate Change, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder, as agreed by 
Cabinet.  Although the Partnership has not met since 2017, the Council 
has continuously engaged with partners to seek their views and 
involvement in the delivery of support through a humanitarian support 
working group. 

17 As the programme expands, and the need to engage with and consult 
partners continues, it is proposed that two separate working groups be 
established through which to channel key information and make 
recommendations for delegated decisions to the Corporate Director of 
Neighbourhoods and Climate Change, in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder, or by Cabinet where key decisions are considered. 

18 As part of the Council’s engagement in the asylum accommodation 
programme, County Durham Migration and Cohesion Multi Agency 
Group will be established, in line with the recommendations for good 
practice established by the North East Migration Partnership (NEMP).  
This group should be the forum for information sharing and to help steer 
local strategies, policies and plans in County Durham, to help co-
ordinate the county’s response to supporting asylum seekers.  Details of 
this programme are provided in the final section of this report. 

19 The issues and challenges for those with an immigration decision/status 
are different to those experienced by the asylum cohort.  It is therefore 
proposed that a separate partnership working group should focus on 
refugee and resettlement programmes.  A working group is already 
established to consider the county’s response to the Homes for Ukraine 
scheme and it is suggested that the remit of the group be expanded to 
include all refugee and resettlement programmes. 

Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (UASC) 

20 The Council’s Children and Young People’s Service continues to 
receive requests for placements under the National Transfer Scheme 
(NTS) for Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (UASC). 

Page 185



21 The NTS was introduced in July 2016 to try to achieve a more balanced 
distribution of UASC across the UK.  Following consultation, on 
23 November 2021 local authorities were mandated to participate in the 
NTS, since which time, and in common with other councils, Durham has 
received children to accommodate.  The allocation to areas is 
calculated based on the number of Looked after Children, the child 
population and the number of dispersed asylum seekers within an area.  
On the basis that at the time of writing the County has received no 
dispersed asylum cases, our proportion of the regional allocation is 
relatively high and is resulting in some challenges to find suitable 
placements. 

22 With more than 3,700 unaccompanied children seeking asylum in the 
UK in 2021, a significant increase on the previous year, pressures on 
the NTS are increasing, with some children remaining in hotels.  On 
24 August 2022, the Minister for Safe and Legal Migration wrote to local 
authorities confirming changes to the NTS, with immediate effect. 

23 The 10 working day transfer deadline, as set out in the NTS Protocol, 
has been reduced to five working days for all transfers of UASC not 
currently in the care of a local authority, i.e. those children temporarily 
accommodated in hotels.  The target of 10 working days for NTS 
transfers between local authorities will remain. 

24 Local authorities will be provided with an additional £2,000 per month 
for each child who is transferred from a hotel within five working days to 
local authority care.  This funding will be provided for three months. 

25 The operating threshold above which a local authority is no longer 
expected to receive UASC via the NTS and may refer new arrivals for 
transfer elsewhere has been increased from 0.07% to 0.1% of a local 
authority’s general child population.  Updated allocations taking account 
of this change are awaited.  For County Durham, the threshold will be 
101 children/young people, an increase from 71 children under the 
0.07% threshold. 

26 A local authority is allocated £114 per child per night for an eligible 
UASC in its care who has not transferred under the NTS.  A higher rate 
of £143 per child per day is payable to those authorities that are above 
their threshold and also applies to children who have transferred under 
the National Transfer Scheme. 

27 Concerns about the pace of referrals have been raised with the Home 
Office by NEMP and other strategic migration partnerships and 
feedback provided on the difficulties local authorities face in sourcing 
placements for children under 16 and young people who are age 

Page 186



disputed.  Around 20% of all mandated referrals were for children under 
16 and 35% were age disputed. 

28 Commissioning Officers from County Durham, Newcastle and Redcar 
and Cleveland have worked jointly on options to increase capacity to 
support UASC, looking to identify prioritised and costed actions. 

29 NEMP recently successfully bid for Home Office Exceptional Costs 
Funding to deliver a region-wide marketing and communications plan, 
with the aim of increasing the number of UASC foster carers in the 
region. 

30 In addition to children distributed to Council areas through the NTS, in 
July 2022 local authorities were advised that the Home Office Ukraine 
Taskforce was implementing a scheme for unaccompanied asylum-
seeking children from Ukraine.  There were approximately 1,000 
unaccompanied children from Ukraine requiring care and support in the 
system at that time. 

31 The scheme is open to children and young people under 18 years who 
are unaccompanied or with relatives.  Hosts should be known to the 
families and parents of the children must provide written consent.  In 
exceptional circumstances, e.g. where the child/young person is 
travelling with a relative who is not their legal guardian, there may be no 
prior relationship with a host. 

32 The Home Office expectation is for children’s social care to treat the 
sponsorship as a private fostering arrangement.  The humanitarian 
support team and CYPS are working together on a process to consider 
applications and support the arrival of eligible children under the Homes 
for Ukraine scheme. 

33 The Minister’s letter on 24 August confirmed that unaccompanied 
minors arriving under Homes for Ukraine will not be included in the 
county’s UASC threshold. 

United Kingdom Resettlement Scheme (UKRS) 

34 The Council has been supporting vulnerable families under Government 
resettlement schemes since May 2016, when the county welcomed its 
first refugee arrivals.  The resettlement scheme initially focused on 
supporting those fleeing conflict in Syria; but was later expanded to the 
Middle East and North Africa. 

35 A model for resettling refugee arrivals in County Durham was developed 
by services and partners, recognising the county’s distinctive 
characteristics, including the challenges presented by smaller and rural 

Page 187



communities, the lack of diversity in many areas and communities and 
the lack of established infrastructure and support mechanisms. 

36 The partnership-focused approach to resettlement, recommended by 
County Durham Humanitarian Support Partnership and agreed by the 
Council, agreed some key principles: 

(a) resettling arrivals in the county’s main towns/areas, avoiding 
isolation in smaller villages and settlements (a scheme review 
recommended larger villages/areas with good access and 
transport links to the city centre should also be considered, in 
consultation with partners to confirm suitability); 

(b) assisting family groups, who are more likely to support one 
another and settle within County Durham’s communities; 

(c) resettling arrivals in clusters of small family groups, offering self-
support within communities. 

37 A phased approach has been adopted, welcoming arrivals to the county 
in two main phases each year.  Each phase comprises of 5-6 families, 
approximately 25-30 individuals.  This allows effective programme 
planning, enabling the Council to arrange accommodation in 
appropriate areas and provide the full range of resettlement support 
services during the first year, including education, English language, 
employability and resettlement support, and ensures best value from 
allocated funding. 

38 Cabinet’s commitment to support between 250 and 300 vulnerable 
refugees by 2020/21 has been delivered, with the county resettling 60 
families, comprising 280 individuals, from Syria, Iraq and Sudan.  
Families resettled in 2016 and 2017 have been resident in the county 
for five years and have been supported to access legal advice and gain 
leave to remain in the UK. 

39 In 2020 the UK consolidated the resettlement programmes into a global 
United Kingdom Resettlement Scheme (UKRS).  The scheme was 
delayed because of the pandemic, with the first refugees arriving in 
2021.  The UKRS broadens the geographical focus beyond the Middle 
East and North Africa region, offering a swift response to international 
crises in coordination with global partners.  The continued priority is to 
resettle the world’s most vulnerable refugees and target those greatest 
in need of assistance, identified and referred by the United Nations High 
Commission for Refugees (UNHCR).  UNHCR has the global mandate 
to provide international protection and humanitarian assistance to 
refugees. 

Page 188



40 UKRS is a fully funded scheme, with a tariff of £20,520 per person over 
a five year period, with separate funding available for education and 
health and to meet exceptional costs.  The funding has been used to 
establish a support team to deliver a full integration and support 
programme, including bilingual support, and to meet the costs of other 
associated provision. 

41 In January 2020 Cabinet agreed County Durham’s participation in the 
UKRS over four years following the conclusion of current resettlement 
schemes, proportionate with the county’s share of the national 
population, which at the time was estimated to be in the region of 200 
people over four years.  In March 2021, the county welcomed its first 
UKRS family, with a further phase of six families resettled in the county 
during January-March 2022.  The global pandemic, travelling 
restrictions and the emergency response to the Afghanistan evacuation 
have restricted the county’s aim to support refugees in two phases each 
year in 2020 and 2021, a situation repeated in other council areas. 

42 In June 2022 the Minister for Refugees wrote to local authority Chief 
Executives to request local government pledges of support for the UK 
resettlement scheme, as well as Afghans in bridging hotels and Afghans 
expected to arrive this year.  The North East Migration Partnership has 
been asked to explore interest with individual local authorities for the 
forthcoming year, accepting that the Ukraine crisis has created 
increased capacity challenges around housing, inspection and support 
provision.   

Afghan schemes - Afghan Relocation and Assistance Policy 
(ARAP) and Afghan Citizens Resettlement Scheme (ACRS) 

43 In June 2021 local authorities were asked to help with the resettlement 
of people fleeing Afghanistan following the British military evacuation.  
The initial request was to support the Afghan Relocation and Assistance 
Policy (ARAP) to relocate former locally employed staff working with the 
British military or Government throughout July and August 2021.  A 
smaller number of arrivals have continued to arrive since then, with the 
Home Office supporting approximately 150-200 people arriving each 
week on military flights in 2022. 

44 The ACRS scheme will provide up to 20,000 women, children and 
others at risk with a safe and legal route to settle in the UK.  It will 
prioritise those who have assisted UK efforts in Afghanistan and stood 
up for UK values such as democracy, women’s rights, freedom of 
speech and rule of law; and vulnerable people such as women and girls 
at risk, and members of minority groups (including ethnic/religious 
minorities and LGBT). 

Page 189



45 There are approximately 12,000 Afghans in bridging hotels, with 
approximately 10,500 requiring accommodation.  There are no bridging 
hotels in the North East currently, but different hotels may be needed as 
the Home Office closes hotels at the end of contracts and reconfigures 
the accommodation estate. 

46 County Durham welcomed six families, comprising 36 individuals, 
between August and November 2021.  A further family arrived in the 
county, to join family members, in April 2022. 

47 Both Afghan schemes are funded, with a tariff of £20,520 per person 
over a three year period, with separate funding available for education 
and health and to meet exceptional costs.  The Council’s support team 
has delivered a full integration and support programme, including 
bilingual support, as part of its resettlement offer. 

48 There have been challenges regionally and nationally as a result of 
families declining properties offered to them, with a preference to be 
located in major cities.  In response, over the summer the Home Office 
introduced a new matching process to move arrivals from hotels.  This 
includes consultation with families prior to allocation, followed by a 
maximum of two accommodation offers, after which the family will be 
given 56 days’ notice to leave the hotel. 

49 Families who refuse two offers will be part of a regional allocation to 
homeless services.  Based on present numbers, it is anticipated that 
County Durham will receive approximately four families as part of this 
allocation. 

50 The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) 
has recently developed a Find Your Own Accommodation pathway.  
The pathway formalises a process for Afghan families to find their own 
private rented accommodation without losing support from the Council 
via integration tariff funding. 

51 Councils have been asked to consider opting into the pathway and 
agree, in principle, to allow Afghan families to make enquiries about 
finding accommodation, with the Council supporting them once they 
move to the area. 

52 The Find Your Own Accommodation pathway does not fit with the 
Council’s operational approach to concentrate a complete refugee 
support service, including integration and bilingual assistance, ESOL 
and English as an Additional Language (EAL) support to schools, within 
a specific area.  It may present difficulties in ensuring appropriate 
support, given the size and rural nature of the county and is not 
considered appropriate at this time although this will be kept under 
review. 

Page 190



53 In addition to the pathway request, in June 2022 the Minister for 
Refugees wrote to local authority Chief Executives to request local 
government pledges of support for Afghans in bridging hotels and for 
Afghans expected to arrive this year.  This request would enable the 
Council to co-ordinate the arrivals in terms of timing and locations and 
would fit with the Council’s operational approach to supporting refugees. 

Government support for Ukraine 

54 In response to the humanitarian crisis in Ukraine, in March 2022 the 
Government announced two schemes to support Ukrainians to come to 
the UK.  Each scheme has different eligibility criteria, conditions and 
associated support. 

55 The Ukraine Family Scheme allows family members of British nationals, 
UK settled persons and certain others to come to or stay in the UK.  It is 
a free scheme which allows individuals to live, work and study in the UK 
and access public funds.  It is anticipated that arrivals will be supported 
by family members in the UK and there is no formal role or funding for 
local authorities to undertake checks or to support arriving guests.  At 
30 August 2022, 50,600 visas had been issued across the UK through 
this scheme. 

56 Homes for Ukraine Sponsorship Scheme offers a route to Ukrainian 
citizens who are 18 or older (under 18 with a parent or legal guardian 
joining them in the UK) to move to the UK when matched with a named 
sponsor who can provide accommodation.  The scheme relies on 
members of the public hosting individuals and families and the 
Government encouraged the general public to take part by offering a 
spare room or property to accommodate Ukrainian citizens for at least 
six months.  At 30 August, 130,200 visas have been issued throughout 
the UK on this scheme.  In County Durham, there are 248 sponsors 
matched with 517 guests and 431 guests have arrived to 186 
sponsors/households. 

57 It is a unique sponsorship arrangement under which local authorities are 
responsible for undertaking DBS checks on sponsors and 
accommodation inspections and providing support to arrivals, for which 
the Council receives funding of £10,500 per arrival to cover local 
authority costs.  Separate funding is also provided to education to 
support arriving children and young people.  A safeguarding panel has 
been established, with representatives from the Council’s Partnerships 
Service, Adult and Children’s social care and Durham Police and meets 
twice weekly to monitor all checks and safeguarding issues. 

58 The Homes for Ukraine scheme is co-ordinated by the Partnerships and 
Community Engagement Service in Neighbourhoods and Climate 
Change and the dedicated staffing resource supporting refugee arrivals 

Page 191



within the Council’s Housing Solutions Service has been expanded to 
deliver the Council’s responsibilities under the scheme, including wrap-
around support to guests. 

59 A Homes for Ukraine partnership working group has been established 
with key partners and services, chaired by the Head of Partnerships and 
Community Engagement.  Representation includes health, education, 
housing, police, adult services, children’s services, DWP and 
employability, social housing providers, Durham University and the 
voluntary and community sector. 

60 A challenge in supporting some guests is the impact of changes in 
circumstances which result in situations where a sponsorship 
arrangement ends, for a range of reasons, and the subsequent 
difficulties of assisting guests to identify a rematch sponsor. 

61 The support team has contacted all potential sponsors who registered 
an interest in the scheme but who have not progressed to match with a 
guest.  The response has been relatively low, with 33 potential sponsors 
progressing through DBS and property checks. 

62 The scheme was based on a commitment to provide accommodation 
for guests for a minimum of six months.  As the six month anniversary 
approaches, it is anticipated that a significant number of requests for 
assistance with move-on accommodation, where individuals are unable 
to remain with their current host, will present. 

63 The support team has contacted sponsors to clarify intentions, and 
support staff are being trained to deliver housing and move-on advice.  
However, it is recognised that other options will be needed to alleviate 
potentially significant pressure on the Council’s homeless service. 

64 Work is ongoing with Durham University, a key partner on the working 
group, and it is hoped to secure a small number of self-contained 
apartments to assist with sponsorship breakdowns and avoid use of 
temporary homeless accommodation. 

65 The homelessness prevention route allows anyone applying as 
homeless to be offered a priority banding 56 days before the household 
would be asked to leave, potentially providing time to secure alternative 
accommodation.  However, there may be insufficient supply of 
accommodation in the area of choice, e.g. where arrivals have 
established links and children are attending school.  For individuals 
where the sponsor placement fails and who are not afforded 56 days to 
source alternative accommodation, providing temporary 
accommodation would be the only option. 

Page 192



66 Social accommodation is limited and there are large numbers already in 
priority bands.  The private sector may therefore be a feasible option.  
The challenges are replicated nationally, with a DLUHC task and finish 
group specifically focused on this area and discussions ongoing to 
explore private sector options and initiatives. 

67 The Housing Solutions service operates a private landlord incentive 
scheme to encourage tenancies in County Durham for former criminal 
justice clients.  This scheme has been successful in securing 50 private 
rented sector tenancies in the past 9 months.  A similar model is being 
considered for the county’s homeless cohort.  An early intervention 
scheme for guests arriving under the Homes for Ukraine scheme would 
offer an option to prevent a homeless individual/family.  The scheme 
could include funding for: 

• One off financial incentives; 

• Funding for rent in advance; 

• Cash bonds; 

• Guaranteed rent for agreed period; 

• Funding for minor upgrades to make accommodation available, 
e.g. minor repairs; 

• Personalisation pot to help with access to travel to viewings, new 
school uniforms etc.; 

• Further support offer (this may be in addition to support staff 
working on Homes for Ukraine scheme). 

68 Homes for Ukraine funding could be utilised to provide a per household 
contribution to an incentive scheme, enabling support to be tailored to 
the needs of the household and to address individual landlord concerns.  
It is proposed that a maximum contribution of £1,000 per household be 
allocated to overcome difficulties and barriers in accessing the private 
rented sector for arrivals. 

Hong Kong British National Overseas 

69 British National Overseas BN(O) is an immigration status created for 
Hong Kong nationals who were able to apply for the status for a period 
of 10 years prior to the handover of Hong Kong to China.  In response 
to unrest in Hong Kong, the Government relaxed immigration 
restrictions for those with BN(O) status, effective from 1 February 2021, 
to allow individuals to come to the UK to work, live and study on a 
pathway to citizenship. 

Page 193



70 The grant of the BN(O) visa comes with the No Recourse to Public 
Funds (NRPF) condition attached and it is expected that BN(O) status 
holders should be able to demonstrate self-sufficiency for a period of six 
months as a prerequisite to the visa being granted. 

71 The immigration rules allow status holders and their family members 
who become destitute, or are at risk of destitution, to apply to have the 
NRPF condition lifted, allowing the household to access income-related 
benefits and public services. 

72 Funds have been made available to local authorities for 2022/23 to 
provide English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) training for 
adults, funding up to £850 per learner, and to provide a safety net for 
those who are destitute or at risk of destitution, up to a limit of £2,720 
per household. 

73 No cases of destitution have yet presented to the Council.  A number of 
individuals have made enquiries about support to access ESOL via 
Durham Learn. 

Asylum Accommodation - Full Dispersal and Regional Plan 

74 For several years, the Home Office has encouraged County Durham, 
and other non-participating local authorities, to engage in UK asylum 
accommodation arrangements.  This scheme is distinct from refugee 
resettlement programmes and is delivered via a private contract, with a 
Home Office appointed contractor securing accommodation and 
providing support services for asylum seekers.  Following consultation 
with partners, the Council agreed County Durham would not engage in 
the scheme and instead focused on a funded, co-ordinated resettlement 
programme. 

75 The asylum system is under significant pressure, with over 25,000 
asylum seekers in contingency accommodation, including hotels.  In 
April 2022, the Government confirmed that all local authority areas in 
England, Scotland and Wales will be expected to participate in a new 
system of full dispersal to enable a move from hotels to less expensive, 
more suitable dispersed accommodation. 

76 The announcement confirmed the allocation of funding of £250 per 
asylum seeker per occupied bed space to existing dispersal local 
authorities for 2021/22 only and £3,500 for all local authorities per new 
occupied bed space (not person) provided in an area for 2022/23 only.  
This is the first time that resources of this nature have been made 
available to local authorities engaged in the programme.  It is 
significantly less than the support provided for UKRS, Afghan and 
Ukraine schemes, and reflects the nature of the programme, whereby 

Page 194



the Government is procuring, via its contractors, the provision of support 
and signposting to those arriving in asylum dispersal accommodation. 

77 Mears is the Government’s accommodation contractor in the North East 
and Yorkshire and Humber and has already commenced efforts to 
secure properties in the county to accommodate asylum seekers. 

78 An eight week consultation took place, ending 1 July 2022.  The 
consultation did not consult on the principle of full asylum dispersal, but 
on how to deliver full dispersal and the considerations local authorities 
felt important in making the asylum dispersal system work; including 
types of support services needed, as well as views on costs and 
impacts of asylum.  This will form part of initial feedback for a New 
Burdens assessment being developed to consider the need for 
sustainable future funding for the asylum system. 

79 A series of regional workshops across the UK solicited views on factors 
used to determine the allocation of asylum seekers to regions to form 
the basis of a regional plan.  Home Office feedback suggested: 

(a) greater equity and an ability to influence allocations at a local 
level has been welcomed; 

(b) housing and infrastructure was raised as a challenge across most 
regions/nations; 

(c) ongoing funding is key to delivering a sustainable system; 

(d) longer term, there is significant appetite for consideration of a 
place-based approach that streamlines the system and balances 
demands on a local authority across all migration programmes. 

80 NEMP has been asked to work jointly with local authorities and the 
North East’s asylum accommodation contractor to develop a regional 
plan of anticipated asylum dispersal into local authority areas.  The 
regional allocation includes individuals and families moving out of 
contingency hotels and initial accommodation into dispersed 
accommodation, as well as an estimation of likely asylum seeker 
arrivals across the ensuing period. 

81 If the region cannot agree its plan, a plan will be provided by the Home 
Office.  The plan is not a statutory document, but it is hoped it will assist 
the Home Office in discharging its statutory duty to house asylum 
seekers more appropriately.  The aim is to develop a planned, 
transparent approach to where dispersal will progress and to help 
address current hotel populations. 

Page 195



82 The North East, along with other regions, indicated that the deadline for 
submission to the Home Office by 7 September, for approval at the 
National Chief Executive Group on 13 September, was not feasible.  In 
response to these concerns, NEMP submitted an interim plan, on the 
basis a final plan will be submitted in mid-October, to allow the next 
regional meeting of Chief Executives and Leaders and Elected Mayors 
to consider. 

83 As part of the regional dispersal policy for asylum seekers established 
in 2000, the advisory cluster limit is one asylum seeker for every 200 of 
the settled population at a local authority area level only, i.e. across the 
local authority area rather than each ward.  In County Durham, this 
results in an upper threshold of 2,610 individuals. 

84 The Local Level Plan developed by NEMP has been based on 
proportionate population size and share as the basis for allocating to 
local authorities and developing options.  A threshold is proposed (lower 
than the advisory cluster limit set out above), to be agreed by local 
authorities, where procurement in existing areas at or above the agreed 
threshold will be for replacement only. 

85 The Home Office has advised that plans must be agreed with Mears, 
themselves and local councils  

86 In preparation for the Council’s engagement in the asylum 
accommodation programme, County Durham Migration and Cohesion 
Multi Agency Group has been established and met for the first time in 
September 2022.  The group includes key partners and services and 
will be the forum for information sharing and to help steer local 
strategies, policies and plans in County Durham. 

87 A session has been held for the county’s main voluntary and community 
sector partners in the resettlement programme - Durham City of 
Sanctuary, North East Churches Acting Together and Durham Christian 
Partnership - to learn from experiences in other local authority areas.  
The session also provided an insight into the New Arrivals Pathway, an 
approach which links new arrivals in a local authority area with a key 
voluntary/community sector partner to provide a welcome and enhance 
at a local level the signposting and support provided by Mears. 

88 The British Red Cross, which has provided a triage and referral service 
under the New Arrivals Pathway in other areas, including Darlington, 
Northumberland and Stockton, has agreed to provide this service for 
new arrivals in County Durham, initially for a period of six months.  It is 
envisaged that this will allow local voluntary and community sector 
partners to develop an infrastructure and support provision to take over 
the service in the future. 

Page 196



89 Durham City of Sanctuary and North East Churches Acting Together 
are working with the Council to develop proposals to ensure the county 
is able to support those arriving into dispersed asylum accommodation. 

Conclusion 

90 The global humanitarian challenge has placed significant demands on 
the UK, with local authorities urged to make pledges to assist the 
national effort. 

91 County Durham has endeavoured to play its part, engaging in five 
separate refugee and asylum support programmes, including significant 
efforts to deliver a swift and effective response to global emergencies in 
Afghanistan and Ukraine, as well as a recent mandate to participate in 
asylum accommodation full dispersal. 

92 The UK’s response to the global challenge has significantly increased 
pressures on the Council and its partners, including safeguarding 
checks, demands on the homeless service, education, English 
language support, and police resources in undertaking safeguarding 
checks for Homes for Ukraine arrivals.  Experience from other areas 
engaged in asylum dispersal accommodation has highlighted a 
significant and additional impact on the voluntary and community sector 
and local authority services.  Work is ongoing between local and central 
government to ensure these pressures are recognised through New 
Burdens funding. 

93 As migration and asylum programmes develop further in response to 
pressures on Government and expectations of local authorities, 
delivering a successful humanitarian support programme can be 
challenging, but there are a number of significant positive elements 
linked to the programme, not least the genuine contribution the county 
is making to the lives of vulnerable individuals. 

94 It is therefore recommended that, in addition to the area’s mandated 
engagement in the asylum accommodation programme, and subject to 
continued funding arrangements, the council expands support for 
resettlement schemes to accommodate three phases each year when 
capacity allows.  A continuation of the county’s successful approach to 
resettle a small cluster of families in each phase, working with social 
landlords to resettle refugees in main towns where possible, will be 
adopted. 

95 It is proposed that the resettlement programme will support one phase 
of Afghan arrivals through the Afghan Relocations and Assistance 
Policy (ARAP) and the Afghan Citizens Resettlement Scheme (ACRS) 
and two phases under the UK Resettlement Programme (UKRS).  This 
may change based on demand. 

Page 197



Background papers 

• None. 

Other useful documents 

• Cabinet Report: Durham Humanitarian Support Partnership, 16 
December 2015 

• Cabinet Report: Review of Humanitarian Support in County 
Durham, 15 November 2017 

• Cabinet Report: Humanitarian Support in County Durham, 15 
January 2020 

Author(s) 

Gordon Elliott Tel:  03000 263605 

  

Page 198



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

None. 

Finance 

The Government provides funding for local authorities which participate in the 
various resettlement support and relocation schemes (UK resettlement, 
Afghan schemes and Homes for Ukraine sponsorship scheme) and a 
refugee’s resettlement costs should be fully funded by Central Government 
during the first 12 months.  Resources are allocated on a tariff basis, with 
additional costs covered under an exceptional costs fund.  Local authorities 
are also provided with tapering tariff funding to meet support costs in years 2-
5 (UKRS) and years 2-3 (Afghan schemes).  Funding is also provided to local 
authorities supporting unaccompanied asylum-seeking children. 

For 2022/23, local authorities will be provided with £3,500 per new bed space 
under the asylum accommodation dispersal contract.  Work is presently 
ongoing to assess potential contributions beyond March 2023. 

Consultation 

Consultation with partners is a key element of the approach set out in this 
report.  The establishment of two partnership working groups will advise the 
Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change, who has been 
delegated to make operational decisions on the delivery of humanitarian 
support programmes in County Durham, in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder.  County Durham Migration and Cohesion Multi Agency Group will act 
as the forum for asylum support in the county; and a refugee and resettlement 
working group will focus on relevant programmes. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

There is a significant requirement for language support for resettled refugees.  
The vulnerable nature of refugees assisted under the schemes will include 
support to individuals with complex needs, including physical and mental 
health issues.  Government funding is intended to meet these costs. 

The resettlement programmes prioritise those in the greatest need who cannot 
be supported in the region and prioritises people requiring urgent medical 
treatment, survivors of torture and violence, and women and children at risk.  
There is a need to ensure that accommodation meets the needs of the 
individuals resettled and links are made with health services. 

Page 199



The full dispersal programme for asylum accommodation requires the 
provision of support services and signposting by the Home Office’s 
accommodation provider, Mears. 

Climate Change 

None. 

Human Rights 

Human Rights is a key driver for the Government’s implementation of a global 
resettlement scheme for the UK, and the operation of the Afghan relocation 
and resettlement schemes, the Homes for Ukraine sponsorship scheme, 
support for Hong Kong British National (Overseas) status holders and the 
National Transfer Scheme for Unaccompanied Asylum-seeking Children. 

Crime and Disorder 

The county’s resettlement support model involves input from the police.  The 
police continue to be engaged in the implementation of each phase of the 
resettlement programme and have designated a senior officer to co-ordinate 
liaison. 

The police are also consulted and involved in planning and preparation for 
asylum accommodation and the Force is a key partner in the Homes for 
Ukraine sponsorship scheme. 

Staffing 

A proportion of the resources provided by Government to support the 
resettlement schemes (UKRS and Afghan) and the Homes for Ukraine 
sponsorship scheme is being used to employ a team to assist refugees to 
settle in the county.  Additional asylum funding will also support a staffing 
resource to co-ordinate other humanitarian support programmes. 

Accommodation 

Close liaison with housing providers is central to successful implementation of 
the resettlement support scheme.  The use of the Council’s local lettings 
agency would also support the provision of accommodation for families 
supported under the scheme. 

Accommodation for the asylum dispersal scheme is being provided, under a 
private contract, by the Home Office’s contractor, Mears.  The contractor is 
required to consult with the local authority, which also liaises with the police, 
on the general suitability of properties being secured. 

The refugee resettlement support team is accommodated within the Council’s 

estate. 

Page 200



Risk 

Although resettlement programmes are intended to be fully funded, there is a 
risk that resettlement costs incurred in subsequent years may not be fully 
covered by the tariff funding provided.  However, the Council’s experience of 
the schemes over previous years suggests the funding provided meets all 
resettlement costs. 

There is a risk associated with the provision of appropriate services to those 
seeking asylum, under the full programme of asylum accommodation 
dispersal.  The numbers expected to arrive, over a relatively short-time, and 
without an established voluntary and community sector infrastructure and 
support provision, increases the challenges. 

There is also a risk of community cohesion issues, with a perceived influx of 
arrivals, particularly into areas with less diverse and more established 
communities. 

Procurement 

None. 

 

Page 201



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the meeting held on 14 September 2022
	4 Medium Term Financial Plan(13) 2023/24-2026/27- Report of Corporate Director of Resources  [Key Decision: CORP/R/22/01]
	MTFP13 Appendix 2
	MTFP13 Appendix 3
	MTFP 13 Appendix 4

	5 Concessionary Fares (ENCTS) Budget - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth [Key Decision: REG/09/22]
	6 Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022 - Joint Report of Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services and Director of Public Health
	DPH Appendix 2 Annual Report
	DPH AR Presentation - Cabinet October 2022

	7 Road Safety Strategy 2022-2032 - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth
	Road Safety Strategy

	8 Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2021-22 - Joint Report of Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services, Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services and  Director of Public Health
	HWB Annual Report 2021-22 Sept 22

	9 Humanitarian Support in County Durham - Report of Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change

